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NOTE TO READER 

This Listing Statement contains a copy of the prospectus of Spirit Blockchain Capital Inc. (the 
“Company”) dated August 8, 2022 (the “Prospectus”). Certain sections of the Canadian 
Securities Exchange (the “Exchange”) form of Listing Statement have been included following 
the Prospectus to provide additional disclosure on the Company required by the Exchange, as well 
as updating certain information contained in the Prospectus. 
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No securities regulatory authority has expressed an opinion about these securities and it is an offence to claim otherwise. This 
Prospectus does not constitute a public offering of securities. 

The securities referred to herein have not been and will not be registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended 
(the “U.S. Securities Act”), or any state securities laws, and except pursuant to an exemption from registration under the U.S. 
Securities Act and applicable state securities laws, may not be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, within the United States or to, 
or for the account or benefit of, a U.S. Person (as that term is defined in Regulation S under the U.S. Securities Act). This Prospectus 
does not constitute an offer to sell or a solicitation of an offer to buy any of the securities offered hereby within the United States 
or to, or for the account of benefit of, any U.S Persons. 

Non-Offering Prospectus  August 8, 2022 

PROSPECTUS 

SPIRIT BLOCKCHAIN CAPITAL INC. 

___________________________________________ 

 
No Securities are being offered pursuant to this Prospectus 

___________________________________________ 

This non-offering long form prospectus (the “Prospectus”) is being filed with British Columbia Securities 
Commission, as principal regulator, and with the securities regulatory authorities in the Province of Ontario to enable 
Spirit Blockchain Capital Inc. (the “Company”) to become a reporting issuer under the applicable securities 
legislation in the Provinces of British Columbia and Ontario. 

Since no securities are being offered pursuant to this Prospectus, no proceeds will be issued and all expenses 
in connection with the preparation and filing of this Prospectus will be paid by the Company from its general corporate 
funds. 

Concurrently with the filing of this Prospectus, the Company will apply to list (the “Listing”) its Common 
Shares and all other Common Shares issuable as described in this Prospectus on the Canadian Securities Exchange 
(the “Exchange” or the “CSE”). [The CSE has conditionally approved the listing of the Common Shares on the 
Exchange]. The Listing will be subject to the Company fulfilling all of the listing requirements of the Exchange, 
which cannot be guaranteed. It is not anticipated that shares of the Company will be “qualified investments”, as of the 
time of the issuance of shares, for trusts governed by Registered Retirement Savings Plans, Tax-Free Savings Accounts 
or other types of “registered plans”. 

As at the date of this Prospectus, the Company does not have any of its securities listed or quoted, has not 
applied to list or quote any of its securities, and does not intend to apply to list or quote any of its securities, on the 
Toronto Stock Exchange, Aequitas NEO Exchange Inc., a U.S. marketplace, or a marketplace outside Canada and the 
United States of America (other than the Alternative Investment Market of the London Stock Exchange or the PLUS 
markets operated by Plus Market Groups plc). 

No underwriter has been involved in the preparation of this Prospectus or performed any review or 
independent due diligence of the contents of this Prospectus.  

An investment in Company’s securities is highly speculative due to various factors, including the 
nature and stage of development of the business of the Company. An investment in these securities should only 
be made by persons who can afford the total loss of their investment. See “Risk Factors”. 

There is currently no market through which any of the securities of the Company may be sold, and 
purchasers may not be able to resell such securities. This, to the extent the Company is able to successfully 
complete its public listing, may affect the pricing of such securities in the secondary market, the transparency 
and availability of trading prices, the liquidity of such securities and the extent of issuer regulation. See “Risk 
Factors” and “Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements”. 
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Investors are advised to consult their own tax advisors regarding the application of Canadian federal 
income tax laws to their particular circumstances, as well as any other provincial, foreign and other tax 
consequences of acquiring, holding, or disposing of Common Shares, including the Canadian federal income 
tax consequences applicable to a foreign controlled Canadian corporation that acquires Common Shares.  

Purchasers are advised that it may not be possible for investors to enforce judgments obtained in 
Canada against any person or company that is incorporated, continued or otherwise organized under the laws 
of a foreign jurisdiction or resides outside of Canada, even if the party has appointed an agent for service of 
process. Erich Perroulaz, the CEO and a director of the Company, resides in Switzerland, and Raymond 
O’Neill a director of Spirit, resides in Ireland. Mr. Perroulaz and Mr. O’Neill have appointed DLA Piper 
(Canada) LLP as agent for service of process in Canada. See “Agents for Service of Process”. 

Prospective investors should rely only on the information contained in this Prospectus. The Company 
has not authorized anyone to provide you with different information. Readers should assume that the 
information appearing in this Prospectus is accurate only as of its date, regardless of its time of delivery. The 
Company’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects may have changed since that date.  

The head office of the Company is located at Suite 1570 – 505 Burrard St., One Bentall Centre, Vancouver, 
B.C. V7X 1M5 and the registered and records office of the Company is currently located at 1500 – 1055 West Georgia 
Street, Vancouver, BC V6E 4N7. Upon Listing, the registered and records office of the Company will be located at 
Suite 2800, Park Place, 666 Burrard St., Vancouver B.C. V6C 2Z7. 
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GLOSSARY 

The following is a glossary of certain general terms used in this Prospectus, including the summary hereof. 
Terms and abbreviations used in the financial statements and management’s discussion and analysis included in, or 
appended to this Prospectus are defined separately and the terms and abbreviations defined below are not used therein, 
except where otherwise indicated. Words importing the singular, where the context requires, include the plural and 
vice versa and words importing any gender include all genders. 

“Amalgamation Agreement” has the meaning set out under the heading “Prospectus Summary”. 

“Audit Committee” means the audit committee of the Company. 

“Audit Committee Charter” means the Audit Committee’s Charter, attached hereto as Schedule “A”. 

“BCBCA” means the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia), as amended, together with all regulations 
promulgated thereto.  

“BCSC” means the British Columbia Securities Commission. 

“Board” means the Board of Directors of the Company.  

“Business Day” means a day other than Saturday, Sunday or a statutory holiday in British Columbia, Canada. 

“CEO” means Chief Executive Officer. 

“CFO” means Chief Financial Officer. 

“Common Share” means a common share in the capital of the Company. 

“Conditional Approval” means the approval issued by the CSE for listing of the Common Shares. 

“Consolidated Financial Statements” means, collectively, (i) the consolidated financial statements of the Company 
for the years ending December 31, 2021 and 2020, together with the notes thereto and the auditors’ report thereon, as 
applicable; and (ii) the condensed interim consolidated financial statements of the Company for the three months 
ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, together with the notes thereto, attached hereto at Schedule “B”. 

“CSE” or the “Exchange” means the Canadian Securities Exchange operated by the CNSX Markets Inc. 

“company” means unless specifically indicated otherwise, a corporation, incorporated association or organization, 
body corporate, partnership, trust, association or other entity other than an individual.  

“DRS” means the Direct Registration System. 

“Escrow Agreement” means the NP 46-201 escrow agreement to be entered into on or before the Listing Date among 
the Company, the Escrow Agent and certain shareholders of the Company.  

“Form 51-102F6” means Form 51-102F6 Statement of Executive Compensation. 

“Former Spirit” has the meaning set out under the heading “Prospectus Summary”. 
 
“Insider” means: 

(a) a director or senior officer of the Company;  

(b) a director or senior officer of the Company that is an Insider or subsidiary of the Company; 

(c) a Person that beneficially owns or controls, directly or indirectly, Common Shares carrying more 
than 10% of the voting rights attached to all outstanding voting shares of the Company; or 
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(d) the Company itself if it holds any of its own securities. 

“Listing” means the listing of the Company’s Common Shares on the CSE under the trading symbol “SPIR” or such 
other symbol approved by the Exchange.  

“Listing Date” means the date that the Common Shares are listed on the CSE or another stock exchange recognized 
under provincial securities laws. 

“MD&A” means management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and operating results. 

“Named Executive Officers” or “NEOs” has the meaning set forth under “Executive Compensation”. 

“NI 41-101” means National Instrument 41-101 – General Prospectus Requirements. 

“NI 52-110” means National Instrument 52-110 – Audit Committees. 

“NI 58-101” means National Instrument 58-101 – Disclosure of Corporate Governance Practices.  

“NP 46-201” means National Policy 46-201 – Escrow for Initial Public Offerings. 

“Olympia” means Olympia Trust Company. 
 
“Options” means the options issued pursuant to the Share Compensation Plan. 

“Participant” has the meaning set forth in “Options and Other Rights to Purchase Securities – Share Compensation 
Plan”. 

“Person” means a company or individual. 

“Private Placement” means the non-brokered private placement of Former Spirit of 26,070,000 Common Shares at 
$0.125 per Common Share for gross proceeds of $3,258,750 which completed on June 30, 2021. 
 
“Promoter” means (a) a person or company who, acting alone or in conjunction with one or more other persons, 
companies or a combination thereof, directly or indirectly, takes the initiative in founding, organizing or substantially 
reorganizing the business of an issuer, or (b) a person or company who, in connection with the founding, organizing 
or substantial reorganizing of the business of an issuer, directly or indirectly, receives in consideration of services or 
property, or both services and property, 10% or more of any class of securities of the issuer or 10% or more of the 
proceeds from the sale of any class of securities of a particular issue, but a person or company who receives such 
securities or proceeds either solely as underwriting commissions or solely in consideration of property shall not be 
deemed a promoter within the meaning of this definition if such person or company does not otherwise take part in 
founding, organizing, or substantially reorganizing the business.  

“Prospectus” means this prospectus of the Company, prepared in accordance with NI 41-101, and any amendments 
thereto. 

“RSU” means restricted share units granted under the Share Compensation Plan. 

“Shareholders” means holders of Common Shares. 

“Share Compensation Plan” has the meaning set forth in “Options and Other Rights to Purchase Securities – Share 
Compensation Plan”. 

“Special Warrant Private Placement” means the non-brokered private placement of 347,000 Special Warrants at a 
price of $0.05 per Special Warrant for total gross proceeds of $17,350, which closed on May 6, 2021. Each Special 
Warrant entitled the holder to acquire, without further payment, one Common Share. The Special Warrants were 
deemed to be converted and 347,000 Common Shares were issued on September 7, 2021, being the date that was four 
months and a day following the closing date of the Special Warrant Private Placement. 
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“Special Warrants” means the special warrants issued by the Company pursuant to the Special Warrant Private 
Placement. 

“Spirit” or the “Company” means Spirit Blockchain Capital Inc. (formerly 1284696 B.C. Ltd.), a company 
organized under the laws of the Province of British Columbia. 

“Spirit Holdings” has the meaning set out under the heading “Prospectus Summary”. 
 
“Transfer Agent” means the transfer agent and registrar of the Company, anticipated to be Olympia Trust Company. 

“United States” or “U.S.” means the United States of America, its territories or its possessions, any state of the United 
States or the District of Columbia. 

“U.S. Securities Act” means the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended. 
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CURRENCY PRESENTATION 

In this Prospectus, unless otherwise specified or the context otherwise requires, all currency amounts are 
stated in Canadian dollars. 

INTERPRETATION 

Unless the context otherwise requires, all references in this Prospectus to “we”, “us”, “our” or the “Company” 
refer to Spirit Blockchain Capital Inc., a British Columbia company and where applicable its subsidiaries. 

Certain capitalized terms and phrases used in this Prospectus are defined under “Glossary of General Terms”. 
Words importing the singular number include the plural, and vice versa, and words importing any gender include all 
genders. 

NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION 

This Prospectus contains statements and information that, to the extent that they are not historical fact, may 
constitute “forward-looking information” within the meaning of applicable securities legislation.  Forward-looking 
information may include financial and other projections, as well as statements regarding future plans, objectives or 
economic performance, or the assumption underlying any of the foregoing.  This Prospectus uses words such as “may”, 
“would”, “could”, “will”, “likely”, “except”, “anticipate”, “believe”, “intend”, “plan”, “forecast”, “project”, 
“estimate”, “outlook”, and other similar expressions to identify forward-looking information.  These forward-looking 
statements include, among other things, statements relating to:  

 
 the deemed exercise of the Special Warrants on the Special Warrants Exercise Date; 
 the share capital of the Company;  
 the listing on the CSE;  
 the executive compensation of the Company;  
 the composition of the Board and management of the Company;  
 the Company’s expectations regarding its revenue, expenses and research and development operations; 
 the Company’s anticipated cash needs and its needs for additional financing; 
 the Company’s intention to grow the business and its operations; 
 expectations regarding our growth rates and growth plans and strategies; 
 the Company’s competitive position and the regulatory environment in which the Company operates; 
 the Company’s expected business objectives for the next 12 months;  
 the Company’s plans with respect to the payment of dividends; 
 beliefs and intentions regarding the ownership of material trademarks and domain names used in 

connection with the design, production, marketing, distribution and sale of our products and services; 
 the Company’s reliance on market and industry data obtained from third party sources, industry reports 

and publications, website and other publicly available information; 
 the dependence on key personnel; 
 the economic feasibility surrounding proof-of-staking, mining operations, and any other forms of 

blockchain production; 
 the changing market dynamics relating to cryptocurrencies, including but not limited to price, cost and 

liquidity; 
 any director and officer insurance policies and/or indemnification; 
 the use of stable tokens to make mining equipment purchases; and 
 the Company’s ability to obtain additional funds through the sale of equity or debt commitments. 

Forward-looking information is based on the reasonable assumptions, estimates, analysis and opinions of 
management made in light of its experience and its perception of trends, current conditions and expected 
developments, as well as other factors that management believes to be relevant and reasonable in the circumstances 
at the date that such statements are made, but which may prove to be incorrect.  The material factors and assumptions 
used to develop the forward-looking statements contained in this Prospectus include, without limitation: 
 

 the ability to obtain listing approval from the CSE; 
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 obtaining the necessary regulatory approvals;  
 that regulatory requirements will be maintained;  
 general business and economic conditions;  
 the Company’s ability to successfully execute its plans and intentions;  
 the availability of financing on reasonable terms;  
 the Company’s ability to attract and retain skilled staff;  
 market conditions and competition;  
 the products, services and technology offered by the Company’s competitors; and  
 that the Company’s current good relationships with the Company’s suppliers, service providers and other 

third parties will be maintained.  

Although the Company believes that the assumptions underlying these statements are reasonable, they may 
prove to be incorrect, and the Company cannot assure that actual results will be consistent with these forward-looking 
statements. Given these risks, uncertainties and assumptions, prospective purchasers of Common Shares should not 
place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. Whether actual results, performance or achievements will 
conform to the Company’s expectations and predictions is subject to a number of known and unknown risks, 
uncertainties, assumptions and other factors, including those listed under “Risk Factors”, which include, but are not 
limited to: 

 the worldwide COVID-19 outbreak; 

 the COVID-19 outbreak or similar global health crises could affect the Company’s ability to access sources 
of capital; 

 COVID-19 or similar pandemics could adversely impact the Company’s business and/or its ability to 
complete reporting obligations; 

 cryptocurrency inventory may be exposed to cybersecurity threats and hacks; 

 regulatory changes or actions may alter the nature of an investment or restrict the use of cryptocurrencies in 
a manner that adversely affects operations; 

 cryptocurrency assets are highly volatile and speculative in nature; 

 cryptocurrency asset trading platforms and other trading venues are relatively new and, in most cases, largely 
unregulated and may therefore be more exposed to fraud and failure; 

 banks may not provide banking services, or may cut off banking services, to businesses that provide 
cryptocurrency-related services or that accept cryptocurrencies as payment; 

 the impact of geopolitical events on the supply and demand for cryptocurrencies is uncertain; 

 the further development and acceptance of the cryptographic and algorithmic protocols governing the 
issuance of and transactions in cryptocurrencies is subject to a variety of factors that are difficult to evaluate; 

 acceptance and/or widespread use of cryptocurrency is uncertain; 

 increased costs; 

 the Company’s operations, investment strategies, and profitability may be adversely affected by competition 
from other methods of investing in cryptocurrencies; 

 the Company’s cryptocurrency holdings may be subject to loss, theft or restriction on access; 

 uninsured or uninsurable risks; 

 incorrect or fraudulent transactions may be irreversible; 

 if the rewards of cryptocurrencies for solving blocks and transaction fees are not sufficiently high, mining 
operations, validators and Masternodes may not have an adequate incentive to continue mining and may 
cease their mining operations; 

 Bitcoin halving risk; 

 the price of coins may be affected by the sale of coins by other vehicles investing in coins or tracking 
cryptocurrency markets; 

 risks related to technological obsolescence and difficulty in obtaining hardware; 

 financing risks; 
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 insufficient financial resources; 

 negative operating cash flow; 

 a shareholder’s holding in the Company may be diluted if the Company issues additional common shares or 
other securities in the future; 

 the Company’s adoption of new business models could fail to produce any financial returns; 

 the Company will be affected by operational risks and may not be adequately insured for certain risks; 

 There are risks associated with government regulation and compliance; 

 the Company may be subject to the risks associated with future acquisitions; 

 the Company’s inability to retain management and key employees could impair the future success of the 
Company; 

 a significant growth in the number of personnel would place a strain upon the Company’s management and 
resources; 

 the Company faces uncertainty and adverse changes in the economy; 

 the Company may be subject to electronic communication security risks; 

 the Company’s business could be adversely affected if its consumer protection and data privacy practices 
are not perceived as adequate or there are breaches of its security measures or unintended disclosures of its 
consumer data; 

 the Company may rely on its business partners, and they may be given access to systems in order to 
provide services and support to the Company’s teams; 

 the Company may experience adverse effects on its reported results of operations as a result of adopting 
new accounting standards or interpretations; 

 failure to adhere to the Company’s financial reporting obligations and other public company requirements 
could adversely affect the market price of the Common Shares; 

 changes in accounting standards and subjective assumptions, estimates and judgments by management 
related to complex matters could significantly affect the Company’s reported financial results or financial 
condition; 

 if the Company is required to write down goodwill and other intangible assets, the Company’s financial 
condition and results could be negatively affected; 

 from time to time, the Company may become involved in legal proceedings, which could adversely affect 
the Company; 

 the Company’s directors and officers may have conflicts of interest in conducting their duties; 

 forward-looking statements and information may prove inaccurate; 

 the Company will be subject to additional regulatory burden resulting from its public listing on the CSE; 

 risks associated with market expansion and growth; 

 force majeure risks; 

 cybersecurity risks; 

 no established market; 

 the market for securities has experienced a high level of price and volume volatility and market prices are 
subject to wide fluctuations; 

 the Company has not paid any dividends to date; 

 global financial conditions have been volatile and in some cases the access to capital markets has been 
restricted; and 

 tax issues. 

If any of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or if assumptions underlying the forward-looking statements 
prove incorrect, actual results might vary materially from those anticipated in those forward-looking statements. The 
assumptions referred to above and described in greater detail under “Risk Factors” should be considered carefully by 
readers. 
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The Company’s forward-looking statements are based on the reasonable beliefs, expectations and opinions 
of management on the date of this Prospectus (or as of the date they are otherwise stated to be made). Although the 
Company has attempted to identify important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those 
contained in forward-looking statements, there may be other factors that cause results not to be as anticipated, 
estimated or intended.  There is no assurance that such statements will prove to be accurate, as actual results and future 
events could differ materially from those anticipated in such statements. Accordingly, readers should not place undue 
reliance on forward-looking statements. We do not undertake to update or revise any forward-looking statements, 
except as, and to the extent required by, applicable securities laws in Canada.  

All of the forward-looking statements contained in this Prospectus are expressly qualified by the foregoing 
cautionary statements. Investors should read this entire Prospectus and consult their own professional advisors to 
assess the income tax, legal, risk factors and other aspects of their investment. 

MARKET AND INDUSTRY DATA 

Market and industry data presented throughout this Prospectus was obtained from third party sources, 
industry reports and publications, websites and other publicly available information, as well as industry and other data 
prepared by us or on our behalf on the basis of our knowledge of the Canadian and United States blockchain markets 
and economy (including our opinions, estimates and assumptions relating to the market for serotonergic therapeutics 
and economy based on that knowledge). We believe that the market and economic data presented throughout this 
Prospectus is accurate and, with respect to data prepared by us or on our behalf, that our opinions, estimates and 
assumptions are currently appropriate and reasonable, but there can be no assurance as to the accuracy or completeness 
thereof. The accuracy and completeness of the market and economic data presented throughout this Prospectus are 
not guaranteed and we do not make any representation as to the accuracy of such data. Actual outcomes may vary 
materially from those forecast in such reports or publications, and the prospect for material variation can be expected 
to increase as the length of the forecast period increases. Although we believe it to be reliable, we have not 
independently verified any of the data from third party sources referred to in this Prospectus, analyzed or verified the 
underlying studies relied upon or referred to by such sources, or ascertained the underlying market, economic and 
other assumptions relied upon by such sources. Market and economic data are subject to variations and cannot be 
verified due to limits on the availability and reliability of data inputs and other limitations and uncertainties. 
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PROSPECTUS SUMMARY 

The following is a summary of the principal features of this distribution and should be read together with 
the more detailed information and financial data and statements contained elsewhere in this Prospectus. 

 

The 
Company: 

The Company was incorporated on January 19, 2021 under the BCBCA under the name “1284696 B.C. Ltd.”
Following the Closing (as defined below), it changed its name to “Spirit Blockchain Capital Inc.” The
Company’s head office is located at Suite 1570 – 505 Burrard St., One Bentall Centre, Vancouver, B.C. V7X
1M5 and the registered and records office of the Company is currently located at 1500 – 1055 West Georgia 
Street, Vancouver, BC V6E 4N7. Upon Listing, the registered and records office of the Company will be
located at Suite 2800, Park Place, 666 Burrard St., Vancouver B.C. V6C 2Z7. 

The Company’s principal business is the former business of Former Spirit. See “Description of the
Business”. 

The 
Transaction 

On July 29, 2021, the Company, its wholly-owned subsidiary 1302186 B.C. Ltd. (“Subco”) and a 
predecessor entity to Spirit Holdings, Spirit Blockchain Capital Inc. (“Former Spirit”) completed (the 
“Closing”) a business combination transaction (the “Transaction”) pursuant to an amalgamation 
agreement dated April 28, 2021, between the Company, Subco and Former Spirit (the “Amalgamation 
Agreement”) whereby: (i) the Company acquired all of the issued and outstanding securities of Former 
Spirit pursuant to a three-cornered amalgamation (as described below); (ii) Subco amalgamated with 
Former Spirit to form the amalgamated wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, Spirit Blockchain 
Holdings Inc. (“Spirit Holdings”); and (iii) the Company changed its name to “Spirit Blockchain Capital 
Inc.” (the “Name Change”). 

Upon Closing, Spirit issued to Former Spirit shareholders, pro rata to their respective holdings of Former 
Spirit shares, 72,070,000 Common Shares at a price of $0.125 per Common Share (the “Transaction 
Shares”) in exchange for all of the issued and outstanding Former Spirit shares. Certain Transaction Shares 
are subject to escrow pursuant to the Escrow Agreement (defined herein). See “Escrowed Securities and 
Securities Subject to Contractual Restrictions on Transfer”. The Transaction was subject to, among other 
things, the following post-closing covenants: (i) the Company preparing and filing the Prospectus, 
including such documents required to be filed therewith with the BCSC; and (ii) the Company completing 
a listing application (including a listing statement) with the CSE. As a result of the Transaction, Former 
Spirit amalgamated with Subco to create and continue as Spirit Holdings, which became a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of Spirit and the business of Former Spirit became the business of Spirit. The former Spirit 
Holdings shareholders owned approximately 84.32% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares upon 
completion of the Transaction (excluding any Common Shares issued pursuant to the Special Warrant 
Private Placement). See “Consolidated Capitalization – Fully Diluted Share Capital”. Spirit also intends 
to enter into standard employment agreements with certain directors and officers. See “Executive 
Compensation – Employment, Consulting and Management Agreements”. 

Former Spirit Former Spirit was incorporated on November 21, 2017, under the BCBCA under the name “Spirit 
Blockchain Technologies Ltd.”. On September 19, 2018 it changed its name to “Spirit Blockchain Capital 
Inc.”. Following the Transaction, Former Spirit and Subco amalgamated under Section 269 of the BCBCA 
and continued as Spirit Holdings. The Company’s registered and records office was located at Suite 2800, 
Park Place, 666 Burrard St., Vancouver, B.C. V6C 2Z7. 

Business of 
the Company: 

The Company is a blockchain company providing capital to blockchain ecosystem participants and 
blockchain research and advisory services. The Company aims to supply capital to the blockchain 
ecosystem through lending, staking, streaming and mining. The Company also provides blockchain 
advisory and research services. 

See “General Development of the Business”. 

 

Listing The Company intends to list its Common Shares on the CSE under the trading symbol “SPIR” or such other 
symbol accepted by the CSE. Listing is subject to the Company fulfilling all of the requirements of the 
Exchange, including minimum public distribution requirements. See “Plan of Distribution”.  
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No Proceeds 
Raised 

No proceeds will be raised pursuant to this Prospectus. 

Use of 
Available 
Funds: 

The Company will use the funds available to it to further its business objectives. Specifically, the Company 
will use the funds available to it as follows:  

 Principal Purpose Amount to be Expended 

 Investment in cryptocurrency-related assets for staking, streaming 
and other business activities(1) 

$270,000 

 Consultant Fees and Executive Officer Salaries(2) $500,000 

 Costs related to Listing(3) $180,000 

 General and administrative expenses(4) $170,000 

 Resources and Sales(5) $50,000 

 Unallocated Working Capital $28,000 

 TOTAL $1,198,000 

 (1) As of the date hereof, the Company plans to invest $120,000 in staking, streaming, loan and DeFi projects; $100,000 for 
investments in cryptocurrencies; and $50,000 for investments in listed equities that operate in the blockchain sector. 

(2) The Company’s executive officers will receive salaries or management fees for the initial 12 months following Listing totaling 
$200,000. The Company’s directors will receive fees for the initial 12 months following Listing totaling $75,000. The Company 
anticipates incurring consulting fees of $225,000 for the initial 12 months following Listing. 

(3) Includes legal fees currently estimated at $150,000, audit fees currently estimated at $20,000 and other expenses of the Company 
currently estimated at $10,000 incurred in connection with Listing. 

(4) General and administrative expenses are estimated to total $170,000 for the upcoming year, comprising: transfer agent and 
regulatory fees of $10,000; audit and related fees of $30,000; legal and related fees of $40,000; office and administrative 
expenses of $30,000; travel and related costs of $20,000; annual general meetings and associated costs of $10,000; Marketing 
costs of $20,000 and news release, investor relations and associated costs of $10,000. 

(5) Includes funds to be used to further expand the Company’s licencing and franchising IT solution business, including continued 
efforts to resell BIGG Forensics and AML Compliance Tools in the European region. 
 

There may be circumstances, where for business reasons, a reallocation of funds may be necessary in order for the Company to achieve 
its stated business objectives.  See “Use of Available Funds”. 

Directors and 
Officers of the 
Company: 

The Board of Directors of the Company consists of: 

Mr. Erich Perroulaz 

Mr. Raymond O’Neill 

Mr. Anthony Zelen 

Mr. Denis Silva 

 

The officers of the Company consist of: 

Mr. Erich Perroulaz - Chief Executive Officer 

Mr. Meetul Patel  – Chief Financial Officer & Corporate Secretary 

Mr. Antony John Turner – Chief Operating Officer 

Selected 
Consolidated 
Financial 
Information: 

Summary of Selected Financial Information 

The following table sets forth the selected financial information of the Company for the years ended 
December 31, 2021 and 2020 and for the three months ended March 31, 2022, and has been derived from 
the Consolidated Financial Statements and accompanying notes thereto, prepared in accordance with IFRS 
and attached as Schedule “B” to this Prospectus. The selected financial information should be read in 
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conjunction with the Company’s MD&A and the Financial Statements contained elsewhere in this 
Prospectus. 

All amounts referred to as being derived from the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company are 
denoted in Canadian Dollars.  
 

 For the three 
months ended 

March 31, 2022 

(unaudited) 

For the year 
ended December 

31, 2021 
($) 

(audited) 

For the year 
ended 

December 31, 
2020 
($) 

(audited) 

Statement of 
Operations Data 

   

Total Revenue Nil Nil Nil 

Total expenses 146,072 8,748,557 31,242 

Profit/(Loss) and 
comprehensive loss 

(734,618) (9,619,529) (46,039) 

Profit/(Loss) per share 
(basic and diluted) 

(0.01) (0.18) (0.00) 

    

Balance Sheet Data    

Current assets 3,537,284 4,043,426 396,406 

Total assets 3,537,284 4,043,426 396,406 

Current liabilities 410,948 278,604 33,033 

Total liabilities 410,948 278,604 33,033 
 

Risk Factors: Due to the nature of the Company’s business and the present stage of development of its business, the 
Company is subject to significant risks.  Readers should carefully consider all such risks. The risks 
described herein are not the only risks that affect the Company. Other risks and uncertainties that the 
Company does not presently consider to be material, or of which the Company is not presently aware, may 
become important factors that affect the Company’s future business prospectus, financial condition and 
results of operations. For a detailed description of these risks, see “Risk Factors”. 
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CORPORATE STRUCTURE 

Incorporation and Offices of Spirit 

Spirit Blockchain Capital Inc. was incorporated under the BCBCA on January 19, 2021 under the name 
“1284696 B.C. Ltd.”.  On July 29, 2021, the Company changed its name to “Spirit Blockchain Capital Inc.”  The head 
office of the Company is Suite 1570 - 505 Burrard St., One Bentall Centre, Vancouver, B.C. V7X 1M5 and its 
registered and records office is currently located at 1500 – 1055 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, BC V6E 4N7. Upon 
Listing, the registered and records office of the Company will be located at Suite 2800, Park Place, 666 Burrard St., 
Vancouver B.C. V6C 2Z7. The Company’s principal business is the former business of Former Spirit. See 
“Description of the Business”. 

Intercorporate Relationships 

The following diagram summarizes the intercorporate relationships of the Company: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Incorporation and Offices of Former Spirit 

Spirit Blockchain Holdings Inc. was incorporated under the BCBCA on November 21, 2017 under the name 
“Spirit Blockchain Technologies Ltd.”.  On September 19, 2018, the company changed its name to “Spirit Blockchain 
Holdings Inc.”  Following the Transaction, Former Spirit and Subco amalgamated under Section 269 of the BCBCA 
and continued as Spirit Blockchain Holdings Inc. The Company’s registered and records office is located at Suite 
2800, Park Place, 666 Burrard St., Vancouver, B.C. V6C 2Z7. 

Incorporation and Offices of Spirit Blockchain AG 
 

Spirit Blockchain AG was incorporated on February 19, 2017 under the name “Spirit Blockchain AG” for 
the purposes of becoming a wholly-owned subsidiary of Spirit Blochain Holdings Inc.  Its registered office is 
Dorfstrasse 7, Engelberg, Switzerland.  This subsidiary was set-up because of Switzerland’s favourable attitude 
towards Digital Assets, its pool of talent (both similar to British Columbia) and the location of certain members of 
the Company’s management team.  

Spirit Blockchain Capital Inc. 
(formerly 1284696 B.C. Ltd.)  

(Incorporated in British Columbia on 
January 19, 2021) 

Spirit Blockchain Holdings Inc.  
(Incorporated in British Columbia on 

November 21, 2017) 

100% 

Spirit Blockchain AG 
(Incorporated in Switzerland on 

February 19, 2017) 

100% 
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GENERAL DEVELOPMENT AND BUSINESS OF THE COMPANY  

Overview and History 

Spirit 

The Company was incorporated on January 19, 2021, under the BCBCA for purpose of undergoing a 
transaction to become a reporting issuer and to list on a Canadian stock exchange. See “Description of the Business”.  

 On April 16, 2021, the Company issued 13,400,000 Common Shares at a price of $0.02 per share as part of 
a seed round financing for aggregate proceeds of $268,000 (the “Seed Financing”). 

 On April 28, 2021, Spirit entered into the Amalgamation Agreement.  

 On May 6, 2021, Spirit issued pursuant to the Special Warrant Private Placement a total of 347,000 Special 
Warrants at a price of $0.05 for aggregate gross proceeds of $17,350. The Special Warrants were deemed to 
be exercised and 347,000 Common Shares were issued on September 7, 2021. No finder’s fees were paid in 
connection with the Special Warrant Private Placement. 

 On July 29, 2021 Spirit completed the Transaction to acquire Former Spirit. Pursuant to the Transaction, 
Spirit issued to Former Spirit shareholders, pro rata to their respective holdings of Former Spirit shares, 
72,070,000 Common Shares at a price of $0.125 per Common Share (the “Transaction Shares”) in exchange 
for all of the issued and outstanding Former Spirit shares. Certain Transaction Shares are subject to escrow 
pursuant to the Escrow Agreement (defined herein). See “Escrowed Securities and Securities Subject to 
Contractual Restrictions on Transfer”. The Transaction was subject to, among other things, the following 
post-closing covenants: (i) the Company preparing and filing the Prospectus, including such documents 
required to be filed therewith, with the BCSC; and (ii) the Company completing a listing application 
(including a listing statement) with the CSE. As a result of the Transaction, Former Spirit amalgamated with 
Subco to create and continue as Spirit Holdings, which became a wholly-owned subsidiary of Spirit and the 
business of Former Spirit became the business of Spirit. The former Spirit Holdings shareholders owned 
approximately 84.32% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares upon completion of the Transaction 
(excluding any Common Shares issued pursuant to the Special Warrant Private Placement). See 
“Consolidated Capitalization – Fully Diluted Share Capital”. Spirit intends to enter into standard 
employment agreements with certain directors and officers. See “Executive Compensation – Employment, 
Consulting and Management Agreements”. 

Former Spirit 

Former Spirit was formed on November 21, 2017, under the BCBCA. Since that date, it has pursued the 
activities described below. 

 On November 24, 2017, Former Spirit approved an offering of 25,000,001 units consisting of 25,000,001 
common shares and 25,000,000 common share purchase warrants at a price of $0.0001 per unit for 
20,000,001 units and $0.0004 per unit for 5,000,000 units. 

 On November 30, 2017, Former Spirit issued 1,000,000 common shares at a price of $0.01 per common share 
pursuant to a private placement of common shares. 

 On December 2, 2017, Former Spirit issued 200,000 common shares at a price of $0.01 per common share 
pursuant to a private placement of common shares. 

 On December 27, 2017, Former Spirit issued 2,000,000 common shares at a price of $0.10 per common share 
pursuant to pursuant to a private placement of common shares. 

 On December 31, 2017, Former Spirit issued 4,000,000 common shares at a price of $0.10 per common share 
pursuant to pursuant to a private placement of common shares and 600,000 common shares at a fair market 
value of $0.10 per common share pursuant to pursuant to a private placement of common shares. 
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 On December 31, 2018, Former Spirit issued 2,016,666 common shares at a fair market value of $0.10 per 
common share pursuant to a private placement of common shares. 

 On December 31, 2019, Former Spirit issued 935,000 common shares at a fair market value of $0.10 per 
common share pursuant to a private placement of common shares. 

 On August 31, 2020, Former Spirit issued 5,000,000 common shares at a price of $0.05 per common share 
to pursuant to a private placement of common shares. 

 On December 31, 2020, Former Spirit issued 783,334 common shares at a fair market value of $0.05 per 
common share to pursuant to a private placement of common shares. 

 On April 28, 2021, Former Spirit entered into the Amalgamation Agreement. 

 On May 27, 2021 Former Spirit cancelled 50,000 shares due to lack of payment 

 On May 31, 2021, Former Spirit issued 2,559,999 common shares at a price of $0.05 per common share to 
pursuant to a private placement of common shares and 1,105,000 common shares at a fair market value of 
$0.05 per common share pursuant to pursuant to a private placement of common shares. 

 On June 30, 2021, Former Spirit issued 850,000 common shares at a price of $0.08 per common share 
pursuant to a private placement of common shares. 

 On June 30, 2021, Former Spirit issued a total of 26,070,000 Common Shares at a price of $0.125 per 
Common Share for gross proceeds of $3,258,750. 

 On July 29, 2021, Former Spirit completed the Transaction. Upon closing, Former Spirit and Subco 
amalgamated under Section 269 of the BCBCA and continued as Spirit Blockchain Holdings Inc. 

General 

The Company is currently engaged in growing a revenue-generating diversified portfolio of investments and 
cryptocurrency operations across the digital asset ecosystem including Bitcoin staking, tokens, proof-of-stake 
cryptocurrencies, decentralized finance (DeFi), and associated Blockchain technologies. 

The Company’s primary business activities are: 

Streaming and Royalties 

The Company is seeking opportunities to invest in crypto-asset specific streaming and royalties contracts. Similar in 
nature to the royalty and streamlining companies operating in the mining sector, the primary goal is the supply of 
strategic capital to Blockchain ecosystem participants that want to grow their business, such as with crypto asset 
miners, validators and staking operators, and Blockchain companies. 

As with conventional royalty and streaming contracts, royalty contracts are where the Company receives a portion of 
the production sales in exchange of supply capital. Streaming agreements, on the other hand, are where the Company 
receives physical delivery of crypto assets obtained from the production in exchange for supplying capital. 

Streaming and royalties represents 40% of the Company’s current business. 

Treasury Management, Proof-of-Staking 

The Company manages its own treasury with a portfolio listed equities related to the Blockchain industry and digital 
assets. The composition of the Company’s equity portfolio is primarily focused in areas of the Blockchain Ecosphere 
where the Company does not have direct exposure such as companies that mine digital assets, provide cryptocurrency 
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focused financial services and build Blockchain-related infrastructure. With respect to the Company’s digital asset 
holdings, it maintains a diversified portfolio of cryptocurrencies, with the majority allocated to Bitcoin and Ethereum. 

Generally speaking, Crypto staking has the potential for certain cryptocurrencies to earn a cryptocurrency-
denominated return on a portion of its holdings that it devotes to network validation. The Company is currently 
engaged in proof-of-staking mining of Cardano (ADA) Polkadot (DOT) and Cosmos (ATOM) and uses a significant 
percentage of its digital assets towards this activity.  

Treasury management and proof-of-staking represents 20% of the Company’s current business. 

 

Material Assets and Investments 

The following list is a summary of the Company’s material assets and investments.  

 The Company currently manages an equity portfolio. The composition of the portfolio is focused on areas of 
the Blockchain Ecosphere where the Company does not have direct exposure such as companies that mine 
digital assets, provide cryptocurrency focused financial services and build Blockchain-related infrastructure. 

 The Company maintains a diversified portfolio of cryptocurrencies, with the majority allocated to Bitcoin 
(approximately 40%) and Ethereum (approximately 39%), with the remainder invested in other 
cryptocurrencies.  

 The Company has opened an account with Bitcoin Suisse AG (“Bitcoin Suisse”), a third party staking 
provider, and a significant portion of the Company’s portfolio of crypto assets are being  committed to Bitcoin 
Suisse’s Crypto Staking program and the Company is generating crypto-denominated income with respect 
to these staked digital assets. 

 The Company is in advance discussions with a Canadian technology business operating in the Blockchain 
space, which will form the basis of a streaming contract whereby the Company will provide US$500,000 to 
receive a royalty interest in the proceeds mined from application-specific integrated circuit miners (“ASIC 
miners”), a device that uses microprocessors for the sole purpose of ‘mining’ digital assets. The Company’s 
principal investment of US$500,000, as well as a negotiated percentage of any digital assets mined by the 
ASIC miners, shall be repaid to the Company in Bitcoin on a monthly basis. 

Advisory & Research Services 

The Company leverages its internal expertise and know-how to provide digital asset market research and advisory 
services to third parties in exchange for a fee. 

On January 4, 2022, the Company entered into a consulting arrangement with Angelmountain Global Wealth AG 
whereby it provides digital asset market research services in exchange for a fee, which has begun to generate fees. 
The Company is developing its client-base and anticipates it will enter into similar arrangements in the near future.  

Advisory and research services represents 25% of the Company’s current business. 

Licensing & Franchising IT Solutions 

The Company has entered into a written agreement dated June 26, 2019 with a subsidiary of BIGG Digital Assets Inc. 
(“BIGG”), to participate in as an authorized value added reseller in order to market, promote and resell certain BIGG 
products and services. 

The Company expects to obtain financing in the future primarily through further equity and/or debt financing, and to 
receive payments from digital asset royalty and streaming arrangements, Bitcoin staking, income from listed equities 
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operating in the Blockchain space, advisory service, licensing and franchising IT solutions, as well as generating 
revenues in the decentralized finance space through other proof-of-stake networks, investing in startup technologies 
and investment in crypto growth funds. 

Licensing and franchising IT solutions represents 15% of the Company’s current business. 

No Services or Activities in Ontario 

As of the date of this Prospectus, the Company and its subsidiaries do not provide any services to residents of Canada, 
including residents of Ontario and British Columbia, and the Company’s activities are currently conducted only in 
British Columbia.  Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries intend to conduct any services or activities in Ontario or 
with Ontario residents at this time. In order to conduct any services or activities in Ontario or with Ontario residents, 
the Company and its subsidiaries would be required to comply with applicable Ontario securities laws.  

Introduction to Blockchain and Cryptocurrency 

Blockchain technology was invented in 2008 and works as BTC database technology. Blockchain is gaining 
widespread adoption with many unique applications, fewer middlemen, greater efficiency and automated transactions. 

Blockchain technology is unique in that it can store data and distribute it in a decentralized manner. The 
decentralization of information increases security and offers additional functionality to its users. Blockchain 
technology is making a significant impact in many areas of business, finance, information management and 
governance, but it is still in its early stages, with significant future opportunities and applications. 

Blockchain technology enables the application of cryptocurrency. Cryptocurrency is a form of encrypted and 
decentralized digital currency, transferred directly between peers across the internet, with transactions being settled, 
confirmed and recorded in a distributed public ledger by a process known as “mining”. 

Units of a cryptocurrency exist only as data on the internet, and are not issued or controlled by any single institution, 
authority, or government. Whereas most of the world’s money currently exists in the form of electronic records 
managed by central authorities, units of cryptocurrency exist as electronic records in a decentralized tamper-proof 
transaction database called a blockchain. The ledger is both publicly available to anyone and secured with public key 
encryption. 

How a Cryptocurrency Works 

Cryptocurrencies are decentralised digital currencies that enable instant transfers to anyone, anywhere. Transactions 
occur via open source, cryptographic protocol platforms which use peer-to-peer technology to operate with no central 
authority. The network is an online, peer-to-peer network that hosts the public transaction ledger, known as the 
blockchain, and each cryptocurrency with a source code that comprises the basis for the cryptographic and algorithmic 
protocols governing the blockchain. No single entity owns or operates the network, the infrastructure of which is 
collectively maintained by a decentralised user base. As the network is decentralised, it does not rely on either 
governmental authorities or financial institutions to create, transmit or determine the value of the coins. Rather, the 
value of a coin is determined by the market supply of and demand for the coins, the prices of which are set in transfers 
by mutual agreement or barter, as well as by the number of merchants that accept the coins. Because coins are digital 
files that can be transferred without the involvement of intermediaries or third parties, there are little or no transaction 
costs in direct peer-to-peer transactions. Coins can be used to pay for goods and services or can be converted to fiat 
currencies, such as the US dollar, at rates determined by various crypto asset trading platforms. Bitcoin.org lists a 
number of Bitcoin crypto asset trading platforms, including international crypto asset trading platforms such as: 
Bitsquare, Bitstamp, and Coinbase. There are also country-based and regional crypto asset trading platforms. 
Additionally, third party service providers may be used for transfers but they may charge significant fees for 
processing transactions. 
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In a cryptocurrency network, every peer has their own copy of the blockchain, which contains records of every 
historical coin transaction, effectively containing records of all account balances. Each account is identified solely by 
its unique public key, and is secured with its associated private key (kept secret, like a password). 

The combination of private and public cryptographic keys constitutes a secure digital identity in the form of a digital 
signature, providing strong control of ownership. 

Each time a new block of transactions is created, data from that block is used to create a hash that is stored along with 
the block. One piece of data used is the hash from the most recent block in the blockchain. Each block's hash is created 
using the hash of the block before it, acting as a sort of tamper-evident seal that confirms the validity of the new block 
and all earlier blocks. Alterations made to any earlier block would make the hashes of all subsequent blocks invalid, 
the discrepancy would be easily detected by future miners, and that broadcast would be discarded in favour of one 
from a different peer. Thus, miners "vote with their computer power, expressing their acceptance of valid blocks by 
working on extending them and rejecting invalid blocks by refusing to work on them" and consensus of the majority 
is represented by the longest blockchain. 

Miners, which are specialized computers, compete to solve new blocks; a miner that verifies and solves a new block 
is awarded a newly-generated quantity of coins, an amount which is usually proportional to the miner's contributed 
hash rate/work, (plus a small transaction fee) as an incentive to invest their computer power, as mining is critical to 
the continuing functioning and security of the cryptocurrency network. The difficulty of the proof-of-work puzzles is 
automatically adjusted so that a new block is mined on a specified basis, adapting as the total mining power active on 
the network increases over time. 

Bitcoin Halving Event 

Bitcoin miners derive revenue from block rewards and transaction fees for each block they solve. Bitcoin has a finite 
or terminal supply and is becoming scarcer over time. According to the Bitcoin Network, only 21,000,000 Bitcoins 
can ever be mined, with diminishing returns at each 'halving'. Bitcoin halving is an event where the block reward for 
mining new Bitcoin is halved, meaning that bitcoin miners will receive 50% less Bitcoin for every transaction they 
verify. In 2009, when Bitcoin was first launched the reward for mining a new block was 50 Bitcoins. As of the most 
recent halving in May 2020, the reward is only 6.25 Bitcoin per block as of the date of this Prospectus. This reward is 
expected to continue to be cut approximately every four years, with the next Bitcoin halving expected to occur in 2024 
which will reduce the fixed reward for solving a new block to 3.125 Bitcoins. A Bitcoin halving event could also 
impact Blockchain safety as a number of different safety protocols, such as proof-of-work and proof-of-stake, are 
dependent on the miner participation to verify the Blockchain transactions. See "Risk Factors – Bitcoin Halving Risk".  

Bitcoin Mining Pool 

Bitcoin mining is competitive and the goal is to solve or "find" a block before someone else's miner does, at which 
point you will get the block reward and transaction fees from the block. During the last several years, an increasing 
amount of Hashrate has come online which has made it harder to have enough Hashrate personally (individually) to 
solve a block and earn the payout reward. In response to this trend, the concept of "pooled mining" was developed, 
whereby groups of individual miners contribute to the generation of a block, and then split the block reward according 
to the contributed processing or computing power. In doing this, the variance of finding a block is increased by having 
a larger total Hashrate in trying to process a block the fastest. 

Why Cryptocurrencies? 

A blockchain enables market participants to make and verify transactions on a network instantaneously without a 
central authority (i.e., a clearinghouse in the traditional financial system). We believe that Blockchain, the backbone 
technology behind cryptocurrency mining, has the potential to truly disrupt multiple industries and make processes 
more democratic, secure, transparent, and efficient. 

Interbank transactions can potentially take days for clearing and final settlement, especially outside of working hours. 
Blockchain transactions can reduce transaction times to minutes and are processed at all times. 
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Because cryptocurrencies are completely digital, they can be used in ways that ordinary currencies cannot; primarily, 
they are used like the digital equivalent of cash. Unlike credit or debit cards that are issued by banks, consumers don't 
need an account or good credit to use digital currencies. Further, digital currencies are becoming increasingly accepted 
globally by retailers and institutions. 

The Market for Cryptocurrency 

Cryptocurrencies offer many advantages over traditional (also known as 'fiat') currency, including: 

 acting as a fraud deterrent, as cryptocurrencies are digital and cannot be counterfeited or reversed 
arbitrarily by sender; 

 immediate settlement; 
 eliminate counterparty risk; 
 no trusted intermediary required; 
 lower fees; 
 identity theft prevention; 
 accessible by everyone; 
 transactions are verified and protected through a confirmation process, which prevents the problem of 

double spending currencies; 
 decentralized no central authority (government or financial institution); and 
 recognized universally and not bound by government imposed exchange rates. 

Management believes that as the demand for cryptocurrencies increases and cryptocurrencies become more widely 
accepted, there will be an increasing demand for professional grade, scalable infrastructure to support growth of the 
growing blockchain ecosystem. 

Company’s Storage of Cryptocurrency Assets 

The Company stores its cryptocurrency assets either in a brokerage account, or as loans with reputable third parties. 
The Company to date has not converted crypto assets to fiat currency and intends to use fiat currency to meet its 
working capital needs, the Company does not see a need to convert crypto assets into fiat as most transactions in this 
ecosystem can be facilitated using either Bitcoin or other cryptocurrencies. The Company uses Crypto Finance AG 
in Zurich, Switzerland to trade and hold its cryptocurrency asset portfolio. 

Loans 

The Company may loan out Bitcoin and other cryptocurrencies in order to earn interest on these crypto assets prior to 
them being used to purchase or fund other asset acquisitions. The Company may use its digital asset portfolio to 
provide alternative finance to third parties and generate income from the digital asset portfolio.  The Company 
currently is not undertaking any lending activity. 

Blockchain Mining 

Blockchain mining can be completed using proof-of-work or proof-of-stake protocols. Proof-of-work is a computer 
algorithm that is used by a number of different cryptocurrencies for block generation, allowing blocks to be accepted 
by network participants. Proof-of-work is used by cryptocurrencies such as Bitcoin and others and is designed to create 
decentralized agreement between different nodes around adding a specific block to the blockchain. Proof-of-work 
protocol requires miners to solve extremely complex and computationally intense mathematical problems in order to 
add blocks onto the blockchains. This process produces a specific kind of data that permits verification of the block, 
but is time consuming and extremely energy intensive to produce. 

Proof-of-stake is an alternative method to proof-of-work and enables the mining and validation of blockchain 
transactions based on the number of coins that have staked, which means the more coins a miner has the more mining 
power it possesses. In other words, instead of utilizing energy to generate proof-of-work data, a proof-of-stake miner 
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is mining a percentage of transactions that is reflective of its ownership stake. Many coins use proof-of-stake mining, 
including Ethereum and Cardano. 

Advantages of using of proof-of-stake mining include: 

 Recurring dividends: The Company will be rewarded for their service to the blockchain network through an 
annual dividend of mined token collected from network fees, just like proof-of-work miners.  

 Exposure to a diversified portfolio of coins: The Company will hold a diversified portfolio of coins required 
for proof-of-staking mining, thus minimizing exposure to volatility of a single coin.  

 No need to consume large quantities of electricity: The Company will not be required to purchase and 
maintain expensive hardware or pay high electricity costs. As a result, the Company anticipates that its proof-
of-staking mining operations will be more economical given the reduced energy costs and through revenue 
that it will be reinvested into its mining operations. Given the recent upward movement of Bitcoin, the 
Company has deemed that proof-of-stake, although reliable, rewards mining in environments of crypto 
contraction and is not as profitable in times of crypto expansion. To address this, the Company enters into 
royalty and streaming agreements with crypto miners which allows it to be indirectly exposed to proof-of-
work as crypto miners operate using the proof-of-work model. Having both proof-of-stake and proof-of-work 
exposure allows the Company to optimize the existing economic environment.  

 Faster validations: proof-of-staking results in faster transaction times on the blockchain.  

Competitive Conditions 

In the cryptocurrency industry, there exists many online companies that offer cryptocurrency cloud mining services, 
many hosts that operate Masternodes, as well as companies, individuals and groups that run their own mining farms. 
Miners can range from individual enthusiasts to professional mining operations with dedicated data centres. Hosts of 
Masternodes provide various services, and large blocks of Masternodes may be able to effect the participation and 
direction of Crypto coins. 

The vast majority of mining is now undertaken by mining pools, whereby miners organize themselves and pool their 
processing power over a network and mine transactions together. Rewards are then distributed proportionately to each 
miner based on the work / hash power contributed. Mining pools became popular when mining difficulty and block 
time increased. Mining pools allow miners to pool their resources so they can generate blocks quickly and receive 
rewards on a consistent basis instead of mining alone where rewards may not be received for long periods. The 
Company may also decide to participate in mining pools in order to smooth the receipt of rewards. 

Other market participants in the cryptocurrency industry include investors and speculators, retail users transacting in 
cryptocurrencies, and service companies that provide a variety of services including buying, selling, payment 
processing and storing of cryptocurrencies.  

Specialized Skill and Knowledge 

There is a specialized skill required for the development, operations, maintenance, and marketing of the Company's 
business. The Company's current staff possesses the necessary skills and knowledge required for the Company's 
business; however, additional employees may be added to staff as needed. The Company intends on leveraging it’s 
internal expertise and know-how by providing research and advisory services to third parties for a fee. 

Employees/Consultants 

The Company had 7 consultants as at December 31, 2021 and 8 consultants as at the date of this Prospectus. The 
Company does not have any employees. The Company takes extensive measures to keep costs to a minimum and as 
such relies on external contractors for many services in order to scale back quickly if need be given the volatility of 
the digital currency ecosystem. 
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Intellectual Property 

The Company does not own any intellectual property. 

Government Regulation 

With wider adoption of cryptocurrency underway, the groundswell movement to introduce and implement regulatory 
regimes and controls to safeguard investors will continue to grow and will be spurred on by the entry of global 
corporations, hedge funds, family offices, and institutional investors into the cryptocurrency sector. 

There has been a recent flurry of announcements in the cryptocurrency industry that will likely have the effect of 
driving forward regulation while simultaneously adding legitimacy to the sector. On December 16, 2020, 
Massachusetts Mutual Life Insurance Co., an insurance company, announced that it bought USD$100 million worth 
of Bitcoin. On December 21, 2020, MicroStrategy Inc. (NASDAQ: STR), a company that provides business 
intelligence software and related services, announced it has purchased over USD$1billion in Bitcoin in 2020. On 
February 8, 2021, Tesla, Inc. (NASDAQ: TSLA), an American electric vehicle and clean energy company, announced 
that it had invested an aggregate USD$1billion in Bitcoin. 

On January 4, 2021, the US Office of the Comptroller of the Currency issued a statement clarifying the legal 
framework for banks and financial institutions to work with cryptocurrencies and, more specifically, nodes and stable 
coins. On March 9, 2022, US President Biden signed an executive order, urging the Federal Reserve to create its own 
digital currency. This is a positive sign that the U.S. is recognizing the good aspects of this new technology and may 
have the potential to encourage more participation in the crypto market. 

 

SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION AND MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Selected Financial Information 

The following table sets forth the selected financial information for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 and 
the three months ended March 31, 2022, and has been derived from the Consolidated Financial Statements and 
accompanying notes thereto, prepared in accordance with IFRS and attached as Schedule “B” to this Prospectus. The 
selected financial information should be read in conjunction with the Company’s MD&A and the Financial Statements 
contained elsewhere in this Prospectus. 

All amounts referred to as being derived from the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company are denoted in 
Canadian Dollars.  
 

 For the three 
months ended 

March 31, 2022 

(unaudited) 

For the year ended 
December 31, 2021 

($) 
(audited) 

For the year 
ended December 

31, 2020 
($) 

(audited) 

Statement of 
Operations Data 

   

Total Revenue Nil Nil Nil 

Total expenses 146,072 8,748,557 31,242 

Profit/(Loss) and 
comprehensive loss 

(734,618) (9,619,529) (46,039) 

Profit/(Loss) per share 
(basic and diluted) 

(0.01) (0.18) (0.00) 
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 For the three 
months ended 

March 31, 2022 

(unaudited) 

For the year ended 
December 31, 2021 

($) 
(audited) 

For the year 
ended December 

31, 2020 
($) 

(audited) 

Balance Sheet Data    

Current assets 3,537,284 4,043,426 396,406 

Total assets 3,537,284 4,043,426 396,406 

Current liabilities 410,948 278,604 33,033 

Total liabilities 410,948 278,604 33,033 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

The MD&A of the Company for the period ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, is attached to this Prospectus at 
Schedule “B”.  

The MD&A of the Company should be read in conjunction with the respective financial statements and the 
accompanying notes thereto included in this Prospectus. Certain information contained in the MD&A constitutes 
forward-looking statements.  These statements relate to future events or to our future financial performance and 
involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual results, levels of activity, 
performance or achievements to be materially different from any future results, levels of activity, performance or 
achievements expressed or implied by such forward looking statements. See “Forward-Looking Statements” and “Risk 
Factors”. 
 

USE OF AVAILABLE FUNDS 

Proceeds 
 

No proceeds will be raised, as no securities are being sold pursuant to this Prospectus. 

Negative Operating Cash Flow 

The Company currently has a negative operating cash flow and may continue to have a negative operating 
cash flow for the foreseeable future.  There is no guarantee the Company will ever become profitable.  The nature of 
the Company’s business as a company in the blockchain industry requires focused on streaming and staking together 
with DEFI opportunities, and as a result the Company has negative cash flow from its operating activities and currently 
generates no revenue from its activities.  The Company anticipates that it will continue to have negative cash flow 
until such time as September, 2022.  The Company has to this date funded its operations with proceeds from equity 
financings and expects to raise additional funds through equity financings. 

Available Funds 

The Company had $1,198,000 in available funds in estimated working capital as at July 31, 2022. The 
Company intends to spend the available funds as follows:  
 

  
Funds Available 

($) 

Funds Available    

Working Capital as at July 31, 2022 $1,198,000 
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Principal Purposes for the Available Funds   

Investment in cryptocurrency-related assets for staking, 
streaming and other business activities(1)  

$270,000 

Consultant Fees and Executive Officer Salaries(2).  $500,000 

Costs related to Listing(3)  $180,000 

General and administrative expenses(4)  $170,000 

Resource and  Sales(5)  $50,000 

Unallocated working capital   $28,000 

TOTAL  $1,198,000 
(1) As of the date hereof, the Company plans to invest $120,000 in staking, streaming, loan and DeFi projects; $100,000 for investments in 

cryptocurrencies; and $50,000 for investments in listed equities that operate in the blockchain sector. 
(2) The Company’s executive officers will receive salaries or management fees for the initial 12 months following Listing totaling $200,000. The 

Company’s directors will receive fees for the initial 12 months following Listing totaling $75,000. The Company anticipates incurring 
consulting fees of $225,000 for the initial 12 months following Listing. 

(3) Includes legal fees currently estimated at $150,000, audit fees currently estimated at $20,000 and other expenses of the Company currently 
estimated at $10,000 incurred in connection with Listing. 

(4) General and administrative expenses are estimated to total $170,000 for the upcoming year, comprising: transfer agent and regulatory fees of 
$10,000; audit and related fees of $30,000; legal and related fees of $40,000; office and administrative expenses of $30,000; travel and related 
costs of $20,000; annual general meetings and associated costs of $10,000; Marketing costs of $20,000 and news release, investor relations 
and associated costs of $10,000. 

(5) Includes funds to be used to further expand the Company’s licencing and franchising IT solution business, including continued efforts to resell 
BIGG Forensics and AML Compliance Tools in the European region. 

The Company intends to spend the funds available to it as stated in this Prospectus. There may be 
circumstances however, where, for sound business reasons, a reallocation of funds may be necessary. Due to the 
uncertain nature of the industry in which the Company’s investee companies operate, investments may be frequently 
reviewed and reassessed. Accordingly, while it is currently intended by management that the available funds will be 
expended as set forth above, actual expenditures may in fact differ from these amounts and allocations. See “Risk 
Factors”. 

Business Objectives and Milestones 

The anticipated timing for achieving the Company’s business objectives, using the available funds, are as 
follows:  

Business Objective Milestone Required 
to Achieve Business 
Objective 

Anticipated Timing to 
Achieve Business 
Objective(1) 

Estimated Cost 

Objective A 
Obtain a listing of the Common 
Shares on the Exchange. 

N/A Q3, 2022 $180,000 

Objective B 
Deploy digital assets in proof-of-
stake systems and other DeFi 
activities, earning income in the 
form of cryptocurrency-
denominated returns. 

Milestone 1 
Create account with 
Bitcoin Suisse AG. 
 
Milestone 2 
Stake digital assets. 

Achieved, will increasingly 
expand activity within next 
fiscal year. 

Will stake a 
portion of digital 
assets (see cost 
associated with 
Objective E) 

Objective C 
Enter into cryptocurrency-focused 
royalty and streaming 
arrangement with third party 
cryptocurrency miners, stakers 
and validators and Blockchain 
companies. 

Milestone 1 
Finalize negotiations 
pertaining to an 
proposed streaming 
agreement.  
 
Milestone 2 

Q3-Q4, 2022 Planned 
investment of 
$120,000 
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Source additional 
royalty and streaming 
arrangements. 

Objective D 
Provides research and advisory 
services to third party businesses 
within the Blockchain space.  

Milestone 1 
Develop additional 
clientele to which 
research and advisory 
services can be 
provided to. 

Focus on obtaining 
additional clientele in 
which research and 
advisory services can be 
provided in Q3, 2022. 

n/a 

Objective E 
Increase its digital asset holdings 
and portfolio of listed equities. 

Milestone 1 
Strategically deploy 
capital into targeted 
digital assets and 
cryptocurrency-
focused equities. 

Achieved, will increasingly 
expand activity within next 
fiscal year. 

$100,000 
earmarked for 
investment in 
digital assets, 
$50,000 earmarked 
for expanding 
portfolio of listed 
equities.  

Objective F 
Further expand it’s licencing and 
franchising IT solution business. 

Milestone 1 
Continue effort to 
resell BIGG Forensics 
and AML Compliance 
Tools in the European 
region. 

Q3-Q4, 2022 $50,000 

Objective G 
Capital raising activities, such as 
raising capital in the public equity 
markets and/or undertaking 
strategic merger and acquisitions. 

Milestone 1 
Ongoing assessment of 
Company’s capital 
requirements 
Milestones 
Ongoing surveillance 
of players in 
cryptocurrency sector 
and assessment of 
synergistic M&A 
opportunities.  

Q3-Q4, 2022 n/a 

Note: 
(1) The above timelines reflect the Company’s best estimation as of the date hereof, however each relies on a 
number of factors beyond the Company’s control which may either accelerate or slow the indicated timeframe. 
There can be no assurance that the milestones will be achieved by the Company within the indicated timeframes, or 
at all (see “Risk Factors”). 

The Company anticipates that it will have sufficient cash available to execute its business plan and to pay its 
operating and administrative costs for at least twelve months after Listing. 

Unallocated Funds in Trust or Escrow 

Unallocated funds will be deposited in the Company’s bank account and added to the working capital of the 
Company. The CEO of the Company is responsible for the supervision of all financial assets of the Company. Based 
on the Company’s cash flow requirements, management will determine the appropriate level of liquidity required for 
operations and will draw down such funds as necessary. 

There may be circumstances, where for business reasons, a reallocation of funds may be necessary in order 
for the Company to achieve its stated business objectives. 
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DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES DISTRIBUTED 

Authorized and Issued Share Capital 

The authorized capital of the Company consists of an unlimited number of Common Shares without par 
value.  As of the date hereof, there are 85,817,000 Common Shares issued and outstanding.  

Common Shares 

Holders of Common Shares are entitled to receive notice of, and to attend and vote at, all meetings of the 
shareholders of the Company, and each Common Share confers the right to one vote, provided that the shareholder is 
a holder on the applicable record date declared by the Board. The holders of Common Shares, subject to the prior 
rights, if any, of any other class of shares of the Company with special rights as to dividends, are entitled to receive 
such dividends in any financial year as the Board may determine. In the event of the liquidation, dissolution or 
winding-up of the Company, whether voluntary or involuntary, the holders of the Common Shares are entitled to 
receive, subject to the prior rights, if any, of the holders of any other class of shares of the Company, the remaining 
property and assets of the Company. The Common Shares are not subject to call or assessment rights, redemption 
rights, rights regarding purchase for cancellation or surrender, or any pre-emptive or conversion rights. See 
“Consolidated Capitalization – Fully Diluted Share Capital”. 

PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION 
 

This is a non-offering prospectus. No securities are offered pursuant to this Prospectus. 

[The CSE has conditionally approved the listing of the Common Shares on the Exchange]. Listing will 
be subject to the Company fulfilling all the listing requirements of the CSE, which cannot be guaranteed. 

As at the date of this Prospectus, the Company does not have any of its securities listed or quoted, has not 
applied to list or quote any of their securities, and do not intend to apply to list or quote any of its securities, on the 
Toronto Stock Exchange, a US marketplace, or a marketplace outside Canada and the United States. 

This Prospectus does not constitute an offer to sell or a solicitation of an offer to buy any of the Company’s 
securities within the US or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons. None of the Common Shares have been 
or will be registered under the US Securities Act or the securities laws of any state of the U.S. and may not be offered 
or sold within the U.S. or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons, except in transactions exempt from the 
registration requirements of the U.S. Securities Act and applicable state securities laws. Accordingly, unless an 
exemption from the registration requirements of the U.S. Securities Act and applicable state securities laws is 
available, all Common Shares held by or on behalf of a U.S. person or a person in the U.S. will bear appropriate 
legends evidencing the restrictions on the offering, sale and transfer of such securities. 

CONSOLIDATED CAPITALIZATION 

The Company 

Consolidated Capitalization 

The following table sets forth the share and loan capital of the Company after giving effect to the Special 
Warrant Private Placement and the Transaction.  The table should be read in conjunction with the financial statements 
and the accompanying notes thereto included in this Prospectus. 

 Amount Authorized or to be Authorized 
Outstanding as at the date of this 

Prospectus 

Common Shares Unlimited 85,817,000(1) 

Stock Options 10% of Issued and Outstanding Common Shares(2) 5,721,133 

RSUs 10% of Issued and Outstanding Common Shares(2) 2,860,567 
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Note:  

(1) On an undiluted basis. For information on fully diluted share capital, see below table under “Fully Diluted Share Capital”. 

(2) The aggregate maximum number of Common Shares that may be reserved for issuance pursuant to the exercise of Options and RSUs 
(on a combined basis) under the Share Compensation Plan is 10% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares, being 85,817,000 
Common Shares at the time of Listing.   

Fully Diluted Share Capital 

The following table sets forth the anticipated fully diluted share capital of the Company after giving effect to 
the Transaction and the Special Warrant Private Placement. 
 

Shares to be Issued 
Number of Securities as at 
the date of this Prospectus 

% of total issued and 
outstanding 

Common Shares issued as at the date of this 
Prospectus 

85,817,000 100% 

Total Company Shares 85,817,000(1) (2) 100% 

    

Common Shares to be issued on exercise of Options 5,721,133 66.67% 

Common Shares to be issued on exercise of RSUs 2,860,567 33.33% 

Total Common Shares reserved for issuance 8,581,700 100% 

   

Fully diluted securities 94,398,700  

Notes: 
(1) The Company issued 72,070,000 Common Shares on closing of the Transaction. For further details see “Prior Sales” and “General 

Development of the Business – History”.  
(2) The Company issued 347,000 Common Shares upon the deemed exercise of Special Warrants on September 7, 2021. For further details see 

“Prior Sales” and “General Development of the Business – History”. 

OPTIONS AND OTHER RIGHTS TO PURCHASE SECURITIES 

Outstanding Options and RSUs 

As of the date of this Prospectus, the Company has 5,721,133 Options and 2,860,567 RSUs outstanding.  

Share Compensation Plan 

At the time of Listing, the Company intends to have 5,721,133 Options and 2,860,567 RSUs outstanding, 
having been granted to directors, executive officers, employees and consultants, being approximately 10% of the 
issued and outstanding Common Shares after completion of the Listing. The Share Compensation Plan will be the 
sole share compensation plan utilized by the Company for security-based compensation and long-term incentives. 
The aggregate maximum number of Common Shares that may be reserved for issuance under the Share 
Compensation Plan is 10% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares, being 85,817,000 Common Shares at the 
time of Listing. 
 
Options granted as of the date of this Prospectus are as follows: 
 

 Common Shares under 
Option 

Common Shares under 
RSUs 

Exercise Price Expiry Date 

Executive Officers(1) 716,667 358,333 $0.125 July 31, 2026 

Directors(2) 1,720,000 860,000 $0.125 July 31, 2026 

Consultants 3,284,466 1,642,234 $0.125 July 31, 2026 
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Notes: 
(1) Consists of Meetul Patel and Antony Turner. 
(2) Consists of Erich Perroulaz, Raymond O’Neill, Anthony Zelen and Denis Silva.  

Terms of the Plan 

The full text of the Share Compensation Plan is available upon written request made directly to the Company 
at its registered office located at registered and records office of the Company currently located at 1500 – 1055 West 
Georgia Street, Vancouver, BC V6E 4N7. Upon Listing, the registered and records office of the Company will be 
located at Suite 2800, Park Place, 666 Burrard St., Vancouver B.C. V6C 2Z7. 

 

Administration 

The Share Compensation Plan shall be administered by the Board, a special committee of the Board (the 
“Committee”) or by an administrator appointed by the Board or the Committee (the “Administrator”) either of which 
will have full and final authority with respect to the granting of all Options thereunder.  Options and RSUs may be 
granted under the Share Compensation Plan to such directors, officers, employees or consultants of the Company, as 
the Board, the Committee or the Administrator may from time to time designate (such individuals, as “Participants”). 

Number of Common Shares Reserved  

Subject to adjustment as provided for in the Share Compensation Plan, the number of Common Shares 
available for issuance under the Share Compensation Plan will not exceed, in any combination of Options or RSUs, 
10% of the number of Common Shares which are issued and outstanding on the particular date of grant.  If any Option 
or RSU expires or otherwise terminates for any reason without having been exercised in full, the number of Common 
Shares in respect of such expired or terminated Option or RSU shall again be available for the purposes of granting 
Options or awarding RSUs pursuant to the Share Compensation Plan. 

Options 

All Options granted under the Share Compensation Plan will have an exercise price determined and approved 
by the Administrators at the time of the grant, which shall not be less than the closing price of the Common Shares on 
the CSE on the trading day immediately preceding the date of the granting of the option. The Administrators may 
determine when any Option will become exercisable and may determine if Options shall be exercisable in instalments 
or pursuant to a vesting schedule. Options shall be exercisable during a period established by the Administrators which 
shall not be more than 10 years from the grant of the Option. The Share Compensation Plan provides that the exercise 
period shall automatically be extended if the date on which it is scheduled to terminate shall fall during a blackout 
period. In such cases, the extended exercise period shall terminate 10 business days after the last day of the blackout 
period.  

If an event of termination occurs, namely an event whereby a Participant ceases to be eligible under the Share 
Compensation Plan for such reason as giving of any notice of termination of employment or service (whether voluntary 
or involuntary and whether with or without cause), retirement, or any cessation of employment or service for any 
reason whatsoever, including disability or death (“Event of Termination”), then: 

 any unvested Options, to the extent not available for exercise as of the date of the Event of Termination, 
shall, unless otherwise determined by the Administrators in their discretion, be cancelled, terminated and not 
available for exercise; and 

 any vested Options granted to the Participant that are available for exercise may be exercised only before the 
earlier of (i) the expiry of the Option, and (ii) six months after the date of Event of Termination.  

RSUs 

RSUs awarded under the Share Compensation Plan entitle the Participant to receive Common Shares (issued 
from treasury or purchased on the open market), cash (based on the value of a Common Share) or a combination 
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thereof, at some future time to eligible persons under the Share Compensation Plan. The terms and conditions of 
awards of RSUs, including the quantity, type of award, grant date, vesting conditions, vesting periods, settlement date 
and other terms and conditions, shall be set out in the specific RSU award. Subject to the achievement of the applicable 
vesting conditions, the payout of an RSU will generally occur on the settlement date.  

If an Event of Termination occurs, any unvested RSUs shall, unless otherwise determined by the 
Administrators in their discretion, shall be forfeited by the Participant and cancelled, and any vested RSUs shall be 
issued as soon as practicable after the Event of Termination and in accordance with the applicable vesting schedule. 

DIVIDENDS OR DISTRIBUTIONS 

The Company has not declared any cash dividends or distributions for any of our securities and no such 
dividends or distributions are contemplated for the current financial year. 

As of the date of this Prospectus, there are no restrictions that prevent the Company from paying dividends 
on its Common Shares. The Company has neither declared nor paid any dividends on its shares and it is not 
contemplated that the Company will pay dividends in the immediate or foreseeable future. The Company currently 
intends to retain future earnings, if any, to finance the expansion of its business and does not anticipate paying 
dividends in the foreseeable future. Any future decision to pay dividends on the Company’s Common Shares will be 
made by the Board on the basis of the earnings, financial requirements and other conditions existing at such time.   

PRIOR SALES 

Common Shares 

This table sets out particulars of the Common Shares that have been issued or sold since the incorporation of 
Spirit.  

Date of Issuance/Sale Security Type Number of Securities Issue/Sale Price 

January 19, 2021 Common Shares 1(1) $0.01 

April 16, 2021 Common Shares 13,400,000(2) $0.02 

July 29, 2021 Common Shares 72,070,000(3) $0.125 

September 7, 2021 Common Shares 347,000(4) $0.05 

Notes:  
(1) Incorporator’s share was issued and subsequently repurchased. 
(2) Issued in connection with the Seed Financing. See “General Development of the Business – History – Spirit”.  
(3) Issued in connection with the Transaction. See “General Development of the Business – Spirit”. 
(4) Issued in connection with the Special Warrant Private Placement. The Special Warrants were deemed to be converted on 

September 7, 2021. See “General Development of the Business – History – Spirit”. 

Securities Convertible into Common Shares 

This table sets out particulars of securities exercisable for or exchangeable into Common Shares issued within 
the 12 months prior to the date of this Prospectus.  

Date of Issuance Security Type Number of Securities Issue/Exercise Price  

May 6, 2021 Special Warrants 347,000(1) $0.05 

Notes: 
(1) Issued in connection with the Special Warrant Private Placement. The Special Warrants were deemed exercised and 347,000 

Common Shares were issued on September 7, 2021. 
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ESCROWED SECURITIES AND RESALE RESTRICTIONS 

Escrowed Securities 
 
CSE Escrow 

As of the date of this Prospectus, none of the Company’s securities are held in escrow or are subject to a 
contractual restriction on transfer. 

In connection with the proposed listing of Common Shares on the CSE, the following Common Shares are 
expected to be subject to escrow upon completion of the listing on the CSE as shown in the following table:  

Name Designation of Class 
Securities held in 

Escrow(1) Percentage of Class(2) 

Erich Perroulaz Common Shares 18,240,000 21.25% 

Raymond O’Neill Common Shares 5,140,000 5.99% 

Gabriela Kuehne-
Hunkeler 

Common Shares 17,000,000 19.81% 

Anthony Zelen Common Shares Nil Nil 

Denis Silva Common Shares  Nil Nil 

Notes: 

(1) Common Shares and Options (the “Escrowed Securities”) held in escrow and released over a 36-month period pursuant to an escrow 
agreement to be entered into (the “Escrow Agreement”) between directors and officers of the Company and Olympia, as escrow agent.  The 
release of the Escrowed Securities under the Escrow Agreement is as follows: 10% on date of listing on the CSE and thereafter 15% released 
every six months over a 36-month period. 

(2) Percentage is based on 85,817,000 Common Shares outstanding. 

Section 3.5 of National Policy 46-201 - Escrow for Initial Public Offerings provides that all securities of a 
company owned or controlled by principals will be escrowed at the time of the company’s initial public offering, 
unless the securities held by the principal or issuable to the principal upon conversion of convertible securities held 
by the principal collectively represent less than 1% of the total issued and outstanding shares of the company after 
giving effect to the initial public offering. 

Directors, executive officers and certain shareholders of the Company (the “Escrow Shareholders”) have 
entered into the Escrow Agreement with the Company pursuant to which the Escrow Shareholders have agreed to 
deposit the securities of the Company which they hold with Olympia Trust Company, as escrow agent once appointed, 
until they are released in accordance with terms of their respective Escrow Agreements, CSE Policy and applicable 
securities law as follows: 

Release Date Amount of Securities to be Released 

On the date the Company’s securities are listed on the CSE 10% of Escrowed Securities 

6 months after the listing date 15% of Escrowed Securities 

12 months after the listing date 15% of Escrowed Securities 

18 months after the listing date 15% of Escrowed Securities 

24 months after the listing date 15% of Escrowed Securities 

30 months after the listing date 15% of Escrowed Securities 

36 months after the listing date 15% of Escrowed Securities 
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PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS 

The Company 

As of the date of this Prospectus, 85,817,000 Common Shares are issued and outstanding.  

To the knowledge of the directors and officers of the Company, the following persons are expected to 
beneficially own, directly or indirectly, or exercise control or direction over, Common Shares carrying more than 10% 
of the voting rights attaching to all the outstanding Common Shares: 
 

Name 
Number and type of 

securities Type of Ownership Percentage of Class(1) 

Erich Perroulaz 18,240,000 Common 
Shares 

Beneficial and of record 21.25% 

Gabriela Kuehne-
Hunkeler 

17,000,000 Common 
Shares 

Beneficial and of record  19.81% 

Note: 
(1) Percentage is based on 85,817,000 Common Shares outstanding.  

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS 

Name, Occupation and Security Holdings 

The following table sets out the name, age, city of residence, position and the number and percentage of 
Common Shares which will be beneficially owned or controlled by each of the current directors and officers of the 
Company. The directors of the Company are Erich Perroulaz, Raymond O’Neill, Anthony Zelen, and Denis Silva, and 
the officers of the Company consist of Erich Perroulaz (CEO), Meetul Patel (CFO & Corporate Secretary) and Antony 
John Turner (COO). 

Name and 
Municipality of 

Residence 

Position to be held 
with the Company 

Principal Occupation 
for the Past Five Years 

Number of 
Common Shares 

Percentage of 
Class(2) 

Erich Perroulaz, 
Switzerland 
 

CEO and Director Company Director 18,240,000 21.25 % 

Raymond O’Neill, 
Ireland(1) 

Director Company Director 5,140,000 5.99% 

Anthony Zelen, 

British Columbia, 
Canada(1) 

Director Company Director Nil Nil 

Denis Silva, 

British Columbia, 

Canada(1) 

Director Partner, DLA Piper 
(Canada) LLP 

Nil Nil 

Meetul Patel, 

British Columbia, 
Canada 

CFO and Corporate 
Secretary 

Accountant 22,000(3) 0.03% 
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Name and 
Municipality of 

Residence 

Position to be held 
with the Company 

Principal Occupation 
for the Past Five Years 

Number of 
Common Shares 

Percentage of 
Class(2) 

Antony John Turner 

South Africa 

Chief Operating 
Officer 

Company Director 200,000 0.23% 

Notes: 

(1) Member of the audit committee. 

(2) Based on 85,817,000 issued and outstanding Common Shares.  

(3) Includes 17,000 Common Shares held by Mr. Patel and 5,000 Common Shares held by 1260806 B.C. Ltd., a company wholly-owned by Mr. 
Patel.  

As of the date of this Prospectus, directors and officers of the Company, as a group, own or control or exercise 
direction over 23,402,000 Common Shares, being 27.27% of the issued Common Shares.  

Directors and Officers – Biographies 

Erich Perroulaz - 54 - Chairman & Chief Executive Officer 

Erich is a Swiss entrepreneur with over thirty years’ experience in the international investment industry. His previous 
positions include heading the representative office Switzerland for Hansberger Global Investors from 1998 until 2010 
as well as holding different positions for international investment banks from 1988 until 1997. Mr. Perroulaz also runs 
an advisory and consultant business for qualified investors in the alternative asset space, mainly in value investing, 
precious metals mining & streaming, and digital assets. Mr. Perroulaz has a federal diploma of vocational education 
and training with a Swiss Bank Series 7, USA and an advanced federal diploma of higher education in management 
leadership and coaching. Through his holding company, Creade GmbH, Mr. Perroulaz is an independent contractor 
of the Company and expects to devote approximately 90% of his time to the affairs of the Company. 

Mr. Perroulaz entered into a consulting agreement with the Company dated July 1, 2021, which contains certain non-
competition and confidentiality provisions. 

Raymond O’Neill – 60 - Director 

Raymond has worked in the Asset Management industry since 1987, in senior positions with global organisations.  
His experience includes operations, dealing with investors and regulators, acting as an expert witness, and advising 
on the structuring of funds and regulated entities. His previous positions include Chief Executive Officer and Founding 
Member of Kinetic Partners, Partner in Charge of the Financial Services Group at RSM Robson Rhodes and Managing 
Director of the Irish operations of Investors Bank & Trust, a global fund administrator and custodian. Mr. O’Neill is 
an FCCA, a CFA, and also holds a Dip IoD and has worked as a non-executive director since 2014. Through his 
holding company, Core Financial Management Limited, Mr. O’Neill is an independent contractor of the Company 
and expects to devote approximately 25% of his time to the affairs of the company. Mr. O’Neill has entered into a 
consulting agreement with the Company dated July 1, 2021, which contains certain non-competition and 
confidentiality provisions. 

Anthony Zelen – 49 - Director 

Anthony has over 23 years of experience in finance, investor relations, start-ups and corporate development. He has 
served as a director and officer for a number of public companies listed both in the United States and Canada in roles 
relating to investor relations, public relations, financing and strategic marketing for companies in the technology, 
mining and oil and gas sectors. Mr. Zelen is a former director of BIGG Digital Assets Inc., a company that owns, 
operates and invests in cryptocurrency businesses. Mr. Zelen received a Bachelor of Arts from Simon Fraser 
University. Mr. Zelen is an independent contractor of the Company and expects to devote approximately 10% of his 
time to the affairs of the Company. Mr. Zelen has not entered into an employment agreement, non-competition 
agreement or confidentiality agreement with the Company. 

Denis Silva - 41 - Director 
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Denis is a partner at DLA Piper (Canada) LLP, an international law firm, advising clients on corporate finance and 
merger and acquisition transactions with a focus on the technology and mining sectors. Denis has been recognized by 
Lexpert and Chambers, and has acted for a wide variety of companies listed on Canadian and US exchanges. Denis 
holds a B.A. from the University of British Columbia, an M.P.A. from Queen’s University, and an LL.B from the 
University of Windsor. Mr. Silva expects to devote approximately 10% of his time to the affairs of the Company. Mr. 
Silva has not entered into an employment agreement, non-competition agreement or confidentiality agreement with 
the Company. 

Meetul Patel – 28 – Chief Financial Officer & Corporate Secretary 

Meetul has worked in capital markets for the past two years and formerly as a Senior Accountant at KPMG LLP. His 
responsibilities include financial planning and analysis, tax, and audit. Mr. Patel received a Bachelor of Business 
Administration (Hons) degree from Simon Fraser University and obtained his Chartered Professional Accountant 
designation at KPMG LLP. Mr. Patel is an independent contractor of the Company and expects to devote 
approximately 10% of his time to the affairs of the Company. Mr. Patel has not entered into an employment agreement, 
non-competition agreement or confidentiality agreement with the Company. 

Antony John Turner – 50 – Chief Operating Officer 

Antony is an entrepreneur with experience in Fund Management, Fintech, EduTech, and TravelTech, having been 
involved in starting and growing various businesses in South Africa, the UK, USA, Singapore, and Switzerland. 

Mr. Turner is the current chief executive officer of Smartsource Learning Solutions (Pty) Ltd and has also served as 
chief operating officer at Wyzetalk (Pty) Ltd. He has a B.Sc. in electronic engineering from the University of Cape 
Town and an M.Sc. in electrical engineering from the University of Witwatersrand. Mr. Turner expects to devote 
approximately 90% of his time to the affairs of the Company.  

Mr. Turner entered into a consulting agreement with the Company dated December 1, 2021, which contains certain 
non-competition and confidentiality provisions. 

Committees 

The only committee of the Board of Directors of the Company is the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee 
of the Company consists of 3. 

Cease Trade Orders 

Except as disclosed herein, no director or executive officer of the Company is, as at the date of this 
Prospectus, or was within 10 years before the date of this Prospectus, a director, chief executive officer or chief 
financial officer of any company that: 

(a) was subject to a cease trade order, an order similar to a cease trade order, or an order that denied the 
relevant company access to any exemption under securities legislation, that was in effect for a period 
of more than 30 days, that was issued while the director or executive officer was acting in the 
capacity as director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer; or 

(b) was subject to a cease trade order, an order similar to a cease trade order, or an order that denied the 
relevant company access to any exemption under securities legislation, that was in effect for a period 
of more than 30 days, that was issued after the director or executive officer ceased to be a director, 
chief executive officer or chief financial officer and which resulted from an event that occurred 
while that person as acting in the capacity as director, chief executive officer or chief financial 
officer. 

Anthony Zelen was a director of Hollister Biosciences Inc. when the British Columbia Securities 
Commission issued a cease trade order on June 16, 2020 against it for failure to file its annual financial statements 
and related management’s discussion and analysis and certifications for the year ended December 31, 2019. This cease 
trade order was revoked on July 15, 2020. 
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Anthony Zelen was a director of Hollister Biosciences Inc. when the British Columbia Securities 
Commission issued a cease trade order on May 4, 2021 against it for failure to file its annual financial statements and 
related management’s discussion and analysis and certifications for the year ended December 31, 2020. This cease 
trade order was revoked on June 1, 2020. 

Anthony Zelen was a director of New Wave Holdings Corp. when the British Columbia Securities 
Commission issued a cease trade order on July 31, 2021 against it for failure to file its annual financial statements and 
related management’s discussion and analysis and certifications for the year ended March 31, 2021. This cease trade 
order was revoked on October 29, 2021.  

Anthony Zelen was a director of New Wave Holdings Corp. when the Ontario Securities Commission issued 
a cease trade order on August 3, 2021 against it for failure to file its annual financial statements and related 
management’s discussion and analysis and certifications for the year ended March 31, 2021. This cease trade order 
was revoked on November 1, 2021. 

Anthony Zelen was a director of New Wave Holdings Corp. when the Ontario Securities Commission issued 
a cease trade order on October 5, 2021 against it for failure to file its interim financial statements and related 
management’s discussion and analysis and certifications for the period ended June 30, 2021. This cease trade order 
was revoked on October 29, 2021. 

Mr. Zelen, while acting as the chief executive officer and a director of Lida Resources Corp., Lida Resources 
Inc. was subject to a failure-to-file financial statements management cease trade order issued by the principal regulator 
of British Columbia on December 31, 2021. The management cease trade order was revoked on March 4, 2022. 

Bankruptcies 

No director or executive officer of the Company, or a shareholder holding a sufficient number of securities 
of the Company to affect materially the control of the Company: 

(a) is as at the date of the Prospectus, or has been within the 10 years before the date of the Prospectus, 
a director or executive officer of any company that, while that person was acting in that capacity, or 
within a year of that person ceasing to act in that capacity, became bankrupt, made a proposal under 
any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, 
arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed 
to hold its assets; or 

(b) has within the 10 years before the date of the Prospectus, become bankrupt, made a proposal under 
any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or become subject to or instituted any 
proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver manager or 
trustee appointed to hold the assets of that person. 

Penalties or Sanctions 

No director or executive officer of the Company, or a shareholder holding a sufficient number of securities 
of the Company to affect materially the control of the Company, has been subject to: 

(a) any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to securities legislation or by a securities 
regulatory authority or has entered into a settlement agreement with a securities regulatory authority; 
or 

(b) any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body that would likely be 
considered important to a reasonable investor in making an investment decision. 

Conflicts of Interest 

Conflicts of interest may arise as a result of the directors and officers of the Company also holding positions 
as directors or officers of other companies. Some of the individuals who will be directors and officers of the Company 
have been and will continue to be engaged in the identification and evaluation of assets, businesses and companies on 
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their own behalf and on behalf of other companies, and situations may arise where the directors and officers of the 
Company will be in direct competition with the Company. Conflicts, if any, will be subject to the procedures and 
remedies provided under British Columbia corporate law.  Directors who are in a position of conflict will abstain from 
voting on any matters relating to the conflicting company. 

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 

In this section “Named Executive Officer” or “NEO” means each individual who acted as chief executive 
officer of the Company, or acted in a similar capacity, for any part of the most recently completed financial year (a 
“CEO”), each individual who acted as chief financial officer of the Company, or acted in a similar capacity, for any 
part of the most recently completed financial year (a “CFO”) and each of the three most highly compensated executive 
officers, other than the CEO and CFO, at the end of the most recently completed financial year whose total 
compensation was, individually, more than CDN$150,000 as well as any additional individuals for whom disclosure 
would have been provided except that the individual was not serving as an executive officer of the Company at the 
end of the most recently completed financial year. 

The Company 

Compensation Discussion and Analysis 

Erich Perroulaz, Meetul Patel and Antony Turner are the Company’s only Named Executive Officers. 

Executive compensation is intended to be consistent with the Company’s business plans, strategies and goals 
while taking into account various factors and criteria, including competitive factors and the Company’s performance.  
The Company’s executive compensation program is intended to provide an appropriate overall compensation package 
that permits the Company to attract and retain highly qualified and experienced senior executives and to encourage 
superior performance by the Company.  The Company’s compensation policies are intended to motivate individuals 
to achieve and to award compensation based on corporate and individual results.  Compensation for the NEOs is 
intended to reflect a fair evaluation of overall performance. 

The Board of Directors of the Company has not appointed a compensation committee and the responsibilities 
relating to executive and director compensation, including reviewing and recommending director compensation, 
overseeing the Company’s compensation program, recommending compensation of the Company’s officers and 
employees, and evaluating the performance of officers generally and in light of annual goals and objectives, is 
performed by the Board of Directors as a whole.  The Board of Directors also assumes responsibility for reviewing 
and monitoring the long-range compensation strategy for the Company’s senior management.  The Board of Directors 
reviews compensation of senior management on an annual basis.  

When determining individual compensation levels for the Company’s NEOs, a variety of factors will be 
considered including: the overall financial and operating performance of the Company, each NEO’s individual 
performance and contribution towards meeting corporate objectives and each NEO’s level of responsibility and length 
of service. 

The Board of Directors considers the following objectives when reviewing annual compensation: (i) retaining 
individuals critical to the growth and overall success of the Company; (ii) rewarding achievements of individuals; (iii) 
providing fair and competitive compensation; and (iv) compensating individuals based on their performance. 

The base salary review for each NEO is based on an assessment of factors such as current market conditions 
and particular skills, including leadership ability and management effectiveness, experience, responsibility and proven 
or expected performance.   

The Company intends to adopt a bonus plan to assist the Company in attracting, retaining and motivating 
directors, officers, employees, consultants and contractors of the Company and of its affiliates and to closely align the 
personal interests of such service providers with the interests of the Company and its shareholders. It is intended that 
10% of the Company’s profits post-tax will be allocated to the bonus plan. 
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The Company has adopted a Share Compensation Plan to assist the Company in attracting, retaining and 
motivating directors, officer, employees, consultants and contractors of the Company and of its affiliates and to closely 
align the personal interests of such service providers with the interests of the Company and its shareholders.  As of 
the date of this Prospectus, the Company has 5,698,000 Options issued and outstanding.  See “Options to Purchase 
Securities”. 

The Company is aware that compensation practices can have unintended risk consequences. At the present 
time, the Board of Directors is satisfied that the current executive compensation program does not encourage the 
executives to expose the business to inappropriate risk. 

Summary Compensation Table 

The Company was not a reporting issuer at any time during the most recently completed period for which 
financial statements are available. Accordingly, the following table sets out information concerning the expected 
compensation to be paid to each NEO once the Company becomes a reporting issuer, effective as of date hereof, for 
the 12 month period after the Listing Date. 

 

Name and 
principal 
position 

Salary, 
consulting 

fee, retainer 
or 

commission 
($) 

Bonus 
($) 

Committee 
or meeting 

fees  
($) 

Value of 
perquisites 

($) 

Value of all 
other 

compensation 
($) 

Total  

compensation 
($) 

Erich 
Perroulaz, 
CEO 
 

180,000 Nil Nil Nil Nil 180,000 

Meetul Patel, 

CFO & 
Corporate 
Secretary 
 

25,000 Nil Nil Nil Nil 25,000 

Antony 
Turner 

180,000 Nil Nil Nil Nil 180,000 

Incentive Plan Awards 

Option and RSU grants will be used to align executive interests with those of the shareholders of the Company 
and will be based on the executive’s performance, level of responsibility, as well as the terms of the previously issued 
Options and RSUs to the executive as part of the overall aggregate total compensation package. Options and RSUs 
may be granted on an annual basis in connection with the review of executives’ compensation packages, or upon hire 
or promotion and as special recognition for extraordinary performance.   

Pension Plan Benefits 

The Company does not anticipate that it will have a pension, retirement or similar plan. 

Termination of Employment and Change of Control Benefits 

None of the NEOs currently has any agreement in place with the Company pursuant to which such NEO 
would be entitled to receive non-standard payments in the event of any termination of employment or a change of 
control. 



 

 - 37 - 
 
 

Director Compensation 

Non-executive directors of the Company will be paid fees for the year following the Listing Date. Directors 
will also be entitled to receive options in accordance with the terms of the Share Compensation Plan. The timing, 
amounts, exercise price of those future option-based awards are not yet determined. Directors of the Company will be 
reimbursed for any out-of-pocket travel expenses incurred in order to attend meetings of the Board of Directors, 
committees of the Board of Directors or meetings of the shareholders of the Company. It is anticipated that the 
Company will obtain customary insurance for the benefit of its directors and that the Company will enter into 
indemnification agreements with each director and officer. 

INDEBTEDNESS OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS 

The Company 

As of the date of this Prospectus, no director or executive officer of the Company or any associate thereof, is 
indebted to the Company or any of its subsidiaries, or has been at any time during the preceding financial year.   

AUDIT COMMITTEE 

The Audit Committee’s Mandate 

The mandate of the Audit Committee is to ensure the Company effectively maintains the necessary 
management systems and controls to allow for timely and accurate reporting of financial information to safeguard 
shareholder value, to meet all relevant regulatory requirements and to provide recommendations to the Board of 
Directors in the areas of management systems and controls.  The charter of the Audit Committee is attached to this 
Prospectus as Schedule “A”. 

Composition of the Audit Committee 

The Audit Committee of the Company consists of three. Of the members, three will be independent members 
of the Audit Committee. In accordance with section 6.1.1(3) NI 52-110 relating to the composition of the audit 
committee for venture issuers, a majority of the members of the Audit Committee will not be executive officers, 
employees or control persons of the Company. The Audit Committee is currently comprised of Denis Silva, Anthony 
Zelen and Raymond O’Neill (Chair). 

All members of the Audit Committee are considered to be financially literate as required by section 1.6 of 
NI 52-110.  For a summary of the experience and education of the Audit Committee members see “Directors and 
Officers – Biographies”. 

Reliance on Certain Exemptions 

The Company is relying on the exemptions provided for “venture issuers” in section 6.1 of NI 52-110 with 
respect to Part 3 – Composition of the Audit Committee and Part 5 – Reporting Obligations. 

External Auditor Service Fees 

The Audit Committee has reviewed the nature and amount of the non-audit services provided by Harbourside 
CPA to ensure auditor independence.  The following table sets out the aggregate fees billed to date by Harbourside 
CPA for the audit fees and the tax fees for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, for each category of fees 
described:  

Time Period Audit Fees(1) Audit Related Fees(2) Tax Fees(3) All Other Fees(4) 

Years ended December 31, 
2021 and 2020  

 

$29,400 - - - 
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Notes: 

(1) “Audit Fees” includes fees necessary to perform the annual audit of the Company’s financial statements.   

(2) “Audit-Related Fees” include services that are traditionally performed by the auditor.  These audit-related services include 
reviewing interim financial statements and disclosure documents related to financings and other attest services required by 
legislation or regulation, such as comfort letters, consents, reviews of securities filings and statutory audits.  

(3) “Tax Fees” include fees for all tax services other than those included in “Audit Fees” and “Audit-Related Fees”.  This category 
includes fees for tax compliance, tax planning and tax advice.  Tax planning and tax advice includes assistance with tax audits 
and appeals, tax advice related to mergers and acquisitions, and requests for rulings or technical advice from tax authorities. 

(4) “All Other Fees” include all other non-audit services, the aggregate fees billed for products and services, other than the services 
reported under clauses (1), (2) and (3) above.  

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

Corporate governance refers to the policies and structure of the board of directors of a corporation, whose 
members are elected by and are accountable to the shareholders of the company.  Corporate governance encourages 
establishing a reasonable degree of independence of the board of directors from executive management and the 
adoption of policies to ensure the board of directors recognizes the principles of good management.  The board of 
directors is committed to sound corporate governance practices, as such practices are both in the interests of 
shareholders and help to contribute to effective and efficient decision-making.  

Board of Directors 

Directors are considered to be independent if they have no direct or indirect material relationship with the 
Company.  A “material relationship” is a relationship which could, in the opinion of the board of directors, be 
reasonably expected to interfere with the exercise of a director’s independent judgment.  

The board of directors facilitates its exercise of independent judgement in carrying out its responsibilities by 
carefully examining issues and consulting with outside counsel and other advisors in appropriate circumstances.  The 
Board of Directors requires management to provide complete and accurate information with respect to the Company’s 
activities and to provide relevant information concerning the industry in which the Company operates in order to 
identify and manage risks.  The Board of Directors is responsible for monitoring the Company’s senior officers, who 
in turn are responsible for the maintenance of internal controls and management information systems.  

The Board of Directors of the Company consists of 4. The independent directors are Anthony Zelen and 
Denis Silva. Erich Perroulaz and Raymond O’Neill are non-independent directors.  

Directorships 

The following directors of the Company are currently directors of other reporting issuers (or equivalent in a 
foreign jurisdiction): 

Name Name of Reporting Issuer 

Anthony Zelen Jessy Ventures Corp. (TSXV: 
SARG.P) 

 Paloma Resources (TSXV: PLO.H) 

 QMC Minerals (TSXV: QMC) 

 Pure Extraction Corp. (TSXV: PURX) 

 Hollister Biosciences Inc. (CSE: 
DEFN) 
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Name Name of Reporting Issuer 

 New Wave Holdings Corp. (CSE: 
SPOR) 

Denis Silva Nova Royalty (TSXV: NOVR) 

 Draganfly (CSE: DPRO, NASDAQ: 
DPRO) 

Orientation and Continuing Education 

When new directors are appointed to the Board of Directors, they receive an orientation, commensurate with 
their previous experience on the Company’s business and on the responsibilities of directors. 

Meetings of the Board of Directors may also include presentations by the Company’s management to give 
the directors additional insight into the Company’s business. 

Ethical Business Conduct 

The Board of Directors has found that the fiduciary duties placed on individual directors by the Company’s 
governing corporate legislation and the common law, and the restrictions placed by applicable corporate legislation 
on an individual directors’ participation in decisions of the Board of Directors in which the director has an interest, 
have been sufficient to ensure that the Board of Directors operates independently of management and in the best 
interests of the Company.  Further, the Company’s auditor has full and unrestricted access to the Audit Committee at 
all times to discuss the audit of the Company’s financial statements and any related findings as to the integrity of the 
financial reporting process.  

Nomination of Directors 

The Board of Directors will consider its size each year when it considers the number of directors to 
recommend to the shareholders for election at the annual meeting of shareholders, taking into account the number 
required to carry out the Board of Directors’ duties effectively and to maintain a diversity of views and experience. 

The Board of Directors does not have a nominating committee, and these functions are currently performed 
by the Board of Directors as a whole.  However, if there is a change in the number of directors required by the 
Company, this policy will be reviewed. 

Compensation 

The Board of Directors is responsible for determining compensation for the officers, employees and non-
executive directors of the Company. The Board of Directors annually reviews all forms of compensation paid to 
officers, employees and non-executive directors, both with regards to the expertise and experience of each individual 
and in relation to industry peers.  See “Executive Compensation”.   

Other Committees of the Board of Directors 

The Board of Directors has no committees other than the Audit Committee.  

Assessments 

The Board of Directors monitors the adequacy of information given to directors, communication between the 
Board of Directors and management, and the strategic direction and processes of the Board of Directors and Audit 
Committee.  
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RISK FACTORS 

Risks Relating to COVID-19 
 
Worldwide COVID-19 outbreak. 
 
At the beginning of the year 2020 the outbreak of the novel strain of coronavirus, specifically identified as COVID-
19, resulted in governments worldwide enacting emergency measures to combat the spread of the virus. These 
measures, which include the implementation of travel bans, self-imposed quarantine periods and physical distancing, 
have caused material disruption to businesses globally resulting in an economic slowdown. Global equity markets 
have experienced significant volatility and weakness. Governments and central banks have reacted with significant 
monetary and fiscal interventions designed to stabilize economic conditions. The duration and impact of the COVID-
19 outbreak is unknown at this time, as is the efficacy of the government and central bank interventions. Due to the 
worldwide COVID-19 outbreak, material uncertainties may come into existence that could materially and adversely 
affect the business of the Company. The Company cannot accurately predict the future impact COVID-19 may have 
on, among others, the: (i) value of cryptocurrencies, (ii) price of energy and bandwidth, (iii) severity and the length of 
potential measures taken by governments to manage the spread of the virus and their effect on labour availability and 
supply lines, (iv) availability of essential supplies, (v) purchasing power of the Canadian dollar, or (vi) ability of the 
Company to obtain necessary financing. Despite global vaccination efforts, it is not possible to reliably estimate the 
length and severity of these developments and the impact on the financial results and condition of the Company in the 
future.  
 
As of the date of this Prospectus, the Company has not had any confirmed cases of COVID-19 among any of its 
employees or contractors. The Company is adopting the advice of public health authorities and adhering to government 
regulations with respect to COVID-19 in the jurisdictions in which it operates. The following measures have been 
instituted across the Company to prevent the potential spread of the virus: (i) indefinite closure of its corporate offices 
in Vancouver; (ii) employees are working remotely; (iii) social distancing practices have been implemented for any 
and all in-person meetings, with meeting participation via teleconferencing strongly encouraged; (iv) elimination of 
all non-essential business travel; (v) required 14- day quarantine for any employees returning from out of country 
travel.  
 
While the Company's operations have not been materially impacted by COVID-19, the Company expects COVID-19 
may affect the availability of capital and human resources. 
 
The COVID-19 outbreak or similar global health crises could affect the Company’s ability to access sources of 
capital. 
 
The COVID-19 outbreak or similar global health crises could affect the Company's ability to access sources of capital. 
The extent to which COVID-19 could impact the Company's operations, financial condition, liquidity, results of 
operations, and cash flows is highly uncertain and cannot be predicted. Negative financial results, uncertainties in the 
market, and a tightening of credit markets, caused by COVID-19, or a recession, could have a material adverse effect 
on the Company's liquidity and ability to obtain financing in the future. 
 
COVID-19 or similar pandemics could adversely impact the Company’s business and/or its ability to complete 
reporting obligations 
 
If a pandemic, epidemic, or outbreak of an infectious disease including the recent outbreak off respiratory illness 
caused by a novel coronavirus such as COVID-19 or other public health crisis were to affect the Company's facilities, 
staff, accountants or advisors, our business could be adversely and materially affected. Such a pandemic could result 
in mandatory social distancing, travel bans, and quarantine restrictions, and this may limit access to the Company's 
employees and professional advisors. These factors may hamper the Company's efforts to comply with it filing 
obligations with the CSE or as required under Canadian securities laws. 
 
General Cryptocurrency Risks 
 
Cybersecurity Risks 
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Cybersecurity incidents and cyber-attacks have been occurring globally with more frequency and a greater level of 
severity and will likely continue to increase in frequency in the future. Advances in computer capabilities, new 
discoveries in the field of cryptography or other events or developments, including improper acts by third parties, may 
result in a compromise or breach of the security measures that Spirit uses to protect its systems. Failures of Spirit’s 
cybersecurity system could harm its reputation, subject it to legal claims and otherwise materially and adversely affect 
its business, financial condition and results of operations. 
 
The blockchain industry is a particular target for cybersecurity incidents, which may occur through intentional or 
unintentional acts by individuals or groups, including state-sponsored actors, having authorized or unauthorized access 
to Spirit’s systems or Spirit’s clients’ or counterparties’ information, all of which may include confidential 
information. These individuals or groups include employees, third-party service providers, customers and hackers. 
The information and technology systems used by Spirit and its are vulnerable to unauthorized access, damage or 
interruption from, among other things: hacking, ransomware, malware and other computer viruses; denial of service 
attacks; network failures; computer and telecommunication failures; phishing attacks; infiltration by unauthorized 
persons; fraud; security breaches; usage errors by their respective professionals; power outages; terrorism; and 
catastrophic events such as fires, tornadoes, floods, hurricanes and earthquakes.  
 
While Spirit will deploy a range of defenses, it is possible Spirit could suffer an impact or disruption that could 
materially and adversely affect it. The security of the information and technology systems used by Spirit and its service 
providers may continue to be subjected to cybersecurity threats that could result in material failures or disruptions in 
Spirit’s business. If these systems are compromised, become inoperable for extended periods of time or cease to 
function properly, Spirit may have to make a significant investment to fix or replace them.  
 
Spirit relies on a variety of technologies to provide security to its systems. Spirit’s infrastructure is potentially 
vulnerable to computer break-ins and similar disruptive problems. Spirit could also suffer from an internal security 
breach. Computer viruses, break-ins or other security problems could lead to misappropriation of proprietary 
information and interruptions. If a third party or employee were to misappropriate, misplace or lose corporate 
information, including financial and account information, customers’ personal information, Spirit’s business may be 
harmed. Spirit may be required to expend significant capital and other resources to protect against these security 
breaches or losses or to alleviate problems caused by these breaches or losses. If third parties gain improper access to 
Spirit’s systems or databases or those of Spirit’s partners or contractors, they may be able to steal, publish, delete or 
modify confidential customer information. A security breach could expose Spirit to monetary liability, lead to inquiries 
and fines or penalties from regulatory or governmental authorities, lead to reputational harm and make users less 
confident in Spirit’s services, which could harm Spirit’s business, financial condition and results of operations. 
 
Cryptocurrency inventory may be exposed to cybersecurity threats and hacks 
 
In the recent past, flaws in cryptocurrency codes have been exposed by certain malicious actors. Several errors and 
defects have been found and corrected, including those that disabled some functionality for users and exposed users' 
information. Discovery of flaws in or exploitations of the source code that allow malicious actors to take or create 
money have been relatively rare across all cryptocurrencies. 
 
Regulatory changes or actions may alter the nature of an investment or restrict the use of cryptocurrencies in a 
manner that adversely affects operations 
 
As cryptocurrencies have grown in both popularity and market size, governments around the world have reacted 
differently to cryptocurrencies with certain governments deeming them illegal while others have allowed their use and 
trade. On-going and future regulatory actions may alter, perhaps to a materially  adverse extent, the ability of the 
Company to continue to operate. 
 
The effect of any future regulatory change on the Company or any cryptocurrency that the Company may mine is 
impossible to predict, but such change could be substantial and adverse to the Company. 
 
Governments may in the future curtail or outlaw, the acquisition, use or redemption of cryptocurrencies. Ownership 
of, holding or trading in cryptocurrencies may then be considered illegal and subject to sanction. Governments may 
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also take regulatory action that may increase the cost and/or subject cryptocurrency companies to additional regulation. 
For example, on July 25, 2017 the United States Securities and Exchange Commission released an investigative report 
which indicates that the United States Securities and Exchange Commission would, in some circumstances, consider 
the offer and sale of blockchain tokens pursuant to an initial coin offering subject to U.S. securities laws. 
 
Governments may in the future take regulatory actions that prohibit or severely restrict the right to acquire, own, hold, 
sell, use or trade cryptocurrencies or to exchange cryptocurrencies for fiat currency. By extension, similar actions by 
other governments, may result in the restriction of the acquisition, ownership, holding, selling, use or trading in the 
Company's shares. Such a restriction could result in the Company liquidating assets at unfavorable prices and may 
adversely affect the Company's shareholders. 
 
Cryptocurrency assets are highly volatile and speculative in nature. 
 
Masternodes, ASIC miners and validators are paid by the blockchain network in exchange for the capital and operating 
costs associated with their construction and operation. Given the highly volatile nature of cryptocurrencies with respect 
to pricing, hashing power, and block reward, the Company cannot guarantee that the net asset value of a blockchain 
asset, or the block reward associated with any particular token will remain at current levels or rise in the future. 
 
Cryptocurrency market technology is a development stage technology and cryptocurrency assets are a class of assets 
that not widely held, difficult to purchase and store securely and not fully regulated. As result of these variables, the 
pricing of cryptocurrency assets is highly volatile which will affect the value of staked digital assets, economics of 
mining operations and block reward payouts over time. 
 
Momentum pricing typically is associated with growth stocks and other assets whose valuation, as determined by the 
investing public, accounts for anticipated future appreciation in value. Cryptocurrency market prices are determined 
primarily using data from various crypto asset trading platforms, over the counter markets, and derivative platforms. 
Momentum pricing may have resulted, and may continue to result, in speculation regarding future appreciation in the 
value of cryptocurrencies, inflating and making their market prices more volatile. As a result, they may be more likely 
to fluctuate in value due to changing investor confidence in future appreciation (or depreciation) in their market prices, 
which could adversely affect the value of the Company's assets and thereby affect the Company's shareholders. 
 
Cryptocurrency asset trading platforms and other trading venues are relatively new and, in most cases, largely 
unregulated and may therefore be more exposed to fraud and failure. 
 
To the extent that cryptocurrency asset trading platforms or other trading venues are involved in fraud or experience 
security failures or other operational issues, this could result in a reduction in cryptocurrency prices. 
 
Cryptocurrency market prices depend, directly or indirectly, on the prices set on crypto asset trading platforms and 
other trading venues, which are new and, in most cases, largely unregulated as compared to established, regulated 
exchanges for securities, derivatives and other currencies. For example, during the past three years, a number of BTC 
crypto asset trading platforms have been closed due to fraud, business failure or security breaches. In many of these 
instances, the customers of the closed BTC crypto asset trading platforms were not compensated or made whole for 
the partial or complete losses of their account balances in such BTC crypto asset trading platforms. While smaller 
crypto asset trading platforms are less likely to have the infrastructure and capitalization that provide larger crypto 
asset trading platforms with additional stability, larger crypto asset trading platforms may be more likely to be 
appealing targets for hackers and "malware" (i.e., software used or programmed by attackers to disrupt computer 
operation, gather sensitive information or gain access to private computer systems) and may be more likely to be 
targets of regulatory enforcement action. 
 
Banks may not provide banking services, or may cut off banking services, to businesses that provide 
cryptocurrency-related services or that accept cryptocurrencies as payment. 
 
A number of companies that provide BTC and/or other cryptocurrency-related services have been unable to find banks 
that are willing to provide them with bank accounts and banking services. Similarly, a number of such companies 
have had their existing bank accounts closed by their banks. Banks may refuse to provide bank accounts and other 
banking services to BTC and/or other cryptocurrency-related companies or companies that accept cryptocurrencies 
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for a number of reasons, such as perceived compliance risks or costs. The difficulty that many businesses that provide 
BTC and/or other cryptocurrency-related services have and may continue to have in finding banks willing to provide 
them with bank accounts and other banking services may be currently decreasing the usefulness of cryptocurrencies 
as a payment system and harming public perception of cryptocurrencies or could decrease its usefulness and harm its 
public perception in the future. Similarly, the usefulness of cryptocurrencies as a payment system and the public 
perception of cryptocurrencies could be damaged if banks were to close the accounts of many or of a few key 
businesses providing BTC and/or other cryptocurrency-related services. This could decrease the market prices of 
cryptocurrencies and adversely affect the value of the Company's assets. 
 
The impact of geopolitical events on the supply and demand for cryptocurrencies is uncertain. 
 
Crises may motivate large scale purchases of cryptocurrencies which could increase the price of cryptocurrencies 
rapidly. This may increase the likelihood of a subsequent price decrease as crisis driven purchasing behavior wanes, 
adversely affecting the value of the Company's assets. 
 
The possibility of large scale purchases of cryptocurrencies in times of crisis may have a short term positive impact 
on the prices of. For example, in March 2013, a report of uncertainty in the economy of the Republic of Cyprus and 
the imposition of capital controls by Cypriot banks motivated individuals in Cyprus and other countries with similar 
economic situations to purchase BTCs. This resulted in a significant short term positive impact on the price of BTCs. 
However, as the purchasing activity of individuals in this situation waned, speculative investors engaged in significant 
sales of BTCs, which significantly decreased the price of BTCs. Crises of this nature in the future may erode investors' 
confidence in the stability of cryptocurrencies and may impair their price performance which would, in turn, adversely 
affect the Company's investments. 
 
As an alternative to fiat currencies that are backed by central governments, cryptocurrencies such as Bitcoin and 
Ethereum, which are relatively new, are subject to supply and demand forces based upon the desirability of an 
alternative, decentralised means of buying and selling goods and services, and it is unclear how such supply and 
demand will be impacted by geopolitical events. Nevertheless, political or economic crises may motivate large scale 
acquisitions or sales of BTCs either globally or locally. Large scale sales of cryptocurrencies would result in a 
reduction in their market prices and adversely affect the Company's operations and profitability. 
 
The further development and acceptance of the cryptographic and algorithmic protocols governing the issuance of 
and transactions in cryptocurrencies is subject to a variety of factors that are difficult to evaluate. 
 
The use of cryptocurrencies to, among other things, buy and sell goods and services and complete other transactions, 
is part of a new and rapidly evolving industry that employs digital assets based upon a computer generated 
mathematical and/or cryptographic protocol. The growth of this industry in general, and the use of cryptocurrencies 
in particular, is subject to a high degree of uncertainty, and the slowing or stopping of the development or acceptance 
of developing protocols may adversely affect the Company's operations. The factors affecting the further development 
of the industry, include, but are not limited to: 
 

 continued worldwide growth in the adoption and use of cryptocurrencies;  

 governmental and quasi governmental regulation of cryptocurrencies and their use, or restrictions on or 
regulation of access to and operation of the network or similar cryptocurrency systems; 

 changes in consumer demographics and public tastes and preferences; 

 the maintenance and development of the open source software protocol of the network; 

 the availability and popularity of other forms or methods of buying and selling goods and services, including 
new means of using fiat currencies; 

 general economic conditions and the regulatory environment relating to digital assets; and 

 negative consumer sentiment and perception of BTCs specifically and cryptocurrencies generally. 

Acceptance and/or widespread use of cryptocurrency is uncertain. 
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Currently, there is relatively small use of BTCs and/or other cryptocurrencies in the retail and commercial marketplace 
in comparison to relatively large use by speculators, thus contributing to price volatility that could adversely affect 
the Company's operations, investment strategies, and profitability. 
 
As relatively new products and technologies, BTC, the Bitcoin Network, and its other cryptocurrency counterparts 
have not been widely adopted as a means of payment for goods and services by major retail and commercial outlets. 
Conversely, a significant portion of cryptocurrency demand is generated by speculators and investors seeking to profit 
from the short term or long term holding of cryptocurrencies. The relative lack of acceptance of cryptocurrencies in 
the retail and commercial marketplace limits the ability of end users to use them to pay for goods and services. A lack 
of expansion by cryptocurrencies into retail and commercial markets, or a contraction of such use, may result in 
increased volatility or a reduction in their market prices, either of which could adversely impact the Company's 
operations, investment strategies, and profitability. 
 
Increased costs. 
 
Management anticipates the costs of mining equipment could increase over time if demand for cryptocurrency 
increases. This will result in increased capital costs to purchase sufficient blockchain assets or mining equipment. 
 
Company-Specific Cryptocurrency Risks 

The Company’s operations, investment strategies, and profitability may be adversely affected by competition from 
other methods of investing in cryptocurrencies. 

The Company competes with other users and/or companies that own and run proof-of-stake operations, and to a more 
limited extent, those companies which mine cryptocurrencies and other potential financial vehicles, possibly including 
securities backed by or linked to cryptocurrencies through entities similar to the Company. Market and financial 
conditions, and other conditions beyond the Company's control, may make it more attractive to invest in other financial 
vehicles, or to invest in cryptocurrencies directly which could limit the market for the Company's shares and reduce 
their liquidity. 

The Company’s cryptocurrency holdings may be subject to loss, theft or restriction on access. 

There is a risk that some or all of the Company's cryptocurrency holdings could be lost or stolen and these events may 
adversely affect the operations of the Company and, consequently, its investments and profitability. 

Cryptocurrencies are controllable only by the possessor of both the unique public and private keys relating to the local 
or online digital wallet in which they are held, which wallet's public key or address is reflected in the network's public 
Blockchain.  

Uninsured or uninsurable risks. 

The Company's blockchain assets are uninsured and are susceptible to total loss in the event of a theft, security breach, 
employee error or IT malfunction. The Company takes every available precaution to reduce the risk of blockchain 
asset losses due to theft, security breach, employee error or IT malfunction. See safeguarding of crypto assets for 
further discussion of security protocols. 

Even if Spirit obtains insurance for certain potential liabilities in the future, such insurance will not cover all types and 
amounts of potential liabilities and is subject to various exclusions as well as caps on amounts refundable. Even if 
Spirit believes a claim is covered by insurance, insurers may dispute Spirit’s entitlement for a variety of different 
reasons, which may affect the timing and, if the insurers prevail, the amount of Spirit’s recovery. Any claims or 
litigation, even if fully indemnified or insured, could damage Spirit’s reputation and make it more difficult to compete 
effectively or to obtain adequate insurance in the future. 

Incorrect or fraudulent transactions may be irreversible. 

Cryptocurrency transactions are irrevocable and stolen or incorrectly transferred coins may be irretrievable. As a 
result, any incorrectly executed or fraudulent coin transactions could adversely affect the Company's investments. 
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Coin transactions are not, from an administrative perspective, reversible without the consent and active participation 
of the recipient of the transaction. In theory, cryptocurrency transactions may be reversible with the control or consent 
of a majority of processing power on the network. Once a transaction has been verified and recorded in a block that is 
added to the Blockchain, an incorrect transfer of a coin or a theft of coin generally will not be reversible and the 
Company may not be capable of seeking compensation for any such transfer or theft. Although the Company's 
transfers of coins will regularly be made by experienced members of the management team, it is possible that, through 
computer or human error, or through theft or criminal action, the Company's coins could be transferred in incorrect 
amounts or to unauthorized third parties, or to uncontrolled accounts. 

If the rewards of cryptocurrencies for solving blocks and transaction fees are not sufficiently high, mining 
operations, validators and Masternodes may not have an adequate incentive to continue mining and may cease 
their mining operations. 

As the value of tokens awarded for solving a block in a network decreases, the incentive to continue to contribute 
processing power to the network will decrease. This may result in a requirement from miners of higher transaction 
fees in exchange for recording transactions in the Blockchain, and may decrease demand for that particular token and 
prevent the continued expansion of the network, resulting in a reduction in the price of the relevant cryptocurrency 
that could adversely impact the Company's cryptocurrency inventory, mining revenues and associated blockchain 
investments. 

Bitcoin halving risk. 

Bitcoin halving is an event where the block reward for mining new Bitcoin is halved, meaning that bitcoin miners will 
receive 50% less Bitcoin for every transaction they verify. In 2009, when Bitcoin was first launched the reward for 
mining a new block was 50 Bitcoins. As of the most recent halving in May 2020, the reward is only 6.25 Bitcoin per 
block as of the date of this Prospectus. See "Ongoing Business of the Company – Introduction to Blockchain and 
Cryptocurrency – Bitcoin Halving Event". 

It is anticipated that each subsequent halving event will cause many less efficient miners to shut off their miners in 
the medium to long term unless the price of Bitcoin rises significantly. This will result in a decrease in the Bitcoin 
network's overall Hashrate and the corresponding difficulty number. Without a corresponding increase in the price of 
Bitcoin, the Company's revenue will be negatively impacted. If the price of Bitcoin and the network Hashrate and 
difficulty numbers remain flat, the Company's corresponding revenue would be reduced by 50%. The future price of 
Bitcoin and the difficulty number are challenging to forecast. The Company believes that although the halving event 
would reduce the block reward by 50%, other market factors such as the network difficulty rate and price of Bitcoin 
would change to offset the impact of the halving sufficiently for the Company to maintain profitability. Nevertheless, 
there is a risk that a halving event will render the Company unprofitable and have a material adverse impact on the 
Company’s business, financial conditions and operations. 

The price of coins may be affected by the sale of coins by other vehicles investing in coins or tracking 
cryptocurrency markets. 

To the extent that other vehicles investing in coins or tracking cryptocurrency markets form and come to represent a 
significant proportion of the demand for coins, large redemptions of the securities of those vehicles and the subsequent 
sale of coins by such vehicles could negatively affect cryptocurrency prices and therefore affect the value of the 
inventory held by the Company. 

Other Company Risks 

Financing risks. 

The Company has limited financial resources, has no source of operating cashflow and has no assurance that additional 
funding will be available for it to invest and purchase blockchain infrastructure assets. Failure to raise additional 
financing could result in a delay or indefinite postponement of further technological investment in the blockchain 
ecosystem. 

Insufficient financial resources. 
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The Company may not have sufficient financial resources or crypto revenues to pay operating expenses. 

Negative operating cash flow. 

The Company has incurred substantial losses since its inception and continues to incur losses and experience negative 
cash flows. The Company cannot predict if or when it will operate profitably or generate positive cash flows or if it 
will be able to implement its business strategy successfully. Pursuing the Company’s strategy requires it to incur 
significant expenditures for research and product development, marketing, and general administrative activities. As a 
result, the Company needs to continue to grow its revenues and gross margins to achieve and sustain profitability and 
positive operating cash flows, and it may need to raise additional capital. 

A shareholder’s holding in the Company may be diluted if the Company issues additional Common Shares or other 
securities in the future. 

The Company may issue additional Common Shares or other securities in the future, which may dilute a shareholder's 
holding in the Company. The Company's articles permit the issuance of an unlimited number of Common Shares, and 
shareholders have no pre-emptive rights in connection with further issuances of any securities. The directors of the 
Company have the discretion to determine if an issuance of Common Shares or other securities is warranted, the price 
at which any such securities are issued and the other terms of issue of Common Shares or securities. In addition, the 
Company's may issue additional Common Shares upon the exercise of incentive stock options to acquire Common 
Shares under its share compensation plan, which will result in further dilution to shareholders. In addition, the issuance 
of Common Shares or other securities in any potential future acquisitions, if any, may also result in further dilution to 
shareholder interests. 

The Company’s adoption of new business models could fail to produce any financial returns. 

Forecasting the Company’s revenues and profitability for new business models is inherently uncertain and volatile. 
The Company's actual revenues and profits for its business models may be significantly less than the Company's 
forecasts. Additionally, the new business models could fail for one or more of the Company's products and/or services, 
resulting in the loss of Company's investment in the development and infrastructure needed to support the new 
business models, and the opportunity cost of diverting management and financial resources away from more successful 
businesses. 

The Company will be affected by operational risks and may not be adequately insured for certain risks. 

The Company will be affected by a number of operational risks and the Company may not be adequately insured for 
certain risks, including: labour disputes; catastrophic accidents; fires; blockades or other acts of social activism; 
changes in the regulatory environment; impact of non-compliance with laws and regulations; natural phenomena, such 
as inclement weather conditions, floods, earthquakes and ground movements. There is no assurance that the foregoing 
risks and hazards will not result in damage to, or destruction of, the Company's technologies, personal injury or death, 
environmental damage, adverse impacts on the Company's operation, costs, monetary losses, potential legal liability 
and adverse governmental action, any of which could have an adverse impact on the Company's future cash flows, 
earnings and financial condition. Also, the Company may be subject to or affected by liability or sustain loss for 
certain risks and hazards against which the Company cannot insure or which the Company may elect not to insure 
because of the cost. This lack of insurance coverage could have an adverse impact on the Company's future cash flows, 
earnings, results of operations and financial condition. 

There are risks associated with the regulatory regime. 
 
The laws and regulations governing the operation of the Company’s business are rapidly evolving and not assured to 
develop in a way that is favorable to the Company. As Blockchain technology and digital assets have grown in 
popularity and in market size, governments, regulators and self-regulators (including law enforcement and national 
security agencies) around the world are examining the operations of Blockchain technology and digital asset issuers, 
users, investors and platforms. To the extent that any government or quasi-governmental agency exerts regulatory 
authority over the Company and the digital asset industry in general, how the Company operates its business may be 
adversely affected, which could materially adversely affect the Company’s financial condition and results of 
operations. 
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Further, if there are any changes in regulatory conditions or attitudes towards Blockchain technology and digital assets, 
regulatory bodies may delay, or refuse to issue licenses, permits and qualifications to the Company that it would 
otherwise have received. These delays or refusals to issue licenses or permits could materially affect the Company’s 
ability to expand its business and become profitable. 

The Company may be subject to the risks associated with future acquisitions. 

As part of the Company’s overall business strategy, the Company may pursue select strategic acquisitions that would 
provide additional product or service offerings, additional industry expertise, and a stronger industry presence in both 
existing and new jurisdictions. Any such future acquisitions, if completed, may expose the Company to additional 
potential risks, including risks associated with: (a) the integration of new operations, services and personnel; (b) 
unforeseen or hidden liabilities; (c) the diversion of resources from the Company's existing business and technology; 
(d) potential inability to generate sufficient revenue to offset new costs; (e) the expenses of acquisitions; or (f) the 
potential loss of or harm to relationships with both employees and existing users resulting from its integration of new 
businesses. In addition, any proposed acquisitions may be subject to regulatory approval. 

The Company’s inability to retain management and key employees could impair the future success of the Company. 

The Company's future success depends substantially on the continued services of its executive officers and its key 
development personnel. If one or more of its executive officers or key development personnel were unable or unwilling 
to continue in their present positions, the Company might not be able to replace them easily or at all. In addition, if 
any of its executive officers or key employees joins a competitor or forms a competing company, the Company may 
lose experience, know-how, key professionals and staff members as well as business partners. These executive officers 
and key employees could develop drone technologies that could compete with and take customers and market share 
away from the Company. 

Ability to manage growth 

Spirit may experience rapid growth in the scope of its operations. Growth may result in increased responsibilities for 
Spirit’s existing personnel, the hiring of additional personnel and, in general, higher levels of operating expenses. In 
order to manage its current operations and any future growth effectively, Spirit will need to continue to implement 
and improve its operational, financial and management information systems, as well as hire, manage and retain its 
employees and maintain its corporate culture including technical and customer service standards. There can be no 
assurance that Spirit will be able to manage such growth effectively or that its  management, personnel or systems 
will be adequate to support Spirit’s expansion. Any failure to implement cohesive and efficient operating, financial, 
and management information systems, to add resources on a cost-effective basis or to otherwise properly manage 
Spirit’s expansion could have a material adverse effect on its business and results of operations. 

Risks associated with market expansion and growth 

Any future expansion into new markets could place Spirit in unfamiliar competitive environments and involve various 
risks, including incurring losses or failing to comply with applicable laws and regulations. Such expansion would also 
require significant resources and management time, and there is no guarantee that, after expending such resources and 
time, Spirit would receive the necessary approvals to operate in such new markets. If Spirit were granted authority to 
operate in such new markets, it is possible that returns on such investments would not be achieved for several years, 
if at all. There is no guarantee that Spirit’s business model will be successful in a new market, that Spirit could maintain 
acceptable profit margins in any such new market, or that international expansion would help grow Spirit’s business. 
If Spirit is unable to successfully expand operations into new markets, future growth rates may be harmed. 

As Spirit grows its business, its employee headcount and the scope and complexity of its business may increase 
dramatically. Spirit only has a limited operating history at its current scale and its management team does not have 
substantial tenure working together. Consequently, if Spirit’s business grows at a rapid pace, it may experience 
difficulties maintaining this growth and building the appropriate processes and controls. Growth may increase the 
strain on resources, cause operating difficulties, including difficulties in sourcing, logistics, maintaining internal 
controls, marketing, designing products and services and meeting customer needs. 
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In addition, Spirit may seek to run additional business lines and, while these business lines are anticipated to be 
complimentary, there can be no assurance that Spirit will be able to effectively deliver internal or external resources 
effectively to each business line as and when needed, particularly when multiple business lines are experiencing high 
levels of need at the same time. 

Force majeure risks 

Spirit may be affected by events beyond its control, including acts of nature, fires, floods, earthquakes, outbreaks of 
an infectious disease, pandemic or any other serious public health concern, war, terrorism, civil unrest, change in 
overall legal framework and labor strikes. Some such events may adversely affect the ability of Spirit or a counterparty 
to Spirit to perform its obligations. In addition, the cost to Spirit of repairing or replacing its damaged reputation or 
assets as a result of such an event could be considerable. Certain events such as war or an outbreak of an infectious 
disease could have a broader negative impact on the world economy and international business activity generally, or 
in any location in which Spirit may invest or conduct its business specifically. 

The Company faces uncertainty and adverse changes in the economy. 

Adverse changes in the economy could negatively impact the Company's business. Future economic distress may 
result in a decrease in value of the Company's assets and investments, which could have a material adverse impact on 
the Company's operating results and financial condition. Uncertainty and adverse changes in the economy could also 
increase costs associated with acquiring or operating technology, increase the cost and decrease the availability of 
sources of financing, and increase the Company's exposure to material losses from bad debts, any of which could have 
a material adverse impact on the financial condition and operating results of the Company. 

The Company may be subject to electronic communication security risks. 

A significant potential vulnerability of electronic communications is the security of transmission of confidential 
information over public networks. Anyone who is able to circumvent the Company's security measures could 
misappropriate proprietary information or cause interruptions in its operations. The Company may be required to 
expend capital and other resources to protect against such security breaches or to alleviate problems caused by such 
breaches. 

The Company’s business could be adversely affected if its consumer protection and data privacy practices are not 
perceived as adequate or there are breaches of its security measures or unintended disclosures of its consumer 
data. 

The rate of privacy law-making is accelerating globally and interpretation and application of consumer protection and 
data privacy laws in Canada, the United States, Europe and elsewhere are often uncertain, contradictory and in flux. 
As business practices are being challenged by regulators, private litigants, and consumer protection agencies around 
the world, it is possible that these laws may be interpreted and applied in a manner that is inconsistent with the 
Company's data and/or consumer protection practices. If so, this could result in increased litigation government or 
court imposed fines, judgments or orders requiring that the Company change its practices, which could have an adverse 
effect on its business and reputation. Complying with these various laws could cause the Company to incur substantial 
costs or require it to change its business practices in a manner adverse to its business. 

The Company may rely on its business partners, and they may be given access to systems in order to provide services 
and support to the Company’s teams. 

The Company relies on various business partners, including third-party service providers, vendors, licensing partners, 
development partners, and licensees, among others, in some areas of the Company's business. In some cases, these 
third parties are given access to systems in order to provide services and support to the Company's teams. These third 
parties may misappropriate the Company's information and engage in unauthorized use of it. The failure of these third 
parties to provide adequate services and technologies, or the failure of the third parties to adequately maintain or 
update their services and technologies, could result in a disruption to the Company's business operations. Further, 
disruptions in the financial markets and economic downturns may adversely affect the Company's business partners 
and they may not be able to continue honoring their obligations to the Company. Alternative arrangements and services 
may not be available to the Company on commercially reasonable terms or the Company may experience business 
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interruptions upon a transition to an alternative partner or vendor. If the Company loses one or more significant 
business partners, the Company's business could be harmed. 

The Company may experience adverse effects on its reported results of operations as a result of adopting new 
accounting standards or interpretations. 

The Company's implementation of and compliance with changes in accounting rules, including new accounting rules 
and interpretations, could adversely affect its reported financial position or operating results or cause unanticipated 
fluctuations in our reported operating results in future periods. 

Failure to adhere to the Company’s financial reporting obligations and other public company requirements could 
adversely affect the market price of the Common Shares. 

The Company is subject to reporting and other obligations under applicable Canadian securities laws, including 
National Instrument 52-109 – Certification of Disclosure in Issuers' Annual and Interim Filings, and the rules of any 
stock exchange on which the Common Shares are listed. These reporting and other obligations will place significant 
demands on the Company's management, administrative, operational and accounting resources. If the Company is 
unable to meet such demands in a timely and effective manner, its ability to comply with its financial reporting 
obligations and other rules applicable to reporting issuers could be impaired. Moreover, any failure to maintain 
effective internal controls could cause the Company to fail to satisfy its reporting obligations or result in material 
misstatements in its financial statements. If the Company cannot provide reliable financial reports or prevent fraud, 
its reputation and operating results could be materially adversely affected which could also cause investors to lose 
confidence in its reported financial information, which could result in a reduction in the trading price of the Common 
Shares. 

In addition, the Company does not expect that its disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls over 
financial reporting will prevent all errors or fraud. A control system, no matter how well designed and implemented, 
can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the control system's objectives will be met. Further, the 
design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be 
considered relative to their costs. Due to the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can 
provide absolute assurance that all control issues within an organization are detected. The inherent limitations include 
the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because of simple errors 
or mistakes. Controls can also be circumvented by individual acts of certain persons, by collusion of two or more 
people or by management override of the controls. Due to the inherent limitations in a control system, misstatements 
due to errors or fraud may occur and may not be detected in a timely manner or at all. 

Changes in accounting standards and subjective assumptions, estimates and judgments by management related to 
complex accounting matters could significantly affect the Company’s reported financial results or financial 
condition. 

Generally accepted accounting principles and related accounting pronouncements, implementation guidelines and 
interpretations with regard to a wide range of matters that are relevant to the Company’s business, including but not 
limited to revenue recognition, impairment of goodwill and intangible assets, inventory, income taxes and litigation, 
are highly complex and involve many subjective assumptions, estimates and judgments. Changes in these rules or 
their interpretation or changes in underlying assumptions, estimates or judgments could significantly change the 
Company's reported financial performance or financial condition in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles. 

If the Company is required to write down goodwill and other intangible assets, the Company’s financial condition 
and results could be negatively affected. 

Goodwill impairment arises when there is deterioration in the capabilities of acquired assets to generate cash flows, 
and the fair value of the goodwill dips below its book value. The Company is required to review its goodwill for 
impairment at least annually. Events that may trigger goodwill impairment include deterioration in economic 
conditions, increased competition, loss of key personnel, and regulatory action. 
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From time to time, the Company may become involved in legal proceedings, which could adversely affect the 
Company. 

The Company may, from time to time in the future, become subject to legal proceedings, claims, litigation and 
government investigations or inquiries, which could be expensive, lengthy, and disruptive to normal business 
operations. In addition, the outcome of any legal proceedings, claims, litigation, investigations or inquiries may be 
difficult to predict and could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, operating results, or financial 
condition. 

The Company’s directors and officers may have conflicts of interest in conducting their duties. 

Because directors and officers of the Company are or may become directors or officers of other reporting companies 
or have significant shareholdings in other technology companies, the directors and officers of the Company may have 
conflicts of interest in conducting their duties. The Company and its directors and officers will attempt to minimize 
such conflicts. In the event that such a conflict of interest arises at a meeting of the directors of the Company, a director 
who has such a conflict will abstain from voting for or against a particular matter in which the director has the conflict. 
In appropriate cases, the Company will establish a special committee of independent directors to review a particular 
matter in which several directors, or officers, may have a conflict. In determining whether or not the Company will 
participate in a particular program and the interest therein to be acquired by it, the directors will primarily consider 
the potential benefits to the Company, the degree of risk to which the Company may be exposed and its financial 
position at that time. Other than as indicated, the Company has no other procedures or mechanisms to deal with 
conflicts of interest. 

Executive officers and directors may have rights to indemnification from the Company.  

Forward-looking statements and information may prove inaccurate. 

Shareholders and prospective investors are cautioned not to place undue reliance on the Company's forward-looking 
statements. By their nature, forward-looking statements involve numerous assumptions, known and unknown risk and 
uncertainties, of both a general and specific nature, that could cause actual results to differ materially from those 
suggested by the forward-looking statements or contribute to the possibility that predictions, forecasts or projections 
will prove to be materially inaccurate. Additional information on the risks, assumptions and uncertainties related to 
forward-looking statements and information are found under the heading. See “Note Regarding Forward-Looking 
Information”.  

The Company will be subject to additional regulatory burden resulting from its public listing on the CSE.  

The Company has not been subject to the continuous and timely disclosure requirements of Canadian securities laws 
or other rules, regulations and policies of the CSE or any other stock exchange. In anticipation of Listing, the Company 
is working with its legal, accounting and financial advisors to identify those areas in which changes should be made 
to its financial management control systems to manage its obligations as a public company. These areas include 
corporate governance, corporate controls, disclosure controls and procedures and financial reporting and accounting 
systems. The Company has made, and will continue to make, changes in these and other areas, including its internal 
controls over financial reporting. However, the Company cannot assure purchasers of Common Shares that these and 
other measures that it might take will be sufficient to allow it to satisfy its obligations as a public company on a timely 
basis. In addition, compliance with reporting and other requirements applicable to public companies will create 
additional costs for the Company and will require the time and attention of management. The Company cannot predict 
the amount of the additional costs that it might incur, the timing of such costs or the impact that management’s 
attention to these matters will have on its business. 

Risks Related to the Securities of the Company 

No established market. 

Although [the CSE has conditionally approved the listing of the Common Shares on the Exchange], there is 
currently no market through which the Company’s securities may be sold and purchasers may not be able to resell the 
Common Shares purchased under this Prospectus. An active public market for the Common Shares might not develop 
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or be sustained after this Special Warrant Private Placement.  Even if a market develops, there is no assurance that the 
price of the Common Shares offered under this Prospectus, which has been determined by negotiations between the 
Company and representatives of the Agent, will reflect the prevailing market price of the Common Shares following 
this Special Warrant Private Placement. If an active public market for the Common Shares does not develop, the 
liquidity of a shareholder’s investment may be limited, and the Common Share price may decline below the initial 
public offering price. 

The market for securities has experienced a high level of price and volume volatility and market prices are subject 
to wide fluctuations. 

In recent years, the securities markets in the United States and Canada have experienced a high level of price and 
volume volatility, and the market prices of securities of many companies have experienced wide fluctuations in price 
which have not necessarily been related to the operating performance, underlying asset values or prospects of such 
companies. There can be no assurance that continuing fluctuations in price will not occur. It may be anticipated that 
any quoted market for the Common Shares will be subject to market trends generally, notwithstanding any potential 
success of the Company in creating revenues, cash flows or earnings. The value of the Common Shares will be affected 
by such volatility. An active public market for the Common Shares may never develop or otherwise be sustained. If 
an active public market for the Common Shares does not develop or, if one develops but it is not sustained, the liquidity 
of a shareholder' investment in the Common Shares may be very limited and the share price may decline. 

The Company has not paid any dividends to date. 

To date, the Company has not paid any dividends on its outstanding shares. Any decision to pay dividends on the 
shares of the Company will be made by the Board on the basis of its earning, financial requirements and other 
conditions. 

Global financial conditions have been volatile and in some cases the access to capital markets has been restricted. 

Current global financial conditions have been subject to increased volatility and in some cases the access to financial 
markets has been restricted. These factors may impact the ability of the Company to obtain equity or debt financing 
in the future and, if obtained, on terms favourable to the Company. If these levels of volatility and market instability 
continue, the Company’s operations could be adversely impacted and the value and price of the Common Shares could 
continue to be adversely affected.  

Tax issues. 

There may be income tax consequences in relation to the Common Shares, which will vary according to circumstances 
of each investor. Prospective investors should seek independent advice from their own tax and legal advisers. 

PROMOTERS 

The Company has determined that Erich Perroulaz is a promoter of the Company as he took the initiative in 
founding and organizing the Company. Mr. Perroulaz presently beneficially owns or controls, directly or indirectly 
18,240,000 Common Shares (21.25% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares), 800,000 Options and 400,000 
RSUs. 

Please see additional information regarding Mr. Perroulaz’s shareholdings and role in the Company under 
“Executive Compensation” and “Directors and Officers”, respectively.  

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 

The Company is not a party to any material legal proceedings and the Company does not know of any such 
proceedings that are contemplated.  

REGULATORY ACTIONS 

The Company does not know of any: 



 

 - 52 - 
 
 

(a) penalties or sanctions imposed against the Company by a court relating to provincial and territorial securities 
legislation or by a securities regulatory authority within the three years preceding the date of this Prospectus; 

(b) any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body against the Company necessary for 
the Prospectus to contain full, true and plain disclosure of all material facts relating to the securities being 
distributed; and 

(c) settlement agreements the Company entered into before a court relating to provincial and territorial securities 
legislation or with a securities regulatory authority within the three years preceding the date of this 
Prospectus. 

INTEREST OF MANAGEMENT AND OTHERS IN MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS 

Except as disclosed above under the heading “Executive Compensation”, no Insider, director or executive 
officer of the Company and no associate or affiliate of any director, executive officer or Insider has any material 
interest, direct or indirect, in any transaction within the three years before the date of this Prospectus that has materially 
affected or is reasonably expected to materially affect the Company. 

AUDITORS 

The Company’s independent auditor is Harbourside CPA, located at 1140 – 1185 W. Georgia St. Vancouver, 
BC, V6E 4E6. 

REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER AGENT 

Prior to filing the final prospectus, the Company intends to appoint Olympia Trust Company as the transfer 
agent and registrar for the Company’s Common Shares at its office located at 925 West Georgia St. #1900, Vancouver, 
BC V6C 3L2.  

MATERIAL CONTRACTS  

There are no contracts of the Company, other than contracts entered into in the ordinary course of business, 
that are material to the Company, other than as set forth below: 

(a) the Amalgamation Agreement dated April 28, 2021; and 

(b) the Escrow Agreement dated July 31, 2022, referred to under “Escrowed Securities”. 

Copies of these Agreements may be found on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. 

EXPERTS AND INTERESTS OF EXPERTS 

Certain matters relating to the Special Warrant Private Placement will be passed upon on behalf of the 
Company by McMillan LLP. As of the date of this Prospectus, McMillan LLP beneficially owns, directly or indirectly, 
in the aggregate, less than 1% of the outstanding securities of the Company.   

The independent auditor of the Company is Harbourside CPA. The auditor is independent with respect to the 
Company within the meaning of the Code of Professional Conduct of the Chartered Professional Accountants of 
British Columbia.   

OTHER MATERIAL FACTS 

There are no material facts relating to the Company or the Special Warrant Private Placement other than as 
disclosed herein that are necessary to be disclosed for this Prospectus to contain full, true and plain disclosure of all 
material facts. 
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AGENTS FOR SERVICE OF PROCESS 

 Erich Perroulaz, the CEO and director of the Company and Raymond O’Neill, a director of the Company 
reside outside of Canada and have appointed the following agent(s) for service of process: 

Name of Person or Company Name and Address of Agent 
Erich Perroulaz DLA Piper (Canada) LLP 
Raymond O’Neill DLA Piper (Canada) LLP 

 Purchasers are advised that it may not be possible for investors to enforce judgments obtained in Canada 
against any person or company that is incorporated, continued or otherwise organized under the laws of a foreign 
jurisdiction or resides outside of Canada, even if the party has appointed an agent for service of process.  

PURCHASERS’ STATUTORY RIGHT OF WITHDRAWAL AND RESCISSION 

Securities legislation in certain of the provinces of Canada provides purchasers with the right to withdraw 
from an agreement to purchase securities.  This right may be exercised within two Business Days after receipt or 
deemed receipt of a prospectus and any amendment. In several of the provinces, the securities legislation further 
provides a purchaser with remedies for rescission or, in some jurisdictions, damages if the Prospectus and any 
amendment contains a misrepresentation or is not delivered to the purchaser, provided that the remedies for rescission 
or damages are exercised by the purchaser within the time limit prescribed by the securities legislation of the 
purchaser’s province or territory.  The purchaser should refer to any applicable provisions of the securities legislation 
of the purchaser’s province for the particulars of these rights or consult with a legal adviser. 

CONTRACTUAL RIGHT OF ACTION FOR RESCISSION 

Securities legislation in certain of the provinces of Canada provides purchasers with the right to withdraw 
from an agreement to purchase securities. This right may be exercised within two business days after receipt or deemed 
receipt of a prospectus and any amendment thereto. In several of the provinces, the securities legislation further 
provides a purchaser with remedies for rescission or, in some jurisdictions, damages if the prospectus and any 
amendment contains a misrepresentation or is not delivered to the purchaser, provided that the remedies for rescission 
or damages are exercised by the purchaser within the time limit prescribed by the securities legislation of the 
purchaser’s province or territory. The purchaser should refer to any applicable provisions of the securities legislation 
of the purchaser’s province for the particulars of these rights or consult with a legal adviser.  
 

However, in light of the fact that this Prospectus is being filed to allow the Company to become a reporting 
issuer in the Provinces of British Columbia and Ontario and not in connection with an offering of securities, the 
Company believes that the remedies described in the foregoing paragraph are not applicable to the transactions 
described in this Prospectus. 

Financial Statement Disclosure 

SCHEDULE “A” AUDIT COMMITTEE CHARTER 

SCHEDULE “B” SPIRIT BLOCKCHAIN CAPITAL INC. AUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021 AND 2020, SPIRIT BLOCKCHAIN CAPITAL 
INC. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021 AND 
2020, SPIRIT BLOCKCHAIN CAPITAL INC. INTERIM CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR 
THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2022 AND 2021 AND SPIRIT BLOCKCHAIN CAPITAL INC. 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2022 
AND 2021  
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SPIRIT BLOCKCHAIN CAPITAL INC. 
 

AUDIT COMMITTEE CHARTER 

I. PURPOSE  

This charter sets out the Audit Committee’s purpose, composition, member qualification, member 

appointment and removal, responsibilities, operations, manner of reporting to the Board of Directors (the 

“Board”) of Spirit Blockchain Capital Inc. (the “Company”), annual evaluation and compliance with this 

charter. The primary responsibility of the Audit Committee is that of oversight of the financial reporting 

process on behalf of the Board. This includes oversight responsibility for financial reporting and continuous 

disclosure, oversight of external audit activities, oversight of financial risk and financial management 

control, and oversight responsibility for compliance with tax and securities laws and regulations as well as 

whistle blowing procedures. The Audit Committee is also responsible for the other matters as set out in this 

charter and/or such other matters as may be directed by the Board from time to time. The Audit Committee 

should exercise continuous oversight of developments in these areas. 

II. COMPOSITION 

A. A majority of the members of the Audit Committee must not be executive officers, 

employees or control persons of the Company or of an affiliate of the Company, as defined in National 

Instrument 52-110 – Audit Committees (“NI 52-110”), provided that should the Company become listed on 

a more senior exchange, each member of the Audit Committee will also satisfy the independence 

requirements of such exchange and of NI 52-110.   

B. The Audit Committee will consist of at least three members, all of whom must be directors 

of the Company.  Upon graduating to a more senior stock exchange, if required under the rules or policies 

of such exchange, each member of the Audit Committee will also satisfy the financial literacy requirements 

of such exchange and of NI 52-110.  

C. The Chair of the Audit Committee will be appointed by the Board. 

III. AUTHORITY 

A. In addition to all authority required to carry out the duties and responsibilities included in 

this charter, the Audit Committee has specific authority to: 

1. engage, set and pay the compensation for independent counsel and other advisors as it 

determines necessary to carry out its duties and responsibilities, and any such consultants or 

professional advisors so retained by the Audit Committee will report directly to the Audit 

Committee; 

2. communicate directly with management and any internal auditor, and with the external 

auditor without management involvement; and 

3. incur ordinary administrative expenses that are necessary or appropriate in carrying out its 

duties, which expenses will be paid for by the Company. 
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IV. DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES 

A. The duties and responsibilities of the Audit Committee include: 

1. recommending to the Board the external auditor to be nominated by the Board; 

2. recommending to the Board the compensation of the external auditor to be paid by the 

Company in connection with (i) preparing and issuing the audit report on the Company’s financial 

statements, and (ii) performing other audit, review or attestation services; 

3. reviewing the external auditor’s annual audit plan, fee schedule and any related services 

proposals (including meeting with the external auditor to discuss any deviations from or changes 

to the original audit plan, as well as to ensure that no management restrictions have been placed on 

the scope and extent of the audit examinations by the external auditor or the reporting of their 

findings to the Audit Committee); 

4. overseeing the work of the external auditor; 

5. ensuring that the external auditor is independent by receiving a report annually from the 

external auditors with respect to their independence, such report to include disclosure of all 

engagements (and fees related thereto) for non-audit services provided to Company; 

6. ensuring that the external auditor is in good standing with the Canadian Public 

Accountability Board by receiving, at least annually, a report by the external auditor on the audit 

firm’s internal quality control processes and procedures, such report to include any material issues 

raised by the most recent internal quality control review, or peer review, of the firm, or any 

governmental or professional authorities of the firm within the preceding five years, and any steps 

taken to deal with such issues; 

7. ensuring that the external auditor meets the rotation requirements for partners and staff 

assigned to the Company’s annual audit by receiving a report annually from the external auditors 

setting out the status of each professional with respect to the appropriate regulatory rotation 

requirements and plans to transition new partners and staff onto the audit engagement as various 

audit team members’ rotation periods expire; 

8. reviewing and discussing with management and the external auditor the annual audited and 

quarterly unaudited financial statements and related Management Discussion and Analysis 

(“MD&A”), including the appropriateness of the Company’s accounting policies, disclosures 

(including material transactions with related parties), reserves, key estimates and judgements 

(including changes or variations thereto) and obtaining reasonable assurance that the financial 

statements are presented fairly in accordance with IFRS and the MD&A is in compliance with 

appropriate regulatory requirements; 

9. reviewing and discussing with management and the external auditor major issues regarding 

accounting principles and financial statement presentation including any significant changes in the 

selection or application of accounting principles to be observed in the preparation of the financial 

statements of the Company and its subsidiaries; 

10. reviewing and discussing with management and the external auditor the external auditor’s 

written communications to the Audit Committee in accordance with generally accepted auditing 
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standards and other applicable regulatory requirements arising from the annual audit and quarterly 

review engagements; 

11. reviewing and discussing with management and the external auditor all earnings press 

releases, as well as financial information and earnings guidance provided to analysts and rating 

agencies prior to such information being disclosed; 

12. reviewing the external auditor’s report to the shareholders on the Company’s annual 

financial statements; 

13. reporting on and recommending to the Board the approval of the annual financial 

statements and the external auditor’s report on those financial statements, the quarterly unaudited 

financial statements, and the related MD&A and press releases for such financial statements, prior 

to the dissemination of these documents to shareholders, regulators, analysts and the public; 

14. satisfying itself on a regular basis through reports from management and related reports, if 

any, from the external auditors, that adequate procedures are in place for the review of the 

Company’s disclosure of financial information extracted or derived from the Company’s financial 

statements that such information is fairly presented; 

15. overseeing the adequacy of the Company’s system of internal accounting controls and 

obtaining from management and the external auditor summaries and recommendations for 

improvement of such internal controls and processes, together with reviewing management’s 

remediation of identified weaknesses; 

16. reviewing with management and the external auditors the integrity of disclosure controls 

and internal controls over financial reporting; 

17. reviewing and monitoring the processes in place to identify and manage the principal risks 

that could impact the financial reporting of the Company and assessing, as part of its internal 

controls responsibility, the effectiveness of the over-all process for identifying principal business 

risks and report thereon to the Board; 

18. satisfying itself that management has developed and implemented a system to ensure that 

the Company meets its continuous disclosure obligations through the receipt of regular reports from 

management and the Company’s legal advisors on the functioning of the disclosure compliance 

system, (including any significant instances of non-compliance with such system) in order to satisfy 

itself that such system may be reasonably relied upon; 

19. resolving disputes between management and the external auditor regarding financial 

reporting; 

20. establishing procedures for: 

a) the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints received by the Company from 

employees and others regarding accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing 

matters and questionable practises relating thereto, and 

b) the confidential, anonymous submission by employees of the Company of 

concerns regarding questionable accounting or auditing matters; 
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21. reviewing and approving the Company’s hiring policies with respect to partners or 

employees (or former partners or employees) of either a former or the present external auditor; 

22. pre-approving all non-audit services to be provided to the Company or any subsidiaries by 

the Company’s external auditor; 

23. overseeing compliance with regulatory authority requirements for disclosure of external 

auditor services and Audit Committee activities; 

24. establishing procedures for: 

a) reviewing the adequacy of the Company’s insurance coverage, including the 

Directors’ and Officers’ insurance coverage; 

b) reviewing activities, organizational structure, and qualifications of the Chief 

Financial Officer (“CFO”) and the staff in the financial reporting area and ensuring that 

matters related to succession planning within the Company are raised for consideration at 

the Board; 

c) obtaining reasonable assurance as to the integrity of the Chief Executive Officer 

(“CEO”) and other senior management and that the CEO and other senior management 

strive to create a culture of integrity throughout the Company; 

d) reviewing fraud prevention policies and programs, and monitoring their 

implementation; 

e) reviewing regular reports from management and others (e.g., external auditors, 

legal counsel) with respect to the Company’s compliance with laws and regulations having 

a material impact on the financial statements including: 

i.tax and financial reporting laws and regulations; 

ii.legal withholding requirements; 

iii.environmental protection laws and regulations; 

iv.other laws and regulations which expose directors to liability; and 

B. A regular part of Audit Committee meetings involves the appropriate orientation of new 

members as well as the continuous education of all members. Items to be discussed include specific business 

issues as well as new accounting and securities legislation that may impact the organization. The Chair of 

the Audit Committee will regularly canvass the Audit Committee members for continuous education needs 

and in conjunction with the Board education program, arrange for such education to be provided to the 

Audit Committee on a timely basis. 

C. On an annual basis the Audit Committee shall review and assess the adequacy of this 

charter taking into account all applicable legislative and regulatory requirements as well as any best practice 

guidelines recommended by regulators or stock exchanges with whom the Company has a reporting 

relationship and, if appropriate, recommend changes to the Audit Committee charter to the Board for its 

approval. 



- 5 - 

D. On an annual basis, the Audit Committee shall require the Company’s Chief Executive 

Officer and Chief Financial Officer to evaluate, or cause to be evaluated under their supervision, the 

effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial 

reporting as at the Company’s financial year end date and to report the results of their evaluation to the 

Audit Committee prior to the Audit Committee approving the Company’s annual financial statements. 

V.  TERM 

The members of the Audit Committee shall be appointed by designation of the Board and shall continue to 

be a member thereof until the earlier of (i) the Board, at its discretion, decides to remove the member from 

the Committee, or (ii) the expiration of his or her term of office as a Director. Vacancies at any time 

occurring shall be filled by designation of the Board. 

VI.  MEETINGS 

The Committee shall meet at least once per year or more frequently as circumstances dictate. A majority of 

the members appearing at a duly convened meeting shall constitute a quorum and the Committee shall 

maintain minutes or other records of its meetings and activities. The Chair shall be responsible for 

leadership of the Committee, including scheduling and presiding over meetings, preparing agendas, 

overseeing the preparation of briefing documents to circulate during the meetings as well as pre-meeting 

materials, and making regular reports to the Board.  These documents will be shared with the Board as 

needed to discharge the Committee's delegated responsibilities and stored in a centralized electronic archive 

administered by the Corporate Secretary. In case of absence of the Chair, the participating Audit Committee 

members will designate an interim Chair. The Committee may invite members of Management or others to 

attend their meetings and they will be asked to step-out during sensitive conversations. As part of its 

responsibility to foster open communication, the Committee should meet at least annually with each of the 

CEO and Chief Financial Officer in separate executive sessions to discuss any matters that the Committee 

or the executive officers believe should be discussed privately with the Committee.  

VII. REPORTS 

A. The Audit Committee will report, at least annually, to the Board regarding the Audit 

Committee’s examinations and recommendations. 

B. The Audit Committee will report its activities to the Board to be incorporated as a part of 

the minutes of the Board meeting at which those activities are reported. 

VIII. MINUTES 

A. The Audit Committee will maintain written minutes of its meetings, which minutes will be 

filed with the minutes of the meetings of the Board. 

IX. ANNUAL PERFORMANCE EVALUATION 

A. The Board will conduct an annual performance evaluation of the Audit Committee, taking 

into account the charter, to determine the effectiveness of the Committee. 

This charter was adopted by the Board effective August 23, 2021. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
 

 

To the Shareholders of Spirit Blockchain Capital Inc. (formerly 1284696 B.C. Ltd.) 
 
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Spirit Blockchain Capital Inc. (the “Company”) which comprise the consolidated 
statements of financial position as at December 31, 2021 and 2020 and the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive income (loss), 
consolidated statements of cash flows, and consolidated statements of changes in equity for the years then ended, and notes to the consolidated 
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of the 
Company as at December 31, 2021 and 2020, and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the years then 
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 
 
Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities under those standards are 
further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the 
Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in Canada, and we 
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern 
 
Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements which indicates the existence of a material 
uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about Spirit Blockchain Capital Inc.’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
 
Information other than the Consolidated Financial Statements and the Auditor’s Report thereon 
 
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information, other than the consolidated financial 
statements and our auditor’s report thereon, included in Management's discussion and analysis report. 
 
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon.  In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements 
or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 
 
We obtained Management's discussion and analysis report prior to the date of this auditor’s report.  If, based on the work we have performed 
on this other information, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact in this 
auditor’s report. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

  



 

 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS, and for 
such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company's ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either 
intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting process. 
 
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect 
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial 
statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:  
 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design 
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control; 
 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control; 
 

  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures 
made by management; 
 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence 
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our 
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify 
our opinion.  Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.  However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern; 
 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and 
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation.  
 

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the 
group to express an opinion on the financial statements.  

 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.  

 
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, 
and where applicable, related safeguards. 
 
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Mickey Goldstein. 

 

 
 

Vancouver, British Columbia Harbourside CPA, LLP 

July 31, 2022 Chartered Professional Accountants 
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 Note 2021 2020 

  $ $ 
ASSETS    

Current assets    

Cash   684,949 89,257 
Amounts receivable  9,141 5,333 
Prepaid expenses  - 3,173 
Marketable securities 5 639,100 - 
Digital assets 6 2,676,830 298,643 
Due from related party 8 33,406 - 

Total assets  4,043,426 396,406 
    
LIABILITIES    
Current liabilities    

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 8 278,604 33,033 
Total liabilities  278,604 33,033 
    
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY    
Share capital 4, 7 13,810,835 1,258,835 
Share subscriptions receivable 7 (8,000) (8,000) 
Contributed surplus 7 468,978 - 
Accumulated other comprehensive income 7 682,924 114,873 
Deficit  (11,189,915) (1,002,335) 
Total shareholders’ equity  3,764,822 363,373 
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity  4,043,426 396,406 

 
Nature of operations and going concern (Note 1) 
Subsequent events (Note 12) 
 
These consolidated financial statements are approved and authorized for issuance on behalf the Board of Directors on July 31, 
2022. 

 
   

/s/ Erich Perroulaz  /s/ Raymond O’Neill 
Director  Director 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated Statements of Loss and Comprehensive Income (Loss) 
For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars, except number of shares) 

2 

 

 
  Note 2021 2020 

  $ $ 
Operating expenses     

Audit and accounting fees  6,401 23,000 
Bank charges  735 734 
Consulting fees 7, 8 584,385 59,789 
Filing fees  12,478 - 
Legal and professional fees  300,332 10,075 
Marketing and events  8,399 380 
Office expenses  12,578 2,529 
Share-based compensation 7 507,228 - 
Website and communication expenses  5,845 2,940 

   (1,438,381) (99,447) 
Other income (expenses)    

Listing fee 4 (8,744,460) - 
Foreign exchange loss  (30,514) (132) 
Realized gain on marketable securities 5 19,381 - 
Unrealized gain on marketable securities 5 59,990 - 
Realized gain on digital assets 6 18,903 1,915 
Unrealized (loss) gain on digital assets 6 (71,857) 29,459 

  (8,748,557) 31,242 
    
Loss before income taxes  (10,186,938) (68,205) 
    

Current income tax expense  (642) (629) 
Net loss for the year  (10,187,580) (68,834) 
    
Other comprehensive income (loss)    

Loss on foreign currency translation  (14,272) - 
Unrealized gain on digital assets 6 582,323 114,873 

Comprehensive income (loss) for the year  (9,619,529) 46,039 

    
Loss per common share    

Basic and diluted  (0.18) (0.00) 
    
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding    

Basic and diluted  57,384,233 36,477,350 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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   2021 2020 

  $ $ 
Operating activities    

Net loss for the year  (10,187,580) (68,834) 
Items not affecting cash:    

Consulting fees  55,250 39,167 
Share-based compensation  507,228 - 
Listing fee  8,744,460 - 
Realized gain on marketable securities  (19,381) - 
Unrealized gain on marketable securities  (59,990) - 
Realized gain on digital assets and marketable securities  (18,903) (1,915) 
Unrealized loss (gain) on digital assets and marketable securities  71,857 (29,459) 

Changes in non-cash working capital items:    
Amounts receivable  (3,808) 925 
Prepaid expenses  3,173 (3,173) 
Due from related party  (33,406) - 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  273,349 20,337 

Net cash used in operating activities  (667,751) (42,952) 

    
Investing activities    

Cash acquired in reverse takeover  282,012 - 
Proceeds from sale of marketable securities  23,492 - 
Purchase of marketable securities  (583,221) - 
Proceeds from sale of digital assets  58,843 5,170 
Purchases of digital assets  (1,907,661) (136,226) 

Net cash used in investing activities  (2,126,535) (131,056) 
    
Financing activities    

Proceeds from issuance of shares  3,401,250 249,500 
Proceeds received for subscription receivable  3,000 - 

Net cash provided by financing activities  3,404,250 249,500 
    
Impact of foreign exchange on cash  (14,272) - 
    
Increase in cash  595,692 75,492 
Cash, beginning of the year  89,257 13,765 
Cash, end of the year  684,949 89,257 

    
Supplemental cash flow information    

Interest paid  (735) (734) 
Income taxes paid  (650) (629) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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 Note 
Number of 

shares 
Share 
capital 

Share 
subscriptions 

receivable 
Contributed 

surplus 

Accumulated 
other 

comprehensive 
income (loss) Deficit 

Total 
shareholders' 

equity 
  # $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Balance, December 31, 2019  35,751,667 969,668 (7,501) - - (933,501) 28,666 
Shares issued for cash 7 5,000,000 250,000 (499) - - - 249,501 
Shares issued for services 7 783,334 39,167 - - - - 39,167 
Unrealized gain on digital assets 6 - - - - 114,873 - 114,873 
Net loss for the year  - - - - - (68,834) (68,834) 
Balance, December 31, 2020  41,535,001 1,258,835 (8,000) - 114,873 (1,002,335) 363,373 
Shares issued for cash 7 29,479,999 3,493,000 (8,000) - - - 3,485,000 
Shares issued for services 7 1,105,000 55,250 - - - - 55,250 
Net proceeds received for subscriptions 
receivable 7 - - 3,000 - - - 3,000 
Cancellation of shares 7 (50,000) (5,000) 5,000 - - - - 
Spirit Blockchain Capital Inc. for common 
shares exchanged for common shares of 
Spirit Blockchain Holdings Inc.  4 

(72,070,000) 
72,070,000 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

Common shares deemed issued on 
reverse takeover 4, 7 13,747,001 9,008,750 - - - - 9,008,750 
Cancellation of common share 7 (1) - - - - - - 
Share-based compensation 7 - - - 468,978 - - 468,978 
Unrealized gains on digital assets 6 - - - - 582,323 - 582,323 
Net loss for the year  - - - - (14,272) (10,187,580) (10,201,852) 
Balance, December 31, 2021  85,817,000 13,810,835 (8,000) 468,978 682,924 (11,189,915) 3,764,822 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND GOING CONCERN 

 
Spirit Blockchain Capital Inc. (formerly 1284696 B.C. Ltd) (the “Company”) was incorporated under the Business 
Corporations Act on January 19, 2021 in British Columbia, Canada. The purpose of the Company is to offer products and 
services to the digital assets and blockchain ecosphere. The Company holds a portfolio of crypto-currencies, some of which 
it has Staked, and invests in other listed companies operating in this ecosphere. The Company also provides blockchain 
and advisory services to third parties. The Company can mine crypto-currencies, lend both FIAT and Crypto Coins 
(Royalties and Streaming), provide consulting service and undertake M&A activity. 
 
Reverse takeover 

 
1284696 B.C. Ltd (“1284696” or “Spirit”) was incorporated on January 19, 2021 under the Business Corporations Act of 
British Columbia. On July 29, 2021, 1284696’s wholly-owned subsidiary 1302186 B.C. Ltd. (“Subco”) and the predecessor 
entity to Spirit Blockchain Holdings Inc. (“Holdings”), Spirit Blockchain Capital Inc. (“Former Spirit”) completed a business 
combination transaction (the “Transaction”) pursuant to an amalgamation agreement dated July 29, 2021 between Former 
Spirit, Subco and 1284696 whereby: (i) 1284696 acquired all of the issued and outstanding securities of Former Spirit 
pursuant to a three-cornered amalgamation; (ii) Subco amalgamated with Former Spirit to form the amalgamated wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, Spirit Blockchain Holdings Inc.; and (iii) 1284696 changed its name to “Spirit Blockchain 
Capital Inc.”. 
 
Effective July 29, 2021, the Transaction closed whereby Spirit issued to Former Spirit shareholders, pro rata to their 
respective holdings of Former Spirit shares, 72,070,000 Common Shares at a price of $0.125 per Common Share in 
exchange for all of the issued and outstanding Former Spirit shares. 
 
Management determined that the Transaction constituted a reverse acquisition for accounting purposes whereby Former 
Spirit acquired Spirit. For accounting purposes, Former Spirit is treated as the accounting acquirer, and Spirit (legal parent) 
is treated as the accounting acquiree in these consolidated financial statements. As Former Spirit was deemed to be the 
acquirer for accounting purposes, its assets, liabilities, and operations since incorporation are included in these financial 
statements at their historical carrying values. The Company’s results of operations are included from the transaction date, 
July 29, 2021. The comparative figures are those of Former Spirit prior to the Transaction. 
 
Going concern 
 
These consolidated financial statements (the "financial statements") have been prepared on a going concern basis, which 
assumes that the Company will be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the ordinary course of business in 
the foreseeable future. Historically, the Company has not earned sufficient income to finance day-to-day activities through 
operations. The Company's ability to continue on a going concern basis is dependent upon its ability to generate future cash 
flows or raise equity capital or borrowings sufficient to meet current and future obligations.  
 
As at December 31, 2021, the Company has working capital of $3,764,822 (December 31, 2020 - $363,373), has not yet 
achieved profitable operations, and has an accumulated deficit of $11,189,915 (December 31, 2020 - $1,002,335). These 
factors indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the Company's ability to 
continue as a going concern. Management intends to finance operating costs over the next twelve months with equity 
financing including private placements of common shares, potential debt financing, and the generation of revenue; however, 
there can be no assurance that this will occur. These financial statements do not reflect adjustments would be necessary if 
the going concern assumption were not appropriate, which could be material. 
 
The outbreak of the coronavirus, also known as "COVID-19", has spread across the globe and is impacting worldwide 
economic activity. Conditions surrounding the coronavirus continue to evolve and government authorities have implemented 
measures to mitigate the spread of the virus. The outbreak and the related mitigation measures may have an adverse 
impact on global economic conditions as well as on the Company’s business activities that can materially adversely affect 
the operations of the Company. As of the date of these consolidated financial statements (the “financial statements”), 
COVID-19 has had no impact on the Company’s ability to operate the business but may impact the Company’s ability to 
raise funding related to COVID-19 be extended or expanded in scope. 
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 
 
a) Statement of compliance 

 
These financial statements, including comparatives, have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards ("IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB") and the interpretations 
of the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee ("IFRIC"). 
 
These financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board on July 31, 2022. 

 
b) Basis of presentation 

 
These financial statements are expressed in Canadian dollars and have been prepared on a historical cost basis except for 
certain financial instruments that have been measured at fair value. The accounting policies set out below have been applied 
consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated financial statements as if the policies have always been in effect.  
 

c) Functional and presentation currency 
 
These financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars (“CAD”), except as otherwise noted. The functional currency 
is the currency of the primary economic environment in which an entity operates.  
 
The functional currency of the Company is CAD. The functional currency of the Company’s wholly-owned Canadian 
subsidiary, Spirit Blockchain Holdings Inc., is CAD. The functional currency of the Company’s wholly-owned Swiss 
subsidiary, Spirit Blockchain AG, is the Swiss Franc (“CHF”). 
 

d) Basis of consolidation 
 

These financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and the Company’s wholly owned 
subsidiaries, Spirit Blockchain Holdings Inc. based in Canada, and Spirit Blockchain AG based in Switzerland.  

 
Control exists when the Company has the power, directly or indirectly, to govern the financial and operating policies of an 
entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. The financial statements of the Company’s subsidiaries are included in 
these financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. All intercompany 
transactions and balances have been eliminated. 

 
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
a) Cash  

 
Cash includes cash on hand, cash held in trust, and cash on deposit in interest-bearing bank accounts.  

 
b) Financial instruments 

 
Financial assets 
 
The Company classifies its financial assets in the following categories: at fair value through profit or loss ("FVTPL"), at fair 
value through other comprehensive income ("FVTOCI") or at amortized cost. The classification depends on the Company's 
business model for managing the financial assets and terms of the related cashflow. Management determines the 
classification of its financial assets at initial recognition. 
 
Equity investments that are held for trading are classified as FVTPL. For other equity instruments, on the day of acquisition, 
the Company can make an irrevocable election (on an instrument-by-instrument basis) to designate them as at FVTOCI. 
 
Financial assets carried at FVTPL are initially recorded at fair value and transaction costs are expensed in the statements 
of profit or loss. Realized and unrealized gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of the financial assets held 
at FVTPL are included in the statements of comprehensive loss in the period in which they arise. The Company's cash is 
classified as FVTPL. 

  



SPIRIT BLOCKCHAIN CAPITAL INC. (formerly 1284696 B.C. Ltd.) 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements  
For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars, except where noted) 

7 

 

 
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 
Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are initially recognized at fair value plus transaction costs. Subsequently they 
are measured at fair value, with gains and losses arising from changes in fair value recognized in other comprehensive 
income. There is no subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss following the derecognition of 
the investment. The Company does not have any financial assets classified as FVTOCI. 
 
Financial assets at amortized cost are initially recognized at fair value and subsequently carried at amortized cost less any 
impairment. Transaction costs are netted against financial assets and are accounted for using the effective interest method. 
They are classified as current assets or non-current assets based on their maturity date. 

 
The Company recognizes loss allowances for expected credit losses ("ECLs") on its financial assets measured at amortized 
cost. Due to the nature of its financial assets, the Company measures loss allowances at an amount equal to expected 
lifetime ECLs. Lifetime ECLs are the anticipated ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of 
a financial asset. ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the present 
value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and 
the cash flows that the Company expects to receive). ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the related 
financial asset. The Company does not have any financial assets that contain a financing component. 
 
Financial liabilities 
 
The Company classifies its financial liabilities into one of two categories, depending on the purpose for which the asset was 
acquired. The Company’s accounting policy for each category is as follows: 
 
FVTPL – This category comprises derivatives or liabilities acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or 
repurchasing it in the near term. They are carried in the statements of financial position at fair value with changes in fair 
value recognized in the statements of comprehensive loss. 
 
Amortized cost – The Company’s accounts payables are recognized at amortized cost. 
 

c) Reserves 
 

Equity reserves presented as contributed surplus include amounts related to share-based payments. 
 

d) Marketable securities 

 
In assessing the classification of marketable securities as current or non-current assets, management estimates whether 
any marketable securities are to be sold within the next 12 months. The assessment is performed on a security-by-
security basis at each reporting period. Any changes are reflected prospectively within the statement of financial position. 

 
e) Digital assets 

 
Digital assets consist of cryptocurrency denominated assets and are included in current assets. Digital assets are held with 
a short-term nature and are recorded as current assets on the statement of financial position. 

 
Management of the Company view the digital assets as an intangible asset as it is an identifiable nonmonetary asset without 
physical substance and accordingly the Company uses the revaluation model, as permitted under IAS 38, Intangible Assets, 
to measure its digital currencies. Initially the digital currencies are measured at cost and will not be subject to amortization. 
After initial recognition, digital currencies are carried at revalued amounts less any accumulated amortization and 
accumulated impairment losses. The revalued amounts are determined at each reporting period at their fair market value 
which is calculated using the close rate from www.cryptocompare.com on the period end date. Increases in the carrying 
amounts are measured through other comprehensive income. Decreases that offset previous increases are measured 
through other comprehensive income and all other decreases are measured through profit and loss. On disposal, any 
cumulative revaluation surplus associated with the digital tokens are transferred directly to retained earnings.  
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
f) Share-based compensation 
 

The Company grants stock options (“options”) and restricted stock units (“RSUs”) to its directors, employees and consultants 
from time to time. The Company accounts for share-based compensation associated with option and RSU grants using a 
fair value-based method. For directors and employees, the fair value of options and RSUs is measured at the date of grant. 
For consultants, the fair value of options and RSUs is measured at the fair value of the goods or services received, or the 
fair value of the equity instrument issued if it is determined that the fair value of the goods or services cannot be reliably 
measured, and are recorded at the date the goods or services are received. For directors, employees and consultants, the 
fair value of options and RSUs granted is accrued and charged to operations over the vesting period, with the offsetting 
credit to share-based payment reserve for options, and commitment to issue share for RSUs. If and when options are 
exercised, the applicable amounts are transferred from share-based payment reserve to share capital. When the shares 
associated with RSUs are issued, the applicable fair value is transferred from reserves to share capital.  
 
Option-based compensation awards are calculated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model while RSU’s are valued 
at the fair value on the date of grant. For unexercised options that expire, the recorded value in share-based compensation 
reserve is transferred to deficit or contributed surplus. 
 

g) Income taxes 
 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for deferred income tax consequences attributable to differences 
between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Deferred 
income tax assets and liabilities are measured using the enacted or substantively enacted rates expected to apply when 
the asset is realized, or the liability is settled. The effect on deferred income tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates 
is recognized in income in the period that substantive enactments occur. To the extent that the company does not consider 
it probable that a deferred income tax asset will be recovered, the deferred income tax asset is not recognized. Deferred 
income tax assets and liabilities are offset only if a legally enforceable right exists to offset current tax assets against 
liabilities and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on the same 
taxable entity. 
 

h) Earnings (loss) per share 
 

Basic earnings (loss) per share is computed by dividing the net earnings (loss) available to common shareholders by the 
weighted average number of shares outstanding during the reporting period. Diluted earnings (loss) per share is computed 
similar to basic earnings (loss) per share except that the weighted average shares outstanding are increased to include 
additional shares for the assumed exercise of stock options and warrants, if dilutive. The number of additional shares is 
calculated by assuming that outstanding stock options and warrants were exercised and that the proceeds from such 
exercises were used to acquire common stock at the average market price during the reporting periods.  
 

i) Impairment 
 
Non-financial assets 
 
The carrying amounts of the Company’s non-financial assets, other than deferred income tax assets, are reviewed at each 
reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the assets’ 
recoverable amount is estimated. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets grouped together into the smallest group 
of assets or group of assets (the “cash-generated unit”). 

 
An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of a cash-generating unit exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. 
The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to 
sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount 
rate that reflects current market assessment of the time value of money and the risks specific to the assets. Impairment 
losses are recognized in profit or loss. 
 
Impairment losses recognized in prior years are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has 
decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine 
the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed 
the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, if no impairment loss has been recognized.  
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 
Financial assets 
 
The Company assesses all information including forward-looking basis, the expected credit losses associated with its assets 
carried at amortized cost. The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been a significant increase 
in credit risk. To assess whether there is a significant increase in credit risk, the Company compares the risk of a default 
occurring on the asset as the reporting date, with the risk of default as at the date of initial recognition, based on all 
information available, and reasonable and supportive forward-looking information. 

 
j) Comprehensive income (loss) 

 
Comprehensive income (loss) is the change in the Company’s net assets that results from transactions, events, and 
circumstances from sources other than the Company’s shareholders and includes items that are not included in net profit. 
Other comprehensive income consists of changes to unrealized gains and losses on digital assets and changes to foreign 
currency translation adjustments to self-sustaining foreign operations during the period. Comprehensive income measures 
net earnings for the period plus other comprehensive income. Amounts reported as other comprehensive income are 
accumulated in a separate component of shareholders’ equity as accumulated other comprehensive income. During the 
year ended December 31, 2021, the Company recognized $568,051 (2020 - $114,873) in other comprehensive income, of 
which $582,323 (2020 - $114,783) is related to unrealized gains on digital assets, and loss of $14,272 (2020 - $nil) related 
to foreign currency translation adjustment. 

 
k) Foreign currency translation 

 
These financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries. All intercompany transactions and 
balances are eliminated on consolidation. These financial statements incorporate the accounts of the Company and the 
following subsidiaries:  
 

Name of subsidiary 
Country of 

incorporation 
Percentage 
Ownership 

Functional 
Currency 

Principal 
Activity 

Spirit Blockchain AG Switzerland 100% CHF Subsidiary 
Spirit Blockchain Holdings Inc. Canada 100% CAD Holding company 

 
These financial statements are presented In Canadian dollars, which is the functional currency of the Company.  
Transactions in currencies other than the functional currency are translated into Canadian dollars on the following basis: 
 
 Monetary assets and liabilities at the rate of exchange in effect at the statement of financial position date; 
 Non-monetary assets and liabilities at the rates of exchange in effect on the respective dates of transactions; and 
 Revenues and expenses (excluding amortization, which is translated at the same rate as the related asset), at the 

exchange rates in effect on the date of the transaction. 
 
Gains and losses arising from this translation of foreign currency are included in the determination profit and loss. 

 
l) Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty 
 

In the application of the Company's accounting policies, management is required to make judgments, estimates and 
assumptions about the carrying amount and classification of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other 
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are 
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 
 
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revisions affect only that period, or in the period of the revision 
and future periods, if the revision affects both current and future periods. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

Valuation of digital assets 
 

Digital assets consist of cryptocurrency denominated assets (Note 6) and are included in current assets. Digital currencies 
are carried at their fair market value determined by the spot rate based on volume weighted average from 
www.cryptocompare.com. The digital currency market is still a new market and is highly volatile; historical prices are not 
necessarily indicative of future value; a significant change in the market prices for digital currencies would have a significant 
impact on the Company’s earnings and financial position. In addition, management estimates that selling costs will be 
nominal. Digital currency prices are affected by various forces including global supply and demand, interest rates, exchange 
rates, inflation or deflation and the global political and economic conditions. A decline in the market prices for digital currency 
could negatively impact the Company’s future operations. The Company has not hedged the conversion of any of its digital 
assets. 
 
The Company is required to make significant assumptions and judgements as to its accounting policies and the application 
thereof which is disclosed in the notes to these financial statements. If specific guidance is enacted by the IASB in the 
future, the impact may result in changes to the Company's profit or loss and financial position as currently presented. 

 
Valuation of share-based compensation 
 
The Company utilizes the Black-Scholes option pricing model (“Black-Scholes”) to estimate fair value of the options granted 
to directors, employees and consultants while RSU’s are valued at the fair value on the date of grant. The use of Black-
Scholes requires management to make various estimates and assumptions that impact the value assigned to the options 
including the forecast future volatility of the stock price, the risk-free interest rate, dividend yield and the expected life of the 
options. Any changes in these assumptions could have a material impact on the share-based compensation calculation 
value; however the most significant estimate is the volatility. Expected future volatility can be difficult to estimate as the 
Company has had limited history and is in a unique industry, and historical volatility in not necessarily indicative of future 
volatility.  
 
Going concern evaluation 

 
As discussed in Note 1, these financial statements have been prepared under the assumptions applicable to a going 
concern. If the going concern assumption were not appropriate for these financial statements then adjustments would be 
necessary to the carrying value of assets and liabilities, the reported expenses and the statement of financial position 
classifications used, and such adjustments could be material. 
 
The Company reviews the going concern assessment at the end of each reporting period. There were no material changes 
to the assessment as at December 31, 2021. 
 

m) Accounting standards issued but not yet applied 
 

There are no IFRS or IFRIC interpretations that are not yet effective that would be expected to have a material impact on 
the Company’s consolidated financial statements. 
 

4. REVERSE TAKEOVER TRANSACTION 
 

Upon the closing of the Transaction on July 29, 2021, outlined in Note 1, the Company issued 72,070,000 common shares 
to Former Spirit shareholders at the fair value of $0.125 per common share for a total fair value of $9,008,750. 
 
As a result of the Transaction, Former Spirit obtained control of the Company and is considered to have acquired the 
Company. The Transaction constituted a reverse takeover acquisition (“RTO”) of the Company by Former Spirit. For 
accounting purposes, the acquisition is considered to be outside the scope of IFRS 3 – Business Combinations (“IFRS 3”) 
since Spirit, prior to the acquisition did not constitute a business. As a result, the transactions is accounted for in accordance 
with IFRS 2 – Share-based Payments whereby Former Spirit is deemed to have issued share in exchange for the net assets 
of the Company together with its in progress listing status at the fair value of the consideration received by Former Spirit. 
The accounting for this transaction resulted in the following: 
 

a) The consolidated financial statements of the combined entities are issued under the legal parent, Spirit, but are 
considered a continuation of the financial statements of the legal subsidiary, Former Spirit. 
 
b) Since Former Spirit is deemed to be the acquirer for accounting purposes, its assets and liabilities are included in the 
consolidated financial statements at their historical carrying values. 
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4. REVERSE TAKEOVER TRANSACTION (continued) 

 
For accounting purposes, Former Spirit is treated as the accounting parent (legal subsidiary) and the Company as the 
accounting subsidiary (legal parent). The fair value of the consideration paid by Former Spirit, net of transaction costs, less 
the fair value of net assets of the Company acquired by Former Spirit constitutes the listing expense and has been recorded 
in the statement of loss and comprehensive loss. These consolidated financial statements reflect the assets, liabilities, and 
operations of Former Spirit since its incorporation and the Company from July 29, 2021. 
 
The purchase has been allocated as follows: 
 

 July 29, 2021 

  
Purchase price:  
Fair value of 72,070,000 shares at $0.125 per share 9,008,750 

Total consideration 9,008,750 
  
Net assets acquired  
Cash 282,012 
Accounts payable (17,722) 

Total net assets 264,280 
  
Transaction cost 8,744,460 

 
The fair value of the 72,070,000 common shares of the Company was determined to be $0.125 per common share, based 
on the market value on the date of the Transaction. 
 

5. MARKETABLE SECURITIES 
 

The fair value of the Company’s marketable securities are as follows: 
 

 December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 
 Shares held Fair value Shares held Fair value 

 # $ # $ 
Banxa Holdings Inc. 1,100 3,322 - - 
BIGG Digital Assets Inc. 12,400 12,896 - - 
Bitfarms Ltd. 7,678 48,986 - - 
Coinbase Global Inc. 290 92,787 - - 
Defi Technologies Inc. 7,500 22,650 - - 
Galaxy Digital Ltd. 3,890 88,109   
Hive Blockchain Technologies Ltd. 7,000 23,170 - - 
Hut 8 Mining Corp. 7,937 78,814 - - 
Marathon Digital Holdings Inc. 1,958 81,570 - - 
Neptune Digital Assets 3,000 1,740 - - 
Riot Blockchain Inc. 925 26,187 - - 
Signature Bank 75 30,757 - - 
Silvergate Capital Corp. 620 116,491 - - 
Voyager Digital 736 11,621   

 55,109 639,100 - - 
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5. MARKETABLE SECURITIES (continued) 
 

The cost of the Company’s marketable securities are as follows: 
 

 December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 
 Shares held Cost Shares held Cost 

 # $ # $ 
Banxa Holdings Inc. 1,100 2,503 - - 
BIGG Digital Assets Inc. 12,400 14,894 - - 
Bitfarms Ltd. 7,678 56,620 - - 
Coinbase Global Inc. 290 92,182 - - 
Defi Technologies Inc. 7,500 10,030 - - 
Galaxy Digital Ltd. 3,890 77,081   
Hive Blockchain Technologies Ltd. 7,000 20,640 - - 
Hut 8 Mining Corp. 7,937 49,273 - - 
Marathon Digital Holdings Inc. 1,958 83,348 - - 
Neptune Digital Assets 3,000 3,300 - - 
Riot Blockchain Inc. 925 44,147 - - 
Signature Bank 75 30,136 - - 
Silvergate Capital Corp. 620 80,474 - - 
Voyager Digital 736 14,484 - - 

 55,109 579,112 - - 

 
During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company recognized an unrealized gain of $59,990 (2021 - $Nil) and 
realized gain of $19,381 (2020 - $Nil). 
 
The total fair value of marketable securities have been classified as current items on the statement of financial position. 

 
6. DIGITAL ASSETS 

 
The Company has a brokerage account with Crypto Finance AG in Zurich, Switzerland.  Digital assets are recorded at their 
fair value on the date they are received and are revalued to their fair value at each reporting date. The fair market value of 
the Company’s digital assets is as follows: 
 

 December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 
 Units held Fair value Units held Fair value 

 # $ # $ 
AAVE 64.857 20,975 - - 
Bitcoin 18.340 1,076,584 4.892 180,638 
Cardano 64,673.896 107,402 18,290.297 4,192 
Chainlink 392.743 9,753 395.109 5,669 
Compound 48.899 12,416 - - 
Ethereum  267.536 1,248,969 91.465 85,919 
FTX Token 144.728 7,029 - - 
Litecoin - - 88.741 14,088 
Polkadot 1,593.243 53,967 - - 
Sushiswap 1,696.481 20,323 - - 
Uniswap 893.034 19,325 - - 
USD Coin 78,952.517 100,087 - - 
Zen Horizen Masternodes - - 551.000 8,137 

 148,746.274 2,676,830 19,421.504 298,643 

 
The fair value of digital assets held as at December 31, 2021 and 2020 is based on the quoted value of the digital assets 
on December 31, 2021 and 2020. 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2021 the Company recognized $18,903 (2020 - $1,915) in realized gain and $71,857 
in unrealized loss (2020 - $29,459 unrealized gain) through profit and loss, and $582,323 (2020 - $114,873) in unrealized 
gain through other comprehensive income on the digital assets. 
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7. SHARE CAPITAL 
 
a) Authorized share capital 

 
Unlimited number of common shares without par value. 
 

b) Issued and outstanding 
 

On July 29, 2021, pursuant to the closing of the Transaction, Spirit issued to Former Spirit shareholders, pro rata to their 
respective holdings of Former Spirit shares, 72,070,000 common shares at a price of $0.125 per common share in exchange 
for all of the issued and outstanding Former Spirit shares. This resulted in Former Spirit becoming a 100% wholly-owned 
subsidiary of 1284696 (Note 4). 
 
On May 31, 2021, the Company issued 1,105,000 common shares to directors and consultants of the Company for services 
provided at a fair value of $0.05 per common share for a total value of $55,250. 

 
On August 6, 2021, the Company cancelled one common share for $Nil consideration. 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company closed share offerings and private placements including: 
 2,559,999 common shares issued at a price of $0.05 per common share for gross proceeds of $128,000; 
 850,000 common shares issued with a fair value of $106,250 at a price of $0.08 per common share for gross proceeds 

of $68,000, of which $8,000 is still outstanding for collection as at December 31, 2021, the remaining $38,250 has been 
recognized as share-based compensation; and 

 26,070,000 common shares issued at a price of $0.125 per common share for gross proceeds of $3,258,750. 
 The Company received net proceeds of $3,000 and cancelled 50,000 shares (valued at $5,000) of the subscriptions 

receivable from December 31, 2020. 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company issued: 
 5,000,000 common shares at $0.05 for gross proceeds of $250,000; of which $8,000 was still outstanding for collection 

as at December 31, 2020; and 

 783,334 common shares to directors and consultants of the Company for services provided at a fair value of $0.05 per 

common share for a total of $39,167. 

c) Stock options 
 

On July 31, 2021, the Company issued 6,298,000 options to directors, officers and consultants of the Company with an 
exercise price of $0.125 per common share and an expiration date of July 31, 2026, vesting in three equal tranches annually 
on July 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024. The options were valued at $616,258 using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with 
the following assumptions:  
 
 July 31, 2021 

Risk-free interest rate 0.83% 
Expected life 5 years 
Expected volatility* 120.00% 
Forfeiture rate 0.00% 
Dividend rate 0.00% 

*Expected volatility has been estimated based on volatility of common share prices of a selection of comparable publicly 
traded companies. 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company had the following stock options outstanding: 
 

 Number of 
Options 

Weighted Average 
Exercise Price 

Outstanding and exercisable, December 31, 2019 and 2020 - $ - 
Granted 6,298,000  0.125 
Cancelled (1,766,666)  0.125 
Outstanding and exercisable, December 31, 2021 4,531,334 $ 0.125 
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7. SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 

 
The following Options were outstanding and exercisable as at December 31, 2021: 
 

Number of 
Options 

Weighted Average 
Exercise Price 

Expiry Date Remaining 
Life 
(in years) 

4,531,334 $ 0.125 July 31, 2026 4.58 
4,531,334 $ 0.125  4.58 

 
During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company recorded share-based compensation expense of $286,448 (2020 
- $nil) related to the vesting of these stock options. 

 
d) Restricted share units 

 
On July 31, 2021, the Company granted 3,149,000 RSUs to directors, officers and consultants of the Company at a price 
of $0.125, vesting in equal instalments on the July 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024. The fair value of the RSU is the market price 
at the date of grant of $0.125. During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company recorded share-based 
compensation expense of $182,530 (2020 - $nil) related to the vesting of these RSUs. As at December 31, 2021, all RSUs 
remain outstanding and are unvested.  
 
During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company had the following RSUs outstanding: 
 

 Number of 
RSUs 

Outstanding and exercisable, December 31, 2019 and 2020 - 
Granted 3,149,000 
Cancelled (883,334) 
Outstanding and exercisable, December 31, 2021 2,265,666 

 
8. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 

All related party transactions are recorded at the exchange amount which is the amount agreed to by the Company and the 

related party. 

 

Transactions with related parties for the year ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 were as follows: 

 

Creade GmbH, a company controlled by Mr. Perroulaz (Chairman, CEO and Director) was paid $191,750 (2020 - $27,883) 

in consulting fees for services provided by Mr. Perroulaz. The Company issued 275,000 (2020 - 381,667) common shares 

as part payment for these services with a fair value of $13,750 (2020 - $19,083). During the year ended December 31, 

2021, the Company issued 400,000 RSUs and 800,000 stock options to Mr. Perroulaz. 

 

Core Financial Management Limited, a company controlled by Mr. O’Neill (Director) was paid $85,250 (2020 - $20,583) in 

consulting fees for services provided by Mr. O’Neill. The Company issued 275,000 shares as part payment for these services 

(2020 - 351,667) with a fair value of $13,750 (2020 - $17,583). During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company 

issued 300,000 RSUs and 600,000 stock options to Mr. O’Neill. 

 

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company made advances of $33,406 (24,038 CHF) to an entity with 

common directors, as at December 31, 2021, the advances remain receivable and are presented in due from related party 

on the statement of financial position. The advances are unsecured, due on demand and are non-interest bearing. 

 

As at December 31, 2021 the amounts owing to related parties, include din accounts payable, was $2,599 (2020 - $nil). 
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9. INCOME TAX 
 

The Company has non-capital loss carry forward of approximately $1,127,000 which may be carried forward to apply against 

future year income tax for Canadian income tax purposes, subject to the final determination by taxation authorities. The 

non-capital losses have an expiry date range of 2038 to 2041. The Company’s Swiss subsidiary has operated at a loss 

since inception and therefore pays a fixed annual tax charge of CHF500.  

    

The following is a reconciliation of income taxes attributable to operations computed at the statutory tax rates to income tax 

recovery. 

 

 2021 2020 

 $ $ 
Profit (loss) for the year before income tax (10,186,938) (68,205) 
Statutory rate 27% 27% 
   
Expected income tax recoverable at statutory rate (2,749,358) (17,371) 
Non-deductible items for tax purposes 2,498,000 - 
Adjustments due to change in statutory tax rates, prior year returns, and 
other 163,000 19,000 
Change in unrecognized deductible temporary differences 89,000 (1,000) 
Total income tax payable 642 629 

 

The significant components of the Company’s unrecognized deferred tax assets are as follows: 

 
 2021 2020 

 $ $ 
Non-capital losses available for future period 349,000 175,000 
Digital assets and marketable securities (98,000) (13,000) 
 251,000 162,000 
Unrecognized deferred tax assets (251,000) (162,000) 
Net deferred tax asset - - 

 
 
10. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
a) Financial instrument classification 
 

The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash, amounts receivable (excluding GST and VAT receivable), marketable 
securities, due from related party and accounts payable. The Company classifies its cash and marketable securities as fair 
value through profit and loss and amounts receivable (excluding GST and VAT receivable) and due from related party as 
amortized cost. The Company’s accounts payable are classified as financial liabilities recognized at amortized cost. The 
carrying amounts of amounts receivable (excluding GST and VAT receivable), due to related parties and accounts payable 
approximate their carrying values because of the short-term nature of these instruments.  

 
b) Fair values of financial assets and liabilities 
 

The Company classifies its fair value measurements in accordance with an established hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs 
in the valuation techniques used to measure fair value as follows: 
 
i. Level 1- quoted prices in active markets for identical financial instruments. 
ii. Level 2 - quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in 

markets that are not active; and model-derived valuations in which all significant inputs and significant value drivers are 
observable in active markets. 

iii. Level 3 - valuations derived from valuation techniques in which one or more significant inputs or significant value drivers 
are unobservable. 

 
The Company’s cash and marketable securities are measured at level 1. 
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10. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 
The Company’s risk exposures and the impact on the Company’s financial instruments are summarized below: 
 
Credit risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation or commitment that it 
has entered into, causing the other party to incur a financial loss. The Company's cash, amounts receivable, due from 
related parties, digital assets, and proceeds of digital assets and marketable securities sales are exposed to credit risk. The 
Company limits its credit risk by placing its cash with high credit quality financial institutions and with cryptocurrency 
exchanges on which the Company has performed internal due diligence procedures. The Company deems these 
procedures necessary as some exchanges are unregulated and not subject to regulatory oversight. Furthermore, crypto-
exchanges engage in the practice of commingling their clients' assets in exchange wallets which results in transactions not 
being recorded on the applicable blockchain ledger, but only by the exchange. Therefore, there is risk around the occurrence 
of transactions or the existence of period end balances represented by exchanges. 

 
As at December 31, 2021, the Company held approximately $684,949 (December 31, 2020 - $89,257) in cash , $639,100 
(December 31, 2020 - $Nil) in marketable securities with an investment broker and $2,676,830 (December 31, 2020 - 
$298,643) in digital assets with a digital asset custodian. As of each reporting period, the Company assesses if there may 
be expected credit losses requiring recognition of a loss allowance. As of December 31, 2021, the Company recorded an 
allowance of $nil (December 31, 2020 - $nil). While the Company intends to only transact with counterparties or exchanges 
that it believes to be credit worthy, there can be no assurance that a counterparty will not default and that the Company will 
not sustain a material loss on a transaction as a result. 
 
Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they come due. The Company 
controls liquidity risk by ensuring that it has sufficient cash resources to pay for its financial obligations. The Company 
manages liquidity risk by restricting cash reserves to offset funds due to creditors. As at December 31, 2021, the Company 
had an unrestricted cash balance of $684,949 (December 31, 2020 - $89,257) to settle current liabilities of $278,604 
(December 31, 2020 - $33,033). Accordingly, the Company is minimally exposed to liquidity risk. 
 
Market risk 
 
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices will affect the Company's earnings or the value of its financial 
instruments. Market risk is comprised of commodity price risk and interest rate risk. The objective of market risk management 
is to manage and control exposures within acceptable limits, while maximizing returns. The Company is exposed to market 
risk through its marketable securities, a 10% decrease in market prices would result in decrease of approximately $69,000 
to the Company’s marketable securities. 
 
Interest risk 
 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes 
in market interest rates. The Company's liabilities are non-interest bearing and therefore, interest rate risk is not considered 
significant. 
 
Foreign currency risk 
 
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair values of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because they 
are denominated in currencies that differ from the respective functional currency.  

 
The Company is exposed to foreign currency risk, as certain monetary financial instruments are denominated in CHF. As 
at December 31, 2021, the carrying amounts of the Company’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets (liabilities) 
are as follows:  
  

December 31, 
2021 

December 31,  
2021 

 $ $ 
Cash  22,263 87,792 
Accounts payable (652) - 
Net financial assets 21,611 87,792 
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10. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 
The Company has cash of $22,263 and accounts payable of $652 denominated in CHF. The Company has not entered any 
foreign currency contracts to mitigate this risk. A 5% shift in exchange rates would result in a foreign exchange gain or loss 
of approximately $1,502. Accordingly, the Company is moderately exposed to foreign currency risk. 

 
11. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 
 

The Company's capital structure consists of all components of shareholders' equity. The Company's objective when 

managing capital is to maintain adequate levels of funding to support the current operations and the necessary corporate 

and administrative functions to facilitate these activities. This is done primarily through equity financing. Future financings 

are dependent on market conditions and there can be no assurance the Company will be able to raise funds in the future. 

 

The Company invests all capital that is surplus to its immediate operational needs in either Canadian dollars or Swiss francs 

in various bank accounts. There were no changes to the Company's approach to capital management during the year. The 

Company is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements. 

 
12. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

 
a) The Crypto-currencies have been volatile for some time and this volatility has continued subsequent to year-end.  The 

Company’s Digital Asset portfolio value as at the date of these financial statements has dropped by 79% ($2,117,633) 

since December 31, 2021. 

  

b) On July 31, 2022, the Company granted 1,810,667 stock options and 905,334 restricted share units to consultants, 

officers and directors of the Company, the stock options have an exercise price of $0.125 and an expiry date of July 

31, 2026. 

 

c) On July 31, 2022, the Company cancelled 620,867 stock options and 310,434 restricted share units previously issued. 
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
 

This Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) supplements, but does not form part of, the consolidated financial 
statements of Spirit Blockchain Capital Inc. (the “Company”) and the notes thereto for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 
2020 (collectively referred to hereafter as the “consolidated financial statements”). The following discussion and analysis, 
prepared by management, reviews the Company’s financial condition and results of operations for the year ended December 
31, 2021. The MD&A should be read in conjunction with the financial statements of the Company and related notes, which have 
been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) for the year ended December 31, 2021. 
This discussion provides management’s analysis of the Company’s historical financial and operating results and provides 
estimates of the Company’s future financial and operating performance based on information that is currently available. This 
MD&A is current as at July 31, 2022. 

 
OVERVIEW 

 
This MD&A has been prepared by management and reviewed by the audit committee of the board. For the purposes of preparing 
this MD&A, management, in conjunction with the board, considers the materiality of information. Information is considered 
material if: (i) such information results in, or would reasonably be expected to result in, a significant change in the market price 
or value of the Common Shares; or (ii) there is a substantial likelihood that a reasonable investor would consider it important in 
making an investment decision; or (iii) if it would significantly alter the total mix of information available to investors. Management, 
in conjunction with the board, evaluates materiality with reference to all relevant circumstances, including potential market 
sensitivity. All financial information in this MD&A has been prepared in accordance with IFRS and all dollar amounts are quoted 
in Canadian dollars, the reporting currency of the Company, unless specifically noted. 

 
DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS 

 
The Company is a financial services and infrastructure company, planning on being listed on the Canadian Stock Exchange, 
trading under the symbol “SPIR”, the Company was incorporated on January 19, 2021 pursuant to the Business Corporations 
Act (British Columbia) under the name “1284696 B.C. Ltd.” (“1284696” or “Spirit”). On July 29, 2021, it changed its name to 
“Spirit Blockchain Capital Inc.”. 

 
On July 29, 2021, 1284696’s wholly-owned subsidiary 1302186 B.C. Ltd. (“Subco”) and the predecessor entity to Holdings, Spirit 
Blockchain Capital Inc. (“Former Spirit”) completed a business combination transaction (the “Transaction”) pursuant to an 
amalgamation agreement dated July 29, 2021 between Former Spirit, Subco and 1284696 whereby: (i) 1284696 acquired all of 
the issued and outstanding securities of Former Spirit pursuant to a three-cornered amalgamation; (ii) Subco amalgamated with 
Former Spirit to form the amalgamated wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, Spirit Blockchain Holdings Inc.; and (iii) 
1284696 changed its name to “Spirit Blockchain Capital Inc.”. 

 
Effective July 29, 2021, the Transaction closed whereby Spirit issued to Former Spirit shareholders, pro rata to their respective 
holdings of Former Spirit shares, 72,070,000 Common Shares at a price of $0.125 per Common Share in exchange for all of the 
issued and outstanding Former Spirit shares. 

 
Management determined that the Transaction constituted a reverse acquisition for accounting purposes whereby Former Spirit 
acquired Spirit. For accounting purposes, Former Spirit is treated as the accounting acquirer, and Spirit (legal parent) is treated 
as the accounting acquiree in the consolidated financial statements. As Former Spirit was deemed to be the acquirer for 
accounting purposes, its assets, liabilities, and operations since incorporation are included in the financial statements at their 
historical carrying values. The Company’s results of operations are included from the transaction date, July 29, 2021. The 
comparative figures are those of Former Spirit prior to the Transaction. 

 
The Company aims to generate recurring cash flows streams through its different business units. The diversification of its 
activities will allow the Company to be less volatile than the digital asset markets. The Company want to become a value stock 
in a growing environment. 

 
The Company aims to become a leading blockchain & digital asset company focused on streaming, royalties and digital asset 
investments. The firm provides investors with a direct exposure to the sector, without the technical complexity or constraints of 
purchasing the underlying digital assets. The Company’s strategy is based upon management’s conviction that the blockchain 
and digital asset ecosystem will register significant growth and outperform traditional asset classes over the medium to long- 
term. As a result, digital assets will become an integral part of diversified portfolios. 



SPIRIT BLOCKCHAIN CAPITAL INC. (formerly 1284696 B.C. Ltd) 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 

3 

 

 

The Company’s strategy focuses on four complimentary business units: 
 

 Royalties & Streams by providing capital to blockchain ecosystem participants, where repayment of the notional takes 
place in the form of digital assets. 

 Advisory & Research Services for institutional and private investors with investment products. 
 Treasury management through balance sheet enhancement with major digital asset investments. 
 Licensing Blockchain and Digital Assets Technology products to market participants initially in Europe as well as 

providing consulting services to support these products. 
 

COVID-19 

The outbreak of the coronavirus, also known as "COVID-19", has spread across the globe and is impacting worldwide economic 
activity. Conditions surrounding the coronavirus continue to evolve and government authorities have implemented measures to 
mitigate the spread of the virus. The outbreak and the related mitigation measures may have an adverse impact on global 
economic conditions as well as on the Company’s business activities that can materially adversely affect the operations of the 
Company. As of the date of these consolidated MD&A, COVID-19 has had no impact on the Company’s ability to operate the 
business but may impact the Company’s ability to raise funding related to COVID-19 be extended or expanded in scope. 

 
REVERSE TAKEOVER TRANSACTION 

 
Upon the closing of the Transaction on July 29, 2021, Spirit issued 72,070,000 common shares of the Company to Former Spirit 
shareholders at the fair value of $0.125 per common share for a total fair value of $9,008,750. 

 
As a result of the Transaction, Spirit obtained control of the Company and is considered to have acquired the Company. The 
Transaction constituted a reverse takeover acquisition (“RTO”) of the Company by Spirit and has been accounted for as a 
reverse acquisition transaction in accordance with the guidance provided in IFRS 2, Share-based Payments, and IFRS 3, 
Business Combinations. As the Company did not qualify as a business in accordance with the definition of IFRS 3, the RTO 
does not constitute a business combination. Rather, it is treated as an issuance of common shares by Spirit for the net assets 
of the Company and its public listing, with Spirit as the continuing entity. Accordingly, no goodwill or intangible assets were 
recorded with respect to the Transaction. 

 
For accounting purposes, Spirit is treated as the accounting parent (legal subsidiary) and the Company as the accounting 
subsidiary (legal parent). The fair value of the consideration paid by Spirit, net of transaction costs, less the fair value of net 
assets of the Company acquired by Spirit constitutes the listing expense and has been recorded in the statement of loss and 
comprehensive loss. The consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 reflect the assets, 
liabilities, and operations of Spirit since its incorporation and the Company from July 29, 2021. 

 
The purchase has been allocated as follows:  

 July 29, 2021 
 

Purchase price: 
Fair value of 72,070,000 shares at $0.125 per share 

 
 

9,008,750 
Total consideration 9,008,750 

Net assets acquired 
Cash 

 
282,012 

Accounts payable (17,722) 
Total net assets 264,280 

Transaction cost 8,744,460 
 

The fair value of the 72,070,000 common shares of the Company was determined to be $0.125 per common share, based on 
the market value on the date of the Transaction. 
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MARKETABLE SECURITIES 
 

The Company has a brokerage account with PI Financial in Canada. The fair value of the Company’s marketable securities are 
as follows: 

 

December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 
 Shares held Fair value Shares held Fair value 
 # $ # $ 

Banxa Holdings Inc. 1,100 3,322 - - 
BIGG Digital Assets Inc. 12,400 12,896 - - 
Bitfarms Ltd. 7,678 48,986 - - 
Coinbase Global Inc. 290 92,787 - - 
Defi Technologies Inc. 7,500 22,650 - - 
Galaxy Digital Ltd. 3,890 88,109   

Hive Blockchain Technologies Ltd. 7,000 23,170 - - 
Hut 8 Mining Corp. 7,937 78,814 - - 
Marathon Digital Holdings Inc. 1,958 81,570 - - 
Neptune Digital Assets 3,000 1,740 - - 
Riot Blockchain Inc. 925 26,187 - - 
Signature Bank 75 30,757 - - 
Silvergate Capital Corp. 620 116,491 - - 
Voyager Digital 736 11,621   

 55,109 639,100 - - 
 

The cost of the Company’s marketable securities are as follows: 
 

December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 
 Shares held Cost Shares held Cost 
 

Banxa Holdings Inc. 
# 

1,100 
$ 

2,503 
# 
- 

$ 
- 

BIGG Digital Assets Inc. 12,400 14,894 - - 
Bitfarms Ltd. 7,678 56,620 - - 
Coinbase Global Inc. 290 92,182 - - 
Defi Technologies Inc. 7,500 10,030 - - 
Galaxy Digital Ltd. 3,890 77,081   

Hive Blockchain Technologies Ltd. 7,000 20,640 - - 
Hut 8 Mining Corp. 7,937 49,273 - - 
Marathon Digital Holdings Inc. 1,958 83,348 - - 
Neptune Digital Assets 3,000 3,300 - - 
Riot Blockchain Inc. 925 44,147 - - 
Signature Bank 75 30,136 - - 
Silvergate Capital Corp. 620 80,474 - - 
Voyager Digital 736 14,484 - - 

 55,109 579,112 - - 
 

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company recognized an unrealized gain of $59,990 (2021 - $nil) and realized 
gain of $19,381 (2020 - $nil). 

 
The total fair value of marketable securities have been classified as current items on the statement of financial position. 
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DIGITAL ASSETS 
 

The carrying amounts reported in the audited consolidated balance sheet for the current financial assets and liabilities, which 
includes accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate fair values due to the immediate or short-term maturities of these 
financial instruments. 

 
The Company has a digital asset custody account with Crypto Finance AG in Zurich, Switzerland Digital currencies are recorded 
at their fair value on the date they are received and are revalued to their current market value at each reporting date. The fair 
market value is obtained from Coinmarketcap.com. As at December 31, 2021, the fair market value of the Company’s digital 
assets is as follows: 

 

December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 
 Units held Fair value Units held Fair value 
 # $ # $ 

AAVE 64.857 20,975 - - 
Bitcoin 18.340 1,076,584 4.892 180,638 
Cardano 64,673.896 107,402 18,290.297 4,192 
Chainlink 392.743 9,753 395.109 5,669 
Compound 48.899 12,416 - - 
Ethereum 267.536 1,248,969 91.465 85,919 
FTX Token 144.728 7,029 - - 
Litecoin - - 88.741 14,088 
Polkadot 1,593.243 53,967 - - 
Sushiswap 1,696.481 20,323 - - 
Uniswap 893.034 19,325 - - 
USD Coin 78,952.517 100,087 - - 
Zen Horizen Masternodes - - 551.000 8,137 
Total 148,746.274 2,676,830 19,421.504 298,643 

 
The fair value of digital assets held as at December 31, 2021 and 2020 is based on the quoted value of the digital assets on 
December 31, 2021 and 2020. 

 
During the year ended December 31, 2021 the Company recognized $18,903 (2020 - $1,915) in realized gain and $71,857 in 
unrealized loss (2020 - $29,459 unrealized gain) through profit and loss, and $582,323 (2020 - $114,873) in unrealized gain 
through other comprehensive income on the digital assets. 

 
OVERALL PERFORMANCE AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

 
The following table summarizes selected information from the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements for the years 
ended December 31, 2021, and 2020. 

 
 2021 2020 
 $ $ 

Financial results 
Net loss for the year 

 
(10,187,580) 

 
(68,834) 

Basic and diluted loss per share (0.18) (0.00) 
 

Financial position Total assets 
 
 

4,043,426 

 
 

396,406 
Total liabilities 278,604 33,033 
Working capital surplus 3,764,822 363,373 
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The following table summarizes the results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2021 and 2020: 
 

   2021 2020 

  $ $ 
Operating expenses     

Audit and accounting fees  6,401 23,000 
Bank charges  735 734 
Consulting fees  584,385 59,789 
Filing fees  12,478 - 
Legal and professional fees  300,332 10,075 
Marketing and events  8,399 380 
Office expenses  12,578 2,529 
Share-based compensation  507,228 - 
Website and communication expenses  5,845 2,940 

   (1,438,381) (99,447) 
Other income (expenses)    

Listing fee  (8,744,460) - 
Foreign exchange loss  (30,514) (132) 
Realized gain on marketable securities  19,381 - 
Unrealized gain on marketable securities  59,990 - 
Realized gain on digital assets  18,903 1,915 
Unrealized (loss) gain on digital assets  (71,857) 29,459 

  (8,748,557) 31,242 
    
Loss before income taxes  (10,186,938) (68,205) 
    

Current income tax expense  (642) (629) 
Net loss for the year  (10,187,580) (68,834) 
    
Other comprehensive income (loss)    

Loss on foreign currency translation  (14,272) - 
Unrealized gain on digital assets  582,323 114,873 

Comprehensive (loss) income for the year  (9,619,529) 46,039 

 

Year ended December 31, 2021 compared to the year ended December 31, 2020 
 

Net loss was $10,187,580 (2020 - $68,834), a change of $10,118,746 from prior year due to increase in certain expenses related 
to the process to take the Company public during the year ended December 31, 2021, mainly contributed by transaction cost of 
$8,744,460. 

 
During the year ended December 31, 2021, the loss before other income was $1,438,381 (2020 - $99,447) an increase of 
$1,338,934. Changes in operations are mainly attributed to the following: 

 
• Consulting fees were $584,385 (2020 - $59,789), an increase of $524,596 due to additional market advisory and 

administration costs. 
• Legal and professional fees were $300,332 (2020 - $10,075), an increase of $290,257. The increase was mainly due to 

additional legal expenses related to the amalgamation and the process to take the Company public. 
• Share-based compensation was $507,228 (2020 - $nil), due to no stock options or restricted shares units were issued in 

the prior year. 
• Audit and tax fees were $6,401 (2020 - $23,000), a decrease of $16,599 related to the process to take the Company 

public during the year ended December 31, 2021. 
 

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 
 

The Company has sufficient working capital to continue operations in the normal course of business for the foreseeable future. 
The Company controls liquidity risk by ensuring that it has sufficient cash resources to pay for its financial obligations. The 
Company manages liquidity risk by restricting cash reserves to offset funds due to creditors. 

 
As at December 31, 2021, the Company had a cash and cash equivalent balance of $684,949 (December 31, 2020 - $89,257) 
to settle current liabilities of $278,604 (December 31, 2020 - $33,033). Accordingly, the Company is minimally exposed to liquidity 
risk. 
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CAPITAL DISCLOSURES 

The Company's capital structure consists of all components of shareholders' equity. The Company's objective when managing 
capital is to maintain adequate levels of funding to support the current operations and the necessary corporate and administrative 
functions to facilitate these activities. This is done primarily through equity financing. Future financings are dependent on market 
conditions and there can be no assurance the Company will be able to raise funds in the future. 

 
The Company invests all capital that is surplus to its immediate operational needs in either Canadian dollars or Swiss francs in 
various bank accounts. There were no changes to the Company's approach to capital management during the year. The 
Company is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements. 

 
RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS 

 
All related party transactions are recorded at the exchange amount which is the amount agreed to by the Company and the 
related party. 

 
Transactions with related parties for the year ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 were as follows: 

 
Creade GmbH, a company controlled by Mr. Perroulaz (Chairman, CEO and Director) was paid $191,750 (2020 - $27,883) in 
consulting fees for services provided by Mr. Perroulaz. The Company issued 275,000 (2020 - 381,667) common shares as part 
payment for these services with a fair value of $13,750 (2020 - $19,083). During the year ended December 31, 2021, the 
Company issued 400,000 RSUs and 800,000 stock options to Mr. Perroulaz. 

 
Core Financial Management Limited, a company controlled by Mr. O’Neill (Director) was paid $85,250 (2020 - $20,583) in 
consulting fees for services provided by Mr. O’Neill. The Company issued 275,000 shares as part payment for these services 
(2020 - 351,667) with a fair value of $13,750 (2020 - $17,583). During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company issued 
300,000 RSUs and 600,000 stock options to Mr. O’Neill. 

 
During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company made advances of $33,406 (24,038 CHF) to an entity with common 
directors, as at December 31, 2021, the advances remain receivable and are presented in due from related party on the 
statement of financial position. The advances are unsecured, due on demand and are non-interest bearing. 

 
As at December 31, 2021 the amounts owing to related parties was $2,599 (2020 - $nil). 
 
SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

 
The Crypto-currencies have been volatile for some time and this volatility has continued subsequent to year-end. The Company’s 
Digital Asset portfolio value as at the date of these financial statements has dropped by 79% ($2,117,633) since December 31, 
2021. 
 
On July 31, 2022, the Company granted 1,810,667 stock options and 905,334 restricted share units to consultants, officers and 
directors of the Company, the stock options have an exercise price of $0.125 and an expiry date of July 31, 2026. 
 
On July 31, 2022, the Company cancelled 620,867 stock options and 310,434 restricted share units previously issued. 

 
PROPOSED TRANSACTIONS 

 
As at the date of these MD&A, the Company has no proposed transactions. 

 
OUTSTANDING SHARES DATA 

 
As at the date of this MD&A, the Company had: 

 
• 85,817,000 (December 31, 2021 - 85,817,000) common shares issued and outstanding; 
• 4,531,334 (December 31, 2021 - 4,531,334) stock options; and 
• 2,265,666 (December 31, 2021 - 2,265,666) restricted share units outstanding. 

 
OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS 

 
As at the date of these MD&A, the Company has no off-balance sheet arrangements. 
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES 

 
The preparation of financial statements requires management to establish accounting policies, estimates and assumptions that 
affect the timing and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. These estimates are based on historical 
experience and on various other assumptions that management believes to be reasonable under the circumstances and require 
judgment on matters which are inherently uncertain. Details of the Company’s significant accounting policies can be found in note 
3 of the audited annual financial statements for years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020. 

 
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT 

 
Financial instrument classification 

 
The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable (excluding GST and VAT 
receivable) and accounts payable. The Company classifies its cash and cash equivalents as fair value through profit and loss 
and accounts receivable (excluding GST and VAT receivable) as amortized cost. The Company’s accounts payable are 
classified as financial liabilities recognized at amortized cost. The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, accounts 
receivable (excluding GST and VAT receivable) and accounts payable approximate their carrying values because of the short- 
term nature of these instruments. 

 
Fair values of financial assets and liabilities 

 
The Company classifies its fair value measurements in accordance with an established hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs in 
the valuation techniques used to measure fair value as follows: 

 
i. Level 1- quoted prices in active markets for identical financial instruments. 
ii. Level 2 - quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in 
markets that are not active; and model-derived valuations in which all significant inputs and significant value drivers are 
observable in active markets. 
iii. Level 3 - valuations derived from valuation techniques in which one or more significant inputs or significant value drivers 
are unobservable. 

 
The Company’s risk exposures and the impact on the Company’s financial instruments are summarized below: 

 
Credit risk 

 

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation or commitment that it has 
entered into, causing the other party to incur a financial loss. The Company's cash and cash equivalents, amounts receivable, 
due from related parties, digital assets, and proceeds of digital assets and marketable securities sales are exposed to credit risk. 
The Company limits its credit risk by placing its cash with high credit quality financial institutions and with cryptocurrency 
exchanges on which the Company has performed internal due diligence procedures. The Company deems these procedures 
necessary as some exchanges are unregulated and not subject to regulatory oversight. Furthermore, crypto-exchanges engage 
in the practice of commingling their clients' assets in exchange wallets which results in transactions not being recorded on the 
applicable blockchain ledger, but only by the exchange. Therefore, there is risk around the occurrence of transactions or the 
existence of period end balances represented by exchanges. 

As at December 31, 2021, the Company held approximately $684,949 (December 31, 2020 - $89,257) in cash and cash 
equivalents, $639,100 (December 31, 2020 - $Nil) in marketable securities with an investment broker and $2,676,830 (December 
31, 2020 - $298,643) in digital assets with a digital asset custodian. As of each reporting period, the Company assesses if there 
may be expected credit losses requiring recognition of a loss allowance. As of December 31, 2021, the Company recorded an 
allowance of $nil (December 31, 2020 - $nil). While the Company intends to only transact with counterparties or exchanges that 
it believes to be credit worthy, there can be no assurance that a counterparty will not default and that the Company will not 
sustain a material loss on a transaction as a result. 

 
Liquidity risk 

 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they come due. The Company 
controls liquidity risk by ensuring that it has sufficient cash resources to pay for its financial obligations. The Company manages 
liquidity risk by restricting cash reserves to offset funds due to creditors. As at December 31, 2021, the Company had an 
unrestricted cash balance of $684,949 (December 31, 2020 - $89,257) to settle current liabilities of $278,604 (December 31, 
2020 - $33,033). Accordingly, the Company is minimally exposed to liquidity risk. 
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Market risk 

 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices will affect the Company's earnings or the value of its financial instruments. 
Market risk is comprised of commodity price risk and interest rate risk. The objective of market risk management is to manage 
and control exposures within acceptable limits, while maximizing returns. The Company is not exposed to significant market risk. 

 
Interest risk 

 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
market interest rates. The Company's liabilities are non-interest bearing and therefore, interest rate risk is not considered 
significant. 

 
Foreign currency risk 

 

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair values of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because they are 
denominated in currencies that differ from the respective functional currency. 

 
The Company is exposed to foreign currency risk, as certain monetary financial instruments are denominated in CHF. As at 
December 31, 2021, the carrying amounts of the Company’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets (liabilities) are as 
follows: 

 
 December 31, December 31, 

2021 2021 
 

Cash and cash equivalents 
$ 

22,263 
$ 

87,792 
Accounts payable (652) - 
Net financial assets 21,611 87,792 

 
The Company has cash and cash equivalents of $22,263 and accounts payable of $652 denominated in CHF. The Company 
has not entered any foreign currency contracts to mitigate this risk. A 5% shift in exchange rates would result in a foreign 
exchange gain or loss of approximately $1,502. Accordingly, the Company assessed its financial currency risk as low as at 
December 31, 2021. 

 
RISK FACTORS 

 
These risk factors are not exhaustive. Due to the high growth of, and maturing marketplace around, blockchain technologies 
and digital asset markets in general, and the nature of the Company’s proposed business plan, the following risk factors, among 
others, will apply: 

 
Fluctuation of digital asset prices 

 
Digital asset market technology is a development stage technology and digital assets are a class of assets that not widely held, 
difficult to purchase and store securely and not fully regulated. As result of these variables, the pricing of digital assets is highly 
volatile which will affect the value of staked digital assets and block reward payouts over time. 

Blockchain technology 
 

Most of the blockchain network are in a development stage ecosystem with many stakeholders including miners, investors, 
nodes and/or staking pools, and other ecosystem participants. Due to the decentralised and development stage nature of 
blockchain, the Company cannot forecast what changes will occur to the structure of these blockchain over time, and how 
protocol upgrades will affect the valuation of the Company’s hardware infrastructure assets and underlying crypto currencies. 

 
Collusion and third-party attacks 

 
By its very nature blockchain technologies are decentralized and subject to possible manipulation. This includes the risk of a 
51% attack on a blockchain mining network hashing power, where a malicious third party is able to reverse transactions on the 
blockchain through centralised control of an entire blockchain mining power. Although considered remote, a 51% attack, and 
other malicious attempts to control, attack, or manipulate a particular blockchain is outside of the management’s control. 

 
Security risks 

 
Given the immutable nature of blockchain technologies, a risk exists that a malicious third party could attempt to hack or steal 
the Company’s tokens or other digital assets deposited by the Company at a third party (custodian) and the Company may be 
unable to recover them. 
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Uninsured or uninsurable risks 

 
The Company’s blockchain assets are uninsured and are susceptible to total loss in the event of a theft, security breach, 
employee error or IT malfunction. The Company takes every available precaution to reduce the risk of blockchain asset losses 
due to theft, security breach, employee error or IT malfunction. 

 
Financing risks 

 
The Company has limited financial resources, has no source of operating cashflow and has no assurance that additional funding 
will be available to provide capital to blockchain ecosystem participants or to invest in blockchain assets or companies. Failure 
to raise additional financing could result in a delay or indefinite postponement of further technological investment in the 
blockchain ecosystem. 

 
No assurance of profitability 

 
The Company has a limited operating history on which an investor might evaluate its performance. It is therefore subject to many 
of the risks common to early-stage enterprises, including undercapitalization, cash shortages, limitations with respect to 
personnel and financing sources and lack of revenues, any of which could have a material adverse effect on the Company and 
may force it to reduce or curtail its operations. The Company is not currently profitable and has incurred operating losses since 
its inception. 

 
Dilution to the Company’s existing shareholders 

 
The Company may require additional equity financing to be raised in the future. The Company may issue securities at less than 
favorable terms to raise sufficient capital to fund its business plan. Any transaction involving the issuance of common Shares or 
securities convertible into common Shares would result in dilution, possibly substantial, to present and prospective holders of 
common Shares. 

 
Increased costs 

 
Management anticipates the costs of mining equipment could increase over time if demand for cryptocurrency increases. This 
will result in increased capital costs to purchase sufficient blockchain assets or mining equipment. 

 
Operational risks 

 
Operational risk is the risk of an adverse outcome resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people, systems or 
external events. The Company’s exposure to operational risk arises from routine processing errors, as well as extraordinary 
incidents, such as major systems failures or legal and regulatory matters. 

 
Because the Company’s business lines are reliant on both technology and human expertise and execution, the Company is 
exposed to material operational risk arising from a number of factors, including, but not limited to, human error, processing and 
communication errors, errors of third-party service providers, counterparties or other third parties, failed or inadequate 
processes, design flaws and technology or system failures and malfunctions. 

Government regulation 
 

Blockchain technology assets are a new and emerging asset class of which the regulatory and taxation policies related to the 
purchase, sale, trading, and ownership of digital tokens may change over time, and as result may have a direct impact on the 
Company’s assets and operating cashflows. 

 
Irrevocability of transactions 

 
Digital asset transactions are irrevocable and stolen or incorrectly transferred cryptocurrencies may be irretrievable. Once a 
transaction has been verified and recorded in a block that is added to the blockchain, an incorrect transfer or theft generally will 
not be reversible, and the Company may not be capable of seeking compensation. 

 
Market risk 

 
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices will affect the Company's earnings or the value of its financial instruments. 
Market risk is comprised of commodity price risk and interest rate risk. 
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Credit risk 

 
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation or commitment that it has 
entered into, causing the other party to incur a financial loss. The Company's cash and cash equivalents, digital currencies, due 
from related parties and proceeds of coin sale are exposed to credit risk. 

 
Interest rate risk 

 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
market interest rates. 

 
Foreign currency risk 

 
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair values of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because they are 
denominated in currencies that differ from the respective functional currency. 

 
Liquidity risk 

 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they come due. 

 
Digital asset risk 

 
Digital assets are measured at fair value less cost to sell. Digital currency or digital asset prices are affected by various forces 
including global supply and demand, interest rates, exchanges rates, inflation or deflation and the political and economic 
conditions. Further, cryptocurrencies have no underlying backing or contracts to enforce recovery of invested amounts. 

 
The Company may not be able to liquidate its inventory of cryptocurrencies at its desired price if necessary. Prices of 
cryptocurrencies are volatile and market movements are difficult to predict. Supply and demand for such currencies change 
rapidly and are affected by a variety of factors, including regulation and general economic trends. 

 
Digital assets have a limited history; their fair values have historically been volatile and the value of cryptocurrencies held by the 
Company could decline rapidly. A decline in the market prices of digital assets could negatively impact the Company's future 
operations. Historical performance of digital assets is not indicative of their future performance. 

 
Many digital asset networks are online end-user-to-end-user networks that host a public transaction ledger (blockchain) and the 
source code that comprises the basis for the cryptographic and algorithmic protocols governing such networks. 

 
In many digital asset transactions, the recipient or the buyer must provide its public key, which serves as an address for a digital 
wallet, to the seller. In the data packets distributed from digital asset software programs to confirm transaction activity, each 
party to the transaction user must sign transactions with a data code derived from entering the private key into a hashing 
algorithm, which signature serves as validation that the transaction has been authorized by the owner of the respective digital 
asset. This process is vulnerable to hacking and malware and could lead to theft of the Company's digital wallets and the loss 
of the Company's digital assets. 

Digital assets are loosely regulated and there is no central marketplace for exchange. Supply is determined by a computer code, 
not a central bank. Additionally, exchanges may suffer from operational issues, such as delayed execution, that could have an 
adverse effect on the Company. 

 
The crypto asset exchanges on which the Company uses are relatively new and, in many cases, largely unregulated, and 
therefore may be more exposed to fraud and failure than regulated exchanges for other assets. 

 
Any financial, security, or operational difficulties experienced by such exchanges may result in an inability of the Company to 
recover money or digital assets being held on the exchange. Further, the Company may be unable to recover digital assets 
awaiting transmission into or out of the Company, all of which could adversely affect an investment of the Company. 
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 Note 
March 31, 

2022 
December 31, 

2021 

  $ $ 
ASSETS    

Current assets    

Cash   335,445 684,949 
Amounts receivable  19,255 9,141 
Marketable securities 6 527,831 639,100 
Digital assets 7 2,432,601 2,676,830 
Due from related party 9 60,910 33,406 

  3,376,042 4,043,426 
    
Digital assets - Long-term 7 161,242 - 
Total assets  3,537,284 4,043,426 
    
LIABILITIES    
Current liabilities    

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 9 410,948 278,604 
Total liabilities  410,948 278,604 
    
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY    
Share capital 8 13,810,835 13,810,835 
Share subscriptions receivable 8 - (8,000) 
Contributed surplus 8 557,110 468,978 
Accumulated other comprehensive income  482,512 682,924 
Deficit  (11,724,121) (11,189,915) 
Total shareholders’ equity  3,126,336 3,764,822 
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity  3,537,284 4,043,426 

 
Nature of operations and going concern (note 1) 
Subsequent events (note 12) 
 
These condensed interim consolidated financial statements are approved and authorized for issuance on behalf the Board of 
Directors on July 31, 2022. 

 
   

/s/ Erich Perroulaz  /s/ Raymond O’Neill 
Director  Director 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed interim consolidated financial statements. 



SPIRIT BLOCKCHAIN CAPITAL INC. (formerly 1284696 B.C. Ltd.) 
Condensed Interim Consolidated Statements of Loss and Comprehensive Loss 
For the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 
(Unaudited - Expressed in Canadian dollars, except number of shares) 

2 

 

 
  Note 2022 2021 

  $ $ 
Operating expenses     

Audit and tax fees  21,755 - 
Bank charges  115 145 
Consulting fees 9 197,832 27,000 
Legal and professional fees  65,603 - 
Office expenses  6,005 1,751 
Share-based compensation 8, 9 96,132 - 

   (387,442) (28,896) 
Other income (expenses)    

Foreign exchange gain (loss)  (7,180) (40) 
Dividend income  48 - 
Other income 7 11,521 - 
Unrealized gains (losses) on marketable securities 6 (108,045) - 
Realized gains (losses) on digital assets 7 (18,190) 25,766 
Unrealized gains (losses) on digital assets 7 (24,226) - 

  (146,072) 25,726 
    
Loss before income taxes  (533,514) (3,170) 
    

Current income tax expense  (692) - 
Net loss for the period  (534,206) (3,170) 
    
Other comprehensive (loss) income     

Loss on foreign currency translation  (72,418) (28,396) 
Unrealized (loss) gain on digital assets 7 (127,994) 344,481 

Comprehensive (loss) income for the period  (734,618) 312,915 

    
Loss per common share    

Basic and diluted  (0.01) (0.00) 
    
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding    

Basic and diluted  85,817,000 42,044,012 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed interim consolidated financial statements. 
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  2022 2021 

 $ $ 
Operating activities   

Net loss for the period (534,206) (3,170) 
Items not affecting cash:   

Share-based compensation 96,132 - 
Other income (2,025) - 
Foreign exchange loss 7,180 40 
Unrealized losses on marketable securities 108,045 - 
Realized losses on digital assets 18,190 (25,766) 
Unrealized losses on digital assets 55,841 - 

Changes in non-cash working capital items   
Amounts receivable (10,114) 1,185 
Prepaid expenses - 3,173 
Due from related party (27,504) - 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 132,345 4,937 

Net cash used in operating activities (156,116) (19,601) 

   
Investing activities   

Purchase of marketable securities - (60,000) 
Sale of digital assets 134,577 39,516 
Purchase of digital assets (291,534) (39,516) 

Net cash used in investing activities (156,957) (60,000) 
   
Financing activities   

Proceeds from issuance of shares - 25,000 
Net cash provided by financing activities - 25,000 
   
Impact of foreign exchange on cash (36,431) (2,988) 
   
Decrease in cash (349,504) (57,589) 
Cash, beginning of the period 684,949 89,257 
Cash, end of the period 335,445 31,668 

   
   
Supplemental cash flow information   

Interest paid (115) (145) 
Income taxes paid (692) - 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed interim consolidated financial statements. 
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Number of 
shares 

 
 
 

Share capital 

 
Share 

subscriptions 
receivable 

Contributed 
surplus 

Accumulated 
other 

comprehensive 
income (loss) 

 
 
 

Deficit 

 
Total 

shareholders’ 
equity 

 # $ $ $ $ $ $ 
Balance, December 31, 2020 41,535,001 1,258,835 (8,000) - 114,873 (1,002,335) 363,373 
Shares issued for cash 600,000 30,000 (5,000) - - - 25,000 
Unrealized gain on digital assets - - - - 344,481 - 344,481 
Net loss for the period - - - - (28,396) (3,170) (31,566) 
Balance, March 31, 2021 42,135,001 1,288,835 (13,000) - 430,958 (1,005,505) 701,288 
Shares issued for cash 28,879,999 3,463,000 (3,000) - - - 3,460,000 
Shares issued for services 1,105,000 55,250 - - - - 55,250 
Net proceeds received for subscriptions 

receivable - - 3,000 - - - 3,000 
Cancellation of shares (50,000) (5,000) 5,000 - - - - 
Removal of Spirit Blockchain Holdings Inc.  

shares capital due to acquisition (72,070,000) - - - - - - 
Spirit Blockchain Capital Inc. common  

shares exchanged for common shares 
of Spirit Blockchain Holdings Inc.  72,070,000 - - - - - - 

Common shares deemed issued on  
reverse takeover 13,747,001 9,008,750 - - - - 9,008,750 

Cancellation of common share (1) - - - - - - 
Share-based compensation - - - 468,978 - - 468,978 
Unrealized gains on digital assets - - - - 237,842 - 237,842 
Net loss for the period - - - - 14,124 (10,184,410) (10,170,286) 
Balance, December 31, 2021 85,817,000 13,810,835 (8,000) 468,978 682,924 (11,189,915) 3,764,822 
Share-based compensation - - 8,000 88,132 - - 96,132 
Unrealized loss on digital assets - - - - (127,994) - (127,994) 
Net loss for the period - - - - (72,418) (534,206) (606,624) 
Balance, March 31, 2022 85,817,000 13,810,835 - 557,110 482,512 (11,724,121) 3,126,336 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed interim consolidated financial statements. 
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1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND GOING CONCERN 

 
Spirit Blockchain Capital Inc. (formerly 1284696 B.C. Ltd) (the “Company”) was incorporated under the Business 
Corporations Act on January 19, 2021 in British Columbia, Canada. The purpose of the Company is to offer products and 
services to the digital assets and blockchain ecosphere. The Company holds a portfolio of crypto-currencies, some of which 
it has Staked, and invests in other listed companies operating in this ecosphere. The Company also provides blockchain 
and advisory services to third parties. The Company can mine crypto-currencies, lend both FIAT and Crypto Coins 
(Royalties and Streaming), provide consulting service and undertake M&A activity. 
 
Reverse takeover 

 
1284696 B.C. Ltd (“1284696” or “Spirit”) was incorporated on January 19, 2021 under the Business Corporations Act of 
British Columbia. On July 29, 2021, 1284696’s wholly-owned subsidiary 1302186 B.C. Ltd. (“Subco”) and the predecessor 
entity to Spirit Blockchain Holdings Inc. (“Holdings”), Spirit Blockchain Capital Inc. (“Former Spirit”) completed a business 
combination transaction (the “Transaction”) pursuant to an amalgamation agreement dated July 29, 2021 between Former 
Spirit, Subco and 1284696 whereby: (i) 1284696 acquired all of the issued and outstanding securities of Former Spirit 
pursuant to a three-cornered amalgamation; (ii) Subco amalgamated with Former Spirit to form the amalgamated wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, Spirit Blockchain Holdings Inc.; and (iii) 1284696 changed its name to “Spirit Blockchain 
Capital Inc.”. 
 
Effective July 29, 2021, the Transaction closed whereby Spirit issued to Former Spirit shareholders, pro rata to their 
respective holdings of Former Spirit shares, 72,070,000 Common Shares at a price of $0.125 per Common Share in 
exchange for all of the issued and outstanding Former Spirit shares. 
 
Management determined that the Transaction constituted a reverse acquisition for accounting purposes whereby Former 
Spirit acquired Spirit. For accounting purposes, Former Spirit is treated as the accounting acquirer, and Spirit (legal parent) 
is treated as the accounting acquiree in these condensed interim consolidated financial statements. As Former Spirit was 
deemed to be the acquirer for accounting purposes, its assets, liabilities, and operations since incorporation are included in 
these financial statements at their historical carrying values. The Company’s results of operations are included from the 
transaction date, July 29, 2021. The comparative figures are those of Former Spirit prior to the Transaction. 
 
Going concern 
 
These condensed interim consolidated financial statements (the “financial statements”) have been prepared on a going 
concern basis, which assumes that the Company will be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the ordinary 
course of business in the foreseeable future. Historically, the Company has not earned sufficient income to finance day-to-
day activities through operations. The Company’s ability to continue on a going concern basis is dependent upon its ability 
to generate future cash flows or raise equity capital or borrowings sufficient to meet current and future obligations.  
 
As at March 31, 2022, the Company has working capital of $2,965,094 (December 31, 2021 - $3,764,822), has not yet 
achieved profitable operations, and has an accumulated deficit of $11,724,121 (December 31, 2021 - $11,189,915). These 
factors indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. Management intends to finance operating costs over the next twelve months with equity 
financing including private placements of common shares, potential debt financing, and the generation of revenue; however, 
there can be no assurance that this will occur. These financial statements do not reflect adjustments would be necessary if 
the going concern assumption were not appropriate, which could be material. 
 
The outbreak of the coronavirus, also known as "COVID-19”, has spread across the globe and is impacting worldwide 
economic activity. Conditions surrounding the coronavirus continue to evolve and government authorities have implemented 
measures to mitigate the spread of the virus. The outbreak and the related mitigation measures may have an adverse 
impact on global economic conditions as well as on the Company’s business activities that can materially adversely affect 
the operations of the Company. As of the date of these financial statement, COVID-19 has had no impact on the Company’s 
ability to operate the business but may impact the Company’s ability to raise funding related to COVID-19 be extended or 
expanded in scope. 
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 
 

Statement of compliance 
 
These financial statements, including comparatives, have been prepared in accordance with International Accounting 
Standard 34 Interim Financial Reporting, using the principles of International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by 
the International Accounting Standards Board and the interpretations of the International Financial Reporting Interpretations 
Committee. These financial statements do not include all disclosures required for annual audited financial statements. 
Accordingly, they should be read in conjunction with the notes to the Company’s audited financial statements for the year 
ended December 31, 2021 (the “annual financial statements”), which include the information necessary or useful to 
understanding the Company’s business and financial statement presentation. In particular, the Company’s use of 
judgements and estimates and significant accounting policies were presented in note 3 of those annual financial statements 
and have been consistently applied in the preparation of these financial statements. 
 
These financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on July 31, 2022. 

 
Basis of presentation 
 
These financial statements are expressed in Canadian dollars and have been prepared on a historical cost basis except for 
certain financial instruments that have been measured at fair value. The accounting policies set out below have been applied 
consistently to all periods presented in these financial statements as if the policies have always been in effect.  
 
Functional and presentation currency 
 
These financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars (“CAD”), except as otherwise noted.  
 
The functional currency is the currency of the primary economic environment in which an entity operates. The functional 
currency of the Company is CAD. The functional currency of the Company’s wholly-owned Canadian subsidiary, Spirit 
Blockchain Holdings Inc., is CAD. The functional currency of the Company’s wholly-owned Swiss subsidiary, Spirit 
Blockchain AG, is the Swiss Franc (“CHF”). 
 
Basis of consolidation 

 
These financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and the Company’s wholly owned 
subsidiaries, Spirit Blockchain Holdings Inc. based in Canada, and Spirit Blockchain AG based in Switzerland.  

 
Control exists when the Company has the power, directly or indirectly, to govern the financial and operating policies of an 
entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. The financial statements of the Company’s subsidiaries are included in 
these financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. All intercompany 
transactions and balances have been eliminated. 

 
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

In the preparation of these financial statements, the Company has used the same accounting policies and methods of 
computation as in the most recent audited annual financial statements for the Company for the year ended December 31, 
2021. 
 
Revenue recognition  
 
Other income from staking 

 
The Company receives digital currency from a specific network in which it participates. Other income is measured based 
on the fair value of the currencies received. The fair value is determined using the hourly volume weighted average price 
from www.coinmarketcap.com on the date of receipt. The currencies are earned on the completion of assets staking, at 
which time the economic benefit is received and can be reliably measured. 
 
Other income from staking is presented as part of other income as management deems this as part of its ancillary 
operations. 
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS 
 

In the application of the Company’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgments, estimates and 
assumptions about the carrying amount and classification of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other 
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are 
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 
 
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revisions affect only that period, or in the period of the revision 
and future periods, if the revision affects both current and future periods. 
 
Valuation of digital assets 
 
Digital assets consist of cryptocurrency denominated assets included in current assets and the assets that the Company 
has the intent on holding more than the next 12 months for the generating of staking income stream, that are included in 
long-term assets (note 7). Digital currencies are carried at their fair market value determined by the spot rate based on 
volume weighted average from www.coinmarketcap.com. The digital currency market is still a new market and is highly 
volatile; historical prices are not necessarily indicative of future value; a significant change in the market prices for digital 
currencies would have a significant impact on the Company’s earnings and financial position. In addition, management 
estimates that selling costs will be nominal. Digital currency prices are affected by various forces including global supply 
and demand, interest rates, exchange rates, inflation or deflation and the global political and economic conditions. A decline 
in the market prices for digital currency could negatively impact the Company’s future operations. The Company has not 
hedged the conversion of any of its digital assets. 
 
The Company is required to make significant assumptions and judgements as to its accounting policies and the application 
thereof which is disclosed in the notes to these financial statements. If specific guidance is enacted by the IASB in the 
future, the impact may result in changes to the Company’s profit or loss and financial position as currently presented. 
 
Valuation of share-based compensation 
 
The Company utilizes the Black-Scholes option pricing model (“Black-Scholes”) to estimate fair value of the options granted 
to directors, employees and consultants while RSU’s are valued at the fair value on the date of grant. The use of Black-
Scholes requires management to make various estimates and assumptions that impact the value assigned to the options 
including the forecast future volatility of the stock price, the risk-free interest rate, dividend yield and the expected life of the 
options. Any changes in these assumptions could have a material impact on the share-based compensation calculation 
value; however the most significant estimate is the volatility. Expected future volatility can be difficult to estimate as the 
Company has had limited history and is in a unique industry, and historical volatility in not necessarily indicative of future 
volatility.  
 
Going concern evaluation 
 
As discussed in note 1, these financial statements have been prepared under the assumptions applicable to a going 
concern. If the going concern assumption were not appropriate for these financial statements then adjustments would be 
necessary to the carrying value of assets and liabilities, the reported expenses and the statement of financial position 
classifications used, and such adjustments could be material. 
 
The Company reviews the going concern assessment at the end of each reporting period. There were no material changes 
to the assessment as at March 31, 2022. 

  



SPIRIT BLOCKCHAIN CAPITAL INC. (formerly 1284696 B.C. Ltd.) 
Notes to the Condensed Interim Consolidated Financial Statements  
For the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 
(Unaudited - Expressed in Canadian dollars, except where noted) 

8 

 

 
5. REVERSE TAKEOVER TRANSACTION 
 

Upon the closing of the Transaction on July 29, 2021, outlined in note 1, the Company issued 72,070,000 common shares 
to Former Spirit shareholders at the fair value of $0.125 per common share for a total fair value of $9,008,750. 
 
As a result of the Transaction, Former Spirit obtained control of the Company and is considered to have acquired the 
Company. The Transaction constituted a reverse takeover acquisition of the Company by Former Spirit in accordance with 
the guidance provided in IFRS 3 Business Combinations (“IFRS 3”) and IFRS 2 Share-based Payments. As the Company 
did not qualify as a business in accordance with the definition in IFRS 3, as the significant inputs, processes, and outputs 
that together constitute a business did not exist in the Company at the time of acquisition, the Transaction does not constitute 
a business combination. As a result, it is treated as an issuance of common shares by Former Spirit for the net assets of 
the Company and its public listing, with Former Spirit as the continuing entity. The accounting for this transaction resulted 
in the following: 
 

a) The financial statements of the combined entities are issued under the legal parent, Spirit, but are considered a 
continuation of the financial statements of the legal subsidiary, Former Spirit. 
 
b) Since Former Spirit is deemed to be the acquirer for accounting purposes, its assets and liabilities are included in the 
financial statements at their historical carrying values. 

 
For accounting purposes, Former Spirit is treated as the accounting parent (legal subsidiary) and the Company as the 
accounting subsidiary (legal parent). The fair value of the consideration paid by Former Spirit, net of transaction costs, less 
the fair value of net assets of the Company acquired by Former Spirit constitutes the listing expense and has been recorded 
in the statement of loss and comprehensive loss. These financial statements reflect the assets, liabilities, and operations of 
Former Spirit since its incorporation and the Company from July 29, 2021. 
 
The purchase has been allocated as follows: 
 

 July 29, 2021 

  
Purchase price:  
Fair value of 72,070,000 shares at $0.125 per share 9,008,750 
Total consideration 9,008,750 
  
Net assets acquired  
Cash 282,012 
Accounts payable (17,722) 
Total net assets 264,290 
  
Transaction cost 8,744,460 

 
The fair value of the 72,070,000 common shares of the Company was determined to be $0.125 per common share, based 
on the market value on the date of the Transaction. 
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6. MARKETABLE SECURITIES 
 

The fair value of the Company’s marketable securities are as follows: 
 

 March 31, 2022 December 31, 2021 
 Shares held Fair value Shares held Fair value 

 # $ # $ 
Banxa Holdings Inc. 1,100 2,926 1,100 3,322 
BIGG Digital Assets Inc. 12,400 9,672 12,400 12,896 
Bitfarms Ltd. 7,678 36,163 7,678 48,986 
Coinbase Global Inc. 290 68,802 290 92,787 
Defi Technologies Inc. 7,500 10,725 7,500 22,650 
Galaxy Digital Ltd. 3,890 82,857 3,890 88,109 
Hive Blockchain Technologies Ltd. 7,000 18,620 7,000 23,170 
Hut 8 Mining Corp. 7,937 54,686 7,937 78,814 
Marathon Digital Holdings Inc. 1,958 68,386 1,958 81,570 
Neptune Digital Assets 3,000 1,425 3,000 1,740 
Riot Blockchain Inc. 925 24,470 925 26,187 
Signature Bank 75 27,506 75 30,757 
Silvergate Capital Corp. 620 116,654 620 116,491 
Voyager Digital 736 4,939 736 11,621 
Total 55,109 527,831 55,109 639,100 

 
 

The cost of the Company’s marketable securities are as follows: 
 

 March 31, 2022 December 31, 2021 
 Shares held Cost Shares held Cost 

 # $ # $ 
Banxa Holdings Inc. 1,100 2,503 1,100 2,503 
BIGG Digital Assets Inc. 12,400 14,894 12,400 14,894 
Bitfarms Ltd. 7,678 56,620 7,678 56,620 
Coinbase Global Inc. 290 92,182 290 92,182 
Defi Technologies Inc. 7,500 10,030 7,500 10,030 
Galaxy Digital Ltd. 3,890 77,081 3,890 77,081 
Hive Blockchain Technologies Ltd. 7,000 20,640 7,000 20,640 
Hut 8 Mining Corp. 7,937 49,273 7,937 49,273 
Marathon Digital Holdings Inc. 1,958 83,348 1,958 83,348 
Neptune Digital Assets 3,000 3,300 3,000 3,300 
Riot Blockchain Inc. 925 44,147 925 44,147 
Signature Bank 75 30,136 75 30,136 
Silvergate Capital Corp. 620 80,474 620 80,474 
Voyager Digital 736 14,484 736 14,484 
Total 55,109 579,112 55,109 579,112 

 
During the three months ended March 31, 2022, the Company recognized an unrealized loss of $108,045 (2021 - $nil) and 
received dividend income of $48 (2021 - $nil). 
 
The total fair value of marketable securities has been classified as current items on the statement of financial position. 
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7. DIGITAL ASSETS 

 
The Company has a brokerage account with Crypto Finance AG in Zurich, Switzerland.  Digital assets are recorded at their 
fair value on the date they are received and are revalued to their fair value at each reporting date. The fair market value of 
the Company’s digital assets - current and long-term portion, respectively, are as follows: 
 

 March 31, 2022 December 31, 2021 
 Units held Fair value Units held Fair value 

 # $ # $ 
AAVE 64.787 16,697 64.857  20,975 
Bitcoin 19.021 1,082,216 18.340  1,076,584 
Cardano 64,604.910 92,017 64,673.896  107,402 
Chainlink 392.324 8,289 392.743  9,753 
Compound 48.846 9,070 48.899  12,416 
Ethereum  267.251 1,095,737 267.536  1,248,969 
FTX Token 144.574 8,831 144.728  7,029 
Polkadot - - 1,593.243  53,967 
Sushiswap 1,694.672 9,295 1,696.481  20,323 
Uniswap 892.082 12,561 893.034  19,325 
USD Coin 78,396.022 97,888 78,952.517  100,087 
Total 146,524.489 2,432,601 148,746.274 2,676,830 

 
 March 31, 2022 December 31, 2021 
 Units held Fair value Units held Fair value 

 # $ # $ 
Cardano 83,780.668 27,196 - - 
Cosmos 1,125.845 40,409 - - 
Ethereum  275.391 33,270 - - 
Polkadot 2,276.736 60,367 - - 
Total 87,458.640 161,242 - - 

 
The fair value of digital assets held as at March 31, 2022 is based on the quoted value of the digital assets on March 31, 
2022. 
 
During the three months ended March 31, 2022, the Company recognized realized loss of $18,190 (2021 – realized gain of 
$25,766) and $24,226 in unrealized loss (2021 - $nil) through profit and loss, and unrealized loss through other 
comprehensive income of $127,994 (2021 – unrealized gain through other comprehensive income of $344,481) on the 
digital assets. 

 
During the three months ended March 31, 2022, the Company was granted staking rewards by a blockchain network in 
which it participates. The staking rewards were recognized as other income. Other income for the three months ended 
March 31, 2022 is comprised of the following: 

 
 March 31, 2022 
 Units Fair value 

 # $ 
Cardano 86.132 104 
Cosmos 21.030 778 
Polkadot 47.516 1,143 
Total 154.678 2,025 
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8. SHARE CAPITAL 
 

Authorized share capital 
 

Unlimited number of common shares without par value. 
 
Issued and outstanding 

 
During the three months ended March 31, 2022, the Company recognized $8,000 outstanding for collection as at December 
31, 2021 as share-based compensation. 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company had the following share capital transactions: 
 
On July 29, 2021, pursuant to the closing of the Transaction, Spirit issued to Former Spirit shareholders, pro rata to their 
respective holdings of Former Spirit shares, 72,070,000 common shares at a price of $0.125 per common share in exchange 
for all of the issued and outstanding Former Spirit shares. This resulted in Former Spirit becoming a 100% wholly-owned 
subsidiary of 1284696 (note 4). 
 
On May 31, 2021, the Company issued 1,105,000 common shares to directors and consultants of the Company for services 
provided at a fair value of $0.05 per common share for gross proceeds of $55,250. 
 
On April 30, 2021, the Company completed a financing of 347,000 special warrants units at $0.05 per special warrant, for 
total proceeds of $17,350. Each special warrant was converted into one common share of the Company at no additional 
cost at the closing of the Transaction. 
 
On August 6, 2021, the Company cancelled one common share for $Nil consideration. 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company closed share offerings and private placements including: 
 
 2,559,999 common shares issued at a price of $0.05 per common share for gross proceeds of $128,000; 
 850,000 common shares issued with a fair value of $106,250 at a price of $0.08 per common share for gross proceeds 

of $68,000, of which $8,000 was outstanding for collection as at December 31, 2021, the remaining $38,250 was 
recognized as share-based compensation; and 

 26,070,000 common shares issued at a price of $0.125 per common share for gross proceeds of $3,258,750. 
 The Company received net proceeds of $3,000 and cancelled $5,000 of the share subscriptions receivable from 

December 31, 2020. 
 
Stock options 

 
During the three months ended March 31, 2022, the Company did not grant any stock options. During the year ended 
December 31, 2021, the Company issued 6,298,000 options to directors, officers and consultants of the Company, with an 
exercise price of $0.125 per common share and an expiration date of July 31, 2026, vesting in three equal tranches annually 
on July 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024. The options were valued using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following 
assumptions:  

 
 July 31, 2021 

Risk-free interest rate 0.83% 
Expected life 5 years 
Expected volatility* 120.00% 
Forfeiture rate 0.00% 
Dividend rate 0.00% 

*Expected volatility has been estimated based on volatility of common share prices of a selection of comparable publicly 
traded companies. 

 
Of the 6,298,000 options, 1,766,666 were later cancelled following the resignation of the consultants. During the three 
months ended March 31, 2022, the Company recorded $44,864 (2021 - $Nil) of share-based compensation expense related 
to options granted by the Company. 
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The following is a summary of the Company’s stock options for three months ended March 31, 2022 and year ended 
December 31, 2021: 
 

 
Number of 

options 
Weighted average 

exercise price 

 # $ 
Balance, December 31, 2020 - - 
Granted 6,298,000 0.125 
Cancelled (1,766,666) 0.125 
Balance, December 31, 2021 and March 31, 2022 4,531,334 0.125 

 
As at March 31, 2022, the Company had the following options outstanding: 
 

Expiry Date 

Number of 
options 

outstanding 

Number of 
options 

exercisable 

Weighted 
average 

exercise price 

 # # $ 
July 31, 2026 4,531,334 - 0.125 
Balance, December 31, 2021 and March 31, 2022 4,531,334 - 0.125 

    
Weighted average contractual life remaining (years)   4.34 

 
Restricted share units 
 
During the three months ended March 31, 2022, the Company did not grant any restricted share units (“RSUs”). During the 
year ended December 31, 2021, the Company granted 3,149,000 RSUs to directors, officers and consultants of the 
Company at a price of $0.125, vesting in equal instalments on the July 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024. Of the 3,149,000 RSUs, 
883,334 were later cancelled following the resignation of the consultants. The fair value of the RSU is the market price at 
the date of grant of $0.125. During the three months ended March 31, 2022, the Company recorded share-based 
compensation expense of $43,268 (2021 - $Nil) related to the vesting of these RSUs. As at March 31, 2022 and December 
31, 2021, all RSUs remain outstanding and are unvested. 
 
The following is a summary of the Company’s RSUs for three months ended March 31, 2022 and year ended December 
31, 2021: 
 

 
 

Number of 
RSUs 

Weighted average 
exercise price 

 # $ 
Balance, December 31, 2020 - - 
Granted 3,149,000 0.125 
Cancelled (883,334) 0.125 
Balance, December 31, 2021 and March 31, 2022 2,265,666 0.125 

 
 

As at March 31, 2022, the Company had the following RSUs outstanding: 
 

Expiry Date 

Number of 
RSUs 

outstanding 

Number of 
RSUs 

exercisable 

Weighted 
average 

exercise price 

 # # $ 
July 31, 2026 2,265,666 - 0.125 
Balance, December 31, 2021 and March 31, 2022 2,265,666 - 0.125 

    
Weighted average contractual life remaining (years)   4.34 
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9. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 

All related party transactions are recorded at the exchange amount which is the amount agreed to by the Company and the 

related party. 

 

Creade GmbH, a company controlled by Mr. Perroulaz (Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Director) provided consulting 

services of $45,000 (2021 - $6,000). During the three months ended March 31, 2022, the Company recorded share-based 

compensation of $13,650 related to the stock options and RSUs granted to Mr. Perroulaz during the year ended December 

31, 2021. 

 

Core Financial Management Limited, a company controlled by Mr. O’Neill (Director) provided consulting services of $30,000 

(2021 - $4,000). During the three months ended March 31, 2022, the Company recorded share-based compensation of 

$13,579 related to the stock options and RSUs granted to Mr. O’Neill during the year ended December 31, 2021. As at 

March 31, 2022, $32,599 (December 31, 2021 - $2,599) was due to Core Financial Management Limited and included in 

accounts payable and accrued liabilities. 

 

During the three months ended March 31, 2022, the total advances made to an entity with common directors increased to 

$60,910 (CHF 45,445), (December 31, 2021 - $33,406 (CHF 24,038)).  As at March 31, 2022, the advances remain 

receivable and are presented in due from related party on the statement of financial position. The advances are unsecured, 

due on demand and are non-interest bearing. 

 

The following table summarizes payments to key management personnel for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 

2021: 

 
 2022 2021 

 $ $ 
Consulting fees 75,000 10,000 
Share-based compensation 27,229 - 
Total 102,229 10,000 

 
 March 31,  

2022 
December 31, 

2021 

 $ $ 
Due from related party 60,910 33,406 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (32,599) (2,599) 
Total 28,311 30,807 

 
  



SPIRIT BLOCKCHAIN CAPITAL INC. (formerly 1284696 B.C. Ltd.) 
Notes to the Condensed Interim Consolidated Financial Statements  
For the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 
(Unaudited - Expressed in Canadian dollars, except where noted) 

14 

 

 
10. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT 
 

Financial instrument classification 
 

The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash, amounts receivable (excluding GST and VAT receivable), marketable 
securities, due from related party and accounts payable. The Company classifies its cash and marketable securities as fair 
value through profit and loss and amounts receivable (excluding GST and VAT receivable) and due from related party as 
amortized cost. The Company’s accounts payable are classified as financial liabilities recognized at amortized cost. The 
carrying amounts of cash, amounts receivable (excluding GST and VAT receivable) and accounts payable approximate 
their carrying values because of the short-term nature of these instruments.  

 
Fair values of financial assets and liabilities 

 
The Company classifies its fair value measurements in accordance with an established hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs 
in the valuation techniques used to measure fair value as follows: 
 
i. Level 1- quoted prices in active markets for identical financial instruments. 
ii. Level 2 - quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in 

markets that are not active; and model-derived valuations in which all significant inputs and significant value drivers are 
observable in active markets. 

iii. Level 3 - valuations derived from valuation techniques in which one or more significant inputs or significant value drivers 
are unobservable. 

 
The Company’s cash and marketable securities are measured at level 1. 

 
The Company’s risk exposures and the impact on the Company’s financial instruments are summarized below: 
 
Credit risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation or commitment that it 
has entered into, causing the other party to incur a financial loss. The Company's cash, amounts receivable, due from 
related parties, digital assets, and proceeds of digital assets and marketable securities sales are exposed to credit risk. The 
Company limits its credit risk by placing its cash with high credit quality financial institutions and with cryptocurrency 
exchanges on which the Company has performed internal due diligence procedures. The Company deems these 
procedures necessary as some exchanges are unregulated and not subject to regulatory oversight. Furthermore, crypto-
exchanges engage in the practice of commingling their clients' assets in exchange wallets which results in transactions not 
being recorded on the applicable blockchain ledger, but only by the exchange. Therefore, there is risk around the occurrence 
of transactions or the existence of period end balances represented by exchanges. 

 
As at March 31, 2022, the Company held $335,445 (December 31, 2021 - $684,949) in cash, $527,831 (December 31, 
2021 - $639,100) in marketable securities with an investment broker and $2,593,843 (December 31, 2021 - $2,676,830) in 
digital assets with a digital asset custodian. As of each reporting period, the Company assesses if there may be expected 
credit losses requiring recognition of a loss allowance. As of March 31, 2022, the Company recorded an allowance of $Nil 
(December 31, 2021 - $Nil). While the Company intends to only transact with counterparties or exchanges that it believes 
to be credit worthy, there can be no assurance that a counterparty will not default and that the Company will not sustain a 
material loss on a transaction as a result. 

 
Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they come due. The Company 
controls liquidity risk by ensuring that it has sufficient cash resources to pay for its financial obligations. The Company 
manages liquidity risk by restricting cash reserves to offset funds due to creditors. As at March 31, 2022, the Company had 
an unrestricted cash balance of $335,445 (December 31, 2021 - $684,949) to settle current liabilities of $410,948 (December 
31, 2021 - $278,604). Accordingly, the Company is exposed to liquidity risk. 
 
Market risk 
 
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices will affect the Company's earnings or the value of its financial 
instruments. Market risk is comprised of commodity price risk and interest rate risk. The objective of market risk management 
is to manage and control exposures within acceptable limits, while maximizing returns. The Company is exposed to market 
risk through its marketable securities, a 10% decrease in market prices would result in decrease of approximately $53,000 
to the Company’s marketable securities. 
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Interest risk 
 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes 
in market interest rates. The Company's liabilities are non-interest bearing and therefore, interest rate risk is not considered 
significant. 
 
Foreign currency risk 
 
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair values of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because they 
are denominated in currencies that differ from the respective functional currency.  

 
The Company is exposed to foreign currency risk, as certain monetary financial instruments are denominated in CHF. As 
at March 31, 2022, the carrying amounts of the Company’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets (liabilities) are 
as follows:  
  

March 31, 
2022 

December 31,  
2021 

 $ $ 
Cash 40,181 22,263 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (636) (652) 
Net financial assets 39,545 21,611 

 
The Company has cash of $40,181 and accounts payable and accrued liabilities of $636 denominated in CHF. The 
Company has not entered any foreign currency contracts to mitigate this risk. A 5% shift in exchange rates would result in 
a foreign exchange gain or loss of approximately $2,678. Accordingly, the Company is moderately exposed to foreign 
currency risk. 

 
11. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 
 

The Company's capital structure consists of all components of shareholders' equity. The Company's objective when 

managing capital is to maintain adequate levels of funding to support the current operations and the necessary corporate 

and administrative functions to facilitate these activities. This is done primarily through equity financing. Future financings 

are dependent on market conditions and there can be no assurance the Company will be able to raise funds in the future. 

 

The Company invests all capital that is surplus to its immediate operational needs in either CAD or CHF in various bank 

accounts. There were no changes to the Company's approach to capital management during the year. The Company is not 

subject to externally imposed capital requirements. 

 
12. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

 

a) The Crypto-currencies have been volatile for some time and this volatility has continued subsequent to year-end.  The 

Company’s Digital Asset portfolio value as at the date of these financial statements has dropped by 78% ($2,034,646) 

since March 31, 2022.  

 
b) On July 31, 2022, the Company granted 1,810,667 stock options and 905,334 restricted share units to consultants, 

officers and directors of the Company, the stock options have an exercise price of $0.125 and an expiry date of July 

31, 2026.  

  

c) On July 31, 2022, the Company cancelled 620,867 stock options and 310,434 restricted share units previously 

issued. 
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
 

This Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) supplements, but does not form part of, the condensed interim 
consolidated financial statements of Spirit Blockchain Capital Inc. (the “Company”) and the notes thereto for the three months 
ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 (collectively referred to hereafter as the “consolidated financial statements”). The following 
discussion and analysis, prepared by management, reviews the Company’s financial condition and results of operations for the 
three months ended March 31, 2022. The MD&A should be read in conjunction with the financial statements of the Company 
and related notes, which have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) for the 
three months ended March 31, 2022 and the audited consolidated financial statement for the year ended December 31, 2021, 
and the notes thereto. This discussion provides management’s analysis of the Company’s historical financial and operating 
results and provides estimates of the Company’s future financial and operating performance based on information that is 
currently available. This MD&A is current as at July 31, 2022. 

 
OVERVIEW 

 
This MD&A has been prepared by management and reviewed by the audit committee of the board. For the purposes of preparing 
this MD&A, management, in conjunction with the board, considers the materiality of information. Information is considered 
material if: (i) such information results in, or would reasonably be expected to result in, a significant change in the market price 
or value of the Common Shares; or (ii) there is a substantial likelihood that a reasonable investor would consider it important in 
making an investment decision; or (iii) if it would significantly alter the total mix of information available to investors. Management, 
in conjunction with the board, evaluates materiality with reference to all relevant circumstances, including potential market 
sensitivity. All financial information in this MD&A has been prepared in accordance with IFRS and all dollar amounts are quoted 
in Canadian dollars, the reporting currency of the Company, unless specifically noted. 

 
DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS 

 
The Company is a financial services and infrastructure company, planning on being listed on the Canadian Stock Exchange, 
trading under the symbol “SPIR”, the Company was incorporated on January 19, 2021 pursuant to the Business Corporations 
Act (British Columbia) under the name ““1284696 B.C. Ltd.” (“1284696” or “Spirit”). On July 29, 2021, it changed its name to 
“Spirit Blockchain Capital Inc.”. 

 
On July 29, 2021, 1284696’s wholly-owned subsidiary 1302186 B.C. Ltd. (“Subco”) and the predecessor entity to Holdings, Spirit 
Blockchain Capital Inc. (“Former Spirit”) completed a business combination transaction (the “Transaction”) pursuant to an 
amalgamation agreement dated July 29, 2021 between Former Spirit, Subco and 1284696 whereby: (i) 1284696 acquired all of 
the issued and outstanding securities of Former Spirit pursuant to a three-cornered amalgamation; (ii) Subco amalgamated with 
Former Spirit to form the amalgamated wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, Spirit Blockchain Holdings Inc.; and (iii) 
1284696 changed its name to “Spirit Blockchain Capital Inc.”. 

 
Effective July 29, 2021, the Transaction closed whereby Spirit issued to Former Spirit shareholders, pro rata to their respective 
holdings of Former Spirit shares, 72,070,000 Common Shares at a price of $0.125 per Common Share in exchange for all of the 
issued and outstanding Former Spirit shares. 

 
Management determined that the Transaction constituted a reverse acquisition for accounting purposes whereby Former Spirit 
acquired Spirit. For accounting purposes, Former Spirit is treated as the accounting acquirer, and Spirit (legal parent) is treated 
as the accounting acquiree in the consolidated financial statements. As Former Spirit was deemed to be the acquirer for 
accounting purposes, its assets, liabilities, and operations since incorporation are included in the financial statements at their 
historical carrying values. The Company’s results of operations are included from the transaction date, July 29, 2021. The 
comparative figures are those of Former Spirit prior to the Transaction. 

 
The Company aims to generate recurring cash flows streams through its different business units. The diversification of its 
activities will allow the Company to be less volatile than the digital asset markets. The Company want to become a value stock 
in a growing environment. 

 
The Company aims to become a leading blockchain & digital asset company focused on streaming, royalties and digital asset 
investments. The firm provides investors with a direct exposure to the sector, without the technical complexity or constraints of 
purchasing the underlying digital assets. The Company’s strategy is based upon management’s conviction that the blockchain 
and digital asset ecosystem will register significant growth and outperform traditional asset classes over the medium to long- 
term. As a result, digital assets will become an integral part of diversified portfolios. 
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The Company’s strategy focuses on four complimentary business units: 
 

 Royalties & Streams by providing capital to blockchain ecosystem participants, where repayment of the notional takes 
place in the form of digital assets. 

 Advisory & Research Services for institutional and private investors with investment products. 
 Treasury management through balance sheet enhancement with major digital asset investments. 
 Licensing Blockchain and Digital Assets Technology products to market participants initially in Europe as well as 

providing consulting services to support these products. 
 

COVID-19 

The outbreak of the coronavirus, also known as "COVID-19", has spread across the globe and is impacting worldwide economic 
activity. Conditions surrounding the coronavirus continue to evolve and government authorities have implemented measures to 
mitigate the spread of the virus. The outbreak and the related mitigation measures may have an adverse impact on global 
economic conditions as well as on the Company’s business activities that can materially adversely affect the operations of the 
Company. As of the date of these consolidated MD&A, COVID-19 has had no impact on the Company’s ability to operate the 
business but may impact the Company’s ability to raise funding related to COVID-19 be extended or expanded in scope. 

 
REVERSE TAKEOVER TRANSACTION 

 
Upon the closing of the Transaction on July 29, 2021, Spirit issued 72,070,000 common shares of the Company to Former Spirit 
shareholders at the fair value of $0.125 per common share for a total fair value of $9,008,750. 

 
As a result of the Transaction, Spirit obtained control of the Company and is considered to have acquired the Company. The 
Transaction constituted a reverse takeover acquisition (“RTO”) of the Company by Spirit and has been accounted for as a 
reverse acquisition transaction in accordance with the guidance provided in IFRS 2, Share-based Payments, and IFRS 3, 
Business Combinations. As the Company did not qualify as a business in accordance with the definition of IFRS 3, the RTO 
does not constitute a business combination. Rather, it is treated as an issuance of common shares by Spirit for the net assets 
of the Company and its public listing, with Spirit as the continuing entity. Accordingly, no goodwill or intangible assets were 
recorded with respect to the Transaction. 

 
For accounting purposes, Spirit is treated as the accounting parent (legal subsidiary) and the Company as the accounting 
subsidiary (legal parent). The fair value of the consideration paid by Spirit, net of transaction costs, less the fair value of net 
assets of the Company acquired by Spirit constitutes the listing expense and has been recorded in the statement of loss and 
comprehensive loss. The consolidated financial statements for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 reflect the 
assets, liabilities, and operations of Spirit since its incorporation and the Company from July 29, 2021. 

 
The purchase has been allocated as follows:  

 July 29, 2021 
 

Purchase price: 
Fair value of 72,070,000 shares at $0.125 per share 

 
 

9,008,750 
Total consideration 9,008,750 

Net assets acquired 
Cash 

 
282,012 

Accounts payable (17,722) 
Total net assets 264,280 

Transaction cost 8,744,460 
 

The fair value of the 72,070,000 common shares of the Company was determined to be $0.125 per common share, based on 
the market value on the date of the Transaction. 
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MARKETABLE SECURITIES 
 

The fair value of the Company’s marketable securities are as follows: 
 

March 31, 2022 December 31, 2021 
 Shares held Fair value Shares held Fair value 
 

Banxa Holdings Inc. 
# 

1,100 
$ 

2,926 
# 

1,100 
$ 

3,322 
BIGG Digital Assets Inc. 12,400 9,672 12,400 12,896 
Bitfarms Ltd. 7,678 36,163 7,678 48,986 
Coinbase Global Inc. 290 68,802 290 92,787 
Defi Technologies Inc. 7,500 10,725 7,500 22,650 
Galaxy Digital Ltd. 3,890 82,857 3,890 88,109 
Hive Blockchain Technologies Ltd. 7,000 18,620 7,000 23,170 
Hut 8 Mining Corp. 7,937 54,686 7,937 78,814 
Marathon Digital Holdings Inc. 1,958 68,386 1,958 81,570 
Neptune Digital Assets 3,000 1,425 3,000 1,740 
Riot Blockchain Inc. 925 24,470 925 26,187 
Signature Bank 75 27,506 75 30,757 
Silvergate Capital Corp. 620 116,654 620 116,491 
Voyager Digital 736 4,939 736 11,621 

 55,109 527,831 55,109 639,100 
 

The cost of the Company’s marketable securities are as follows: 
 

March 31, 2022 December 31, 2021 
 Shares held Cost Shares held Cost 
 # $ # $ 

Banxa Holdings Inc. 1,100 2,503 1,100 2,503 
BIGG Digital Assets Inc. 12,400 14,894 12,400 14,894 
Bitfarms Ltd. 7,678 56,620 7,678 56,620 
Coinbase Global Inc. 290 92,182 290 92,182 
Defi Technologies Inc. 7,500 10,030 7,500 10,030 
Galaxy Digital Ltd. 3,890 77,081 3,890 77,081 
Hive Blockchain Technologies Ltd. 7,000 20,640 7,000 20,640 
Hut 8 Mining Corp. 7,937 49,273 7,937 49,273 
Marathon Digital Holdings Inc. 1,958 83,348 1,958 83,348 
Neptune Digital Assets 3,000 3,300 3,000 3,300 
Riot Blockchain Inc. 925 44,147 925 44,147 
Signature Bank 75 30,136 75 30,136 
Silvergate Capital Corp. 620 80,474 620 80,474 
Voyager Digital 736 14,484 736 14,484 

 55,109 579,112 55,109 579,112 
 

During the three months ended March 31, 2022, the Company recognized an unrealized loss of $108,045 (2021 - $nil) and 
received dividend income of $48 (2021 - $nil). 

 
The total fair value of marketable securities has been classified as current items on the statement of financial position. 

 
DIGITAL ASSETS 

 
The carrying amounts reported in the audited consolidated balance sheet for the current financial assets and liabilities, which 
includes accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate fair values due to the immediate or short-term maturities of these 
financial instruments. 

 
The Company has a digital asset custody account with Crypto Finance AG in Zurich, Switzerland. Digital assets are recorded 
at their fair value on the date they are received and are revalued to their fair value at each reporting date. The fair market value 
of the Company’s digital assets - current and long-term portion, respectively, are as follows: 
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March 31, 2022 December 31, 2021 
 Units held Fair value Units held Fair value 
 

AAVE 
# 

64.787
$ 

16,697 
# 

64.857 
$ 

20,975 
Bitcoin 19.021 1,082,216 18.340 1,076,584 
Cardano 64,604.910 92,017 64,673.896 107,402 
Chainlink 392.324 8,289 392.743 9,753 
Compound 48.846 9,070 48.899 12,416 
Ethereum 267.251 1,095,737 267.536 1,248,969 
FTX Token 144.574 8,831 144.728 7,029 
Polkadot - - 1,593.243 53,967 
Sushiswap 1,694.672 9,295 1,696.481 20,323 
Uniswap 892.082 12,561 893.034 19,325 
USD Coin 78,396.022 97,888 78,952.517 100,087 
Total 146,524.489 2,432,601 148,746.274 2,676,830 

 
  

Units held 
March 31, 2022 

Fair value 
December 31, 2021 

Units held Fair value 
 

Cardano 
#

83,780.668 
$ 

27,196 
# $ 
- - 

Cosmos 1,125.845 40,409 - - 
Ethereum 275.391 33,270 - - 
Polkadot 2,276.736 60,367 - - 
Total 87,458.640 161,242 - - 

 
The fair value of digital assets held as at March 31, 2022 and 2021 is based on the quoted value of the digital assets on March 
31, 2022 and 2021. 

 
During the three months ended March 31, 2022, the Company recognized realized loss of $18,190 (2021 – realized gain of 
$25,766) and $24,226 in unrealized loss (2021 - $nil) through profit and loss, and unrealized loss through other comprehensive 
income of $127,994 (2021 – unrealized gain through other comprehensive income of $344,481) on the digital assets. 

 
During the three months ended March 31, 2022, the Company was granted staking rewards by a blockchain network in which it 
participates. The staking rewards were recognized as other income. Other income for the three months ended March 31, 2022 
is comprised of the following: 

 
  

Units 
March 31, 2022 

Fair value 
 # $ 

Cardano 86.132 104 
Cosmos 21.030 778 
Polkadot 47.516 1,143 
Total 154.678 2,025 

 
OVERALL PERFORMANCE 

 
The following financial data has been derived from the Company’s interim financial statements for the period ended March 31, 
2022 and 2021. 

 
 2022 2021 
 $ $ 

Financial results 
Net loss for the period 

 
(534,206) 

 
(3,170) 

Basic and diluted loss per share (0.01) (0.00) 
 

Financial position 
  

Total assets 3,537,284 4,043,426 
Total liabilities 410,948 278,604 
Working capital surplus 2,965,094 3,764,822 
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Three months ended March 31, 2022 compared to the three months ended March 31, 2021 
 

Net loss was $534,206 (2021 - $3,170), a change of $531,036 from prior year due to increase in certain expenses related to the 
process to take the Company public during the three months ended March 31, 2022. 

 
During the three months ended March 31, 2022, the loss before other income was $387,442 (2021 - $28,896) an increase of 
$358,546. Changes in operations are mainly attributed to the following: 

 
• Consulting fees were $197,832 (2021 - $27,000), an increase of $170,832 due to additional market advisory and 

administration costs. 
• Share-based compensation was $96,132 (2021 - $nil), due to no stock options or restricted shares units were issued in 

the three months ended March 31, 2021. 
• Audit and tax fees were $21,755 (2021 - $nil), related to the process to take the Company public during the three months 

ended March 31, 2022. 
• Legal and professional fees were $65,603 (2021 - $nil), mainly due to legal expenses related to the amalgamation and 

the process to take the Company public. 
• Office expenses were $6,005 (2021 - $1,751), an increase of $4,254, mainly due to higher storage fees on digital assets, 

due and subscription and cost related to team meeting. 
 

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 
 

The Company has sufficient working capital to continue operations in the normal course of business for the foreseeable future. 
The Company controls liquidity risk by ensuring that it has sufficient cash resources to pay for its financial obligations. The 
Company manages liquidity risk by restricting cash reserves to offset funds due to creditors. 

 
As at March 31, 2022, the Company had a cash and cash equivalent balance of $335,445 (December 31, 2021 - $684,949) to 
settle current liabilities of $410,948 (December 31, 2021 - $278,604). Accordingly, the Company is exposed to liquidity risk. 

 
CAPITAL DISCLOSURES 

The Company's capital structure consists of all components of shareholders' equity. The Company's objective when managing 
capital is to maintain adequate levels of funding to support the current operations and the necessary corporate and administrative 
functions to facilitate these activities. This is done primarily through equity financing. Future financings are dependent on market 
conditions and there can be no assurance the Company will be able to raise funds in the future. 

 
The Company invests all capital that is surplus to its immediate operational needs in either Canadian dollars or Swiss francs in 
various bank accounts. There were no changes to the Company's approach to capital management during the year. The 
Company is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements. 

 
RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS 

 
All related party transactions are recorded at the exchange amount which is the amount agreed to by the Company and the 
related party. 

 
Transactions with related parties for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2020 were as follows: 

 
Creade GmbH, a company controlled by Mr. Perroulaz (Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Director) provided consulting 
services of $45,000 (2021 - $6,000). During the three months ended March 31, 2022, the Company recorded share-based 
compensation of $13,650 related to the stock options and RSUs granted to Mr. Perroulaz during the year ended December 31, 
2021. 

 
Core Financial Management Limited, a company controlled by Mr. O’Neill (Director) provided consulting services of $30,000 
(2021 - $4,000). During the three months ended March 31, 2022, the Company recorded share-based compensation of $13,579 
related to the stock options and RSUs granted to Mr. O’Neill during the year ended December 31, 2021. As at March 31, 2022, 
$32,599 (December 31, 2021 - $2,599) was due to Core Financial Management Limited and included in accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities. 

 
During the three months ended March 31, 2022, the total advances made to an entity with common directors increased to 
$60,910 (CHF 45,445), (December 31, 2021 - $33,406 (CHF 24,038)). As at March 31, 2022, the advances remain receivable 
and are presented in due from related party on the statement of financial position. The advances are unsecured, due on demand 
and are non-interest bearing. 
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The following table summarizes payments to key management personnel for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021: 
 

Three months ended March 31 
 2022 2021 
 

Consulting fees 
$ 

75,000 
$ 

10,000 
Share-base compensation 27,229 - 
Total 102,229 10,000 

   

 March 31, 
2022 

December 31, 
2021 

 $ $ 
Due from related party 60,910 33,406 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (32,599) (2,599) 
Total 28,311 30,807 

 
PROPOSED TRANSACTIONS 

 
As at the date of these MD&A, the Company has no proposed transactions. 

 
OUTSTANDING SHARES DATA 

 
As at the date of this MD&A, the Company had: 

 
• 85,817,000 (March 31, 2022 - 85,817,000) common shares issued and outstanding; 
• 4,531,334 (March 31, 2022 - 4,531,334) stock options; and 
• 2,265,666 (March 31, 2022 - 2,265,666) restricted share units outstanding. 

 
OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS 

 
As at the date of these MD&A, the Company has no off-balance sheet arrangements. 

 
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT 

 
Financial instrument classification 

 
The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable (excluding GST and VAT 
receivable) and accounts payable. The Company classifies its cash and cash equivalents as fair value through profit and loss 
and accounts receivable (excluding GST and VAT receivable) as amortized cost. The Company’s accounts payable are 
classified as financial liabilities recognized at amortized cost. The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, accounts 
receivable (excluding GST and VAT receivable) and accounts payable approximate their carrying values because of the short- 
term nature of these instruments. 

 
Fair values of financial assets and liabilities 

 
The Company classifies its fair value measurements in accordance with an established hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs in 
the valuation techniques used to measure fair value as follows: 

 
i. Level 1- quoted prices in active markets for identical financial instruments. 
ii. Level 2 - quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in 
markets that are not active; and model-derived valuations in which all significant inputs and significant value drivers are 
observable in active markets. 
iii. Level 3 - valuations derived from valuation techniques in which one or more significant inputs or significant value drivers 
are unobservable. 
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The Company’s risk exposures and the impact on the Company’s financial instruments are summarized below: 
 

Credit risk 
 

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation or commitment that it has 
entered into, causing the other party to incur a financial loss. The Company's cash and cash equivalents, digital assets, and 
proceeds of digital assets sale are exposed to credit risk. The Company limits its credit risk by placing its cash and cash 
equivalents with high credit quality financial institutions and with cryptocurrency exchanges on which the Company has 
performed internal due diligence procedures. The Company deems these procedures necessary as some exchanges are 
unregulated and not subject to regulatory oversight. Furthermore, crypto exchanges engage in the practice of commingling their 
clients' assets in exchange wallets which results in transactions not being recorded on the applicable blockchain ledger, but only 
by the exchange. Therefore, there is risk around the occurrence of transactions, or the existence of period end balances 
represented by exchanges. 

 
As at March 31, 2022, the Company held $335,445 (December 31, 2021 - $684,949) in cash and cash equivalents, $527,831 
(December 31, 2021 - $639,100) in marketable securities with an investment broker and $2,432,601 (December 31, 2021 - 
$2,676,830) in digital assets with a digital asset custodian. As of each reporting period, the Company assesses if there may be 
expected credit losses requiring recognition of a loss allowance. As of March 31, 2022, the Company recorded an allowance of 
$Nil (December 31, 2021 - $Nil). While the Company intends to only transact with counterparties or exchanges that it believes 
to be credit worthy, there can be no assurance that a counterparty will not default and that the Company will not sustain a 
material loss on a transaction as a result. 

 
Liquidity risk 

 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they come due. The Company 
controls liquidity risk by ensuring that it has sufficient cash resources to pay for its financial obligations. The Company manages 
liquidity risk by restricting cash reserves to offset funds due to creditors. As at March 31, 2022, the Company had an unrestricted 
cash balance of $335,445 (December 31, 2021 - $684,949) to settle current liabilities of $410,948 (December 31, 2021 - 
$278,604). Accordingly, the Company is exposed to liquidity risk. 

 
Market risk 

 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices will affect the Company's earnings or the value of its financial instruments. 
Market risk is comprised of commodity price risk and interest rate risk. The objective of market risk management is to manage 
and control exposures within acceptable limits, while maximizing returns. The Company is not exposed to significant market risk. 

 
Interest risk 

 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
market interest rates. The Company's liabilities are non-interest bearing and therefore, interest rate risk is not considered 
significant. 

 
Foreign currency risk 

 

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair values of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because they are 
denominated in currencies that differ from the respective functional currency. 

 
The Company is exposed to foreign currency risk, as certain monetary financial instruments are denominated in CHF. As at 
March 31, 2022, the carrying amounts of the Company’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets (liabilities) are as 
follows: 

 
 March 31, 

2022 
December 31, 

2021 
 

Cash and cash equivalents 
$ 

40,181 
$ 

22,263 
Accounts payable (636) (652) 
Net financial assets 39,545 21,611 

 
The Company has cash and cash equivalents of $40,181 and accounts payable and accrued liabilities of $636 denominated in 
CHF. The Company has not entered any foreign currency contracts to mitigate this risk. A 5% shift in exchange rates would 
result in a foreign exchange gain or loss of approximately $2,678. Accordingly, the Company is moderately exposed to foreign 
currency risk. 



SPIRIT BLOCKCHAIN CAPITAL INC. (formerly 1284696 B.C. Ltd) 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
For the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 

9 

 

 

RISK FACTORS 
 

These risk factors are not exhaustive. Due to the high growth of, and maturing marketplace around, blockchain technologies 
and digital asset markets in general, and the nature of the Company’s proposed business plan, the following risk factors, among 
others, will apply: 

 
Fluctuation of digital asset prices 

 
Digital asset market technology is a development stage technology and digital assets are a class of assets that not widely held, 
difficult to purchase and store securely and not fully regulated. As result of these variables, the pricing of digital assets is highly 
volatile which will affect the value of staked digital assets and block reward payouts over time. 

 
Blockchain technology 

 
Most of the blockchain network are in a development stage ecosystem with many stakeholders including miners, investors, 
nodes and/or staking pools, and other ecosystem participants. Due to the decentralised and development stage nature of 
blockchain, the Company cannot forecast what changes will occur to the structure of these blockchain over time, and how 
protocol upgrades will affect the valuation of the Company’s hardware infrastructure assets and underlying crypto currencies. 

 
Collusion and third-party attacks 

 
By its very nature blockchain technologies are decentralized and subject to possible manipulation. This includes the risk of a 
51% attack on a blockchain mining network hashing power, where a malicious third party is able to reverse transactions on the 
blockchain through centralised control of an entire blockchain mining power. Although considered remote, a 51% attack, and 
other malicious attempts to control, attack, or manipulate a particular blockchain is outside of the management’s control. 

 
Security risks 

 
Given the immutable nature of blockchain technologies, a risk exists that a malicious third party could attempt to hack or steal 
the Company’s tokens or other digital assets deposited by the Company at a third party (custodian) and the Company may be 
unable to recover them. 

 
Uninsured or uninsurable risks 

 
The Company’s blockchain assets are uninsured and are susceptible to total loss in the event of a theft, security breach, 
employee error or IT malfunction. The Company takes every available precaution to reduce the risk of blockchain asset losses 
due to theft, security breach, employee error or IT malfunction. 

 
Financing risks 

 
The Company has limited financial resources, has no source of operating cashflow and has no assurance that additional funding 
will be available to provide capital to blockchain ecosystem participants or to invest in blockchain assets or companies. Failure 
to raise additional financing could result in a delay or indefinite postponement of further technological investment in the 
blockchain ecosystem. 

 
No assurance of profitability 

 
The Company has a limited operating history on which an investor might evaluate its performance. It is therefore subject to many 
of the risks common to early-stage enterprises, including undercapitalization, cash shortages, limitations with respect to 
personnel and financing sources and lack of revenues, any of which could have a material adverse effect on the Company and 
may force it to reduce or curtail its operations. The Company is not currently profitable and has incurred operating losses since 
its inception. 

 
Dilution to the Company’s existing shareholders 

 
The Company may require additional equity financing to be raised in the future. The Company may issue securities at less than 
favorable terms to raise sufficient capital to fund its business plan. Any transaction involving the issuance of common Shares or 
securities convertible into common Shares would result in dilution, possibly substantial, to present and prospective holders of 
common Shares. 
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Increased costs 
 

Management anticipates the costs of mining equipment could increase over time if demand for cryptocurrency increases. This 
will result in increased capital costs to purchase sufficient blockchain assets or mining equipment. 

 
Operational risks 

 
Operational risk is the risk of an adverse outcome resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people, systems or 
external events. The Company’s exposure to operational risk arises from routine processing errors, as well as extraordinary 
incidents, such as major systems failures or legal and regulatory matters. 

 
Because the Company’s business lines are reliant on both technology and human expertise and execution, the Company is 
exposed to material operational risk arising from a number of factors, including, but not limited to, human error, processing and 
communication errors, errors of third-party service providers, counterparties or other third parties, failed or inadequate 
processes, design flaws and technology or system failures and malfunctions. 

 
Government regulation 

 
Blockchain technology assets are a new and emerging asset class of which the regulatory and taxation policies related to the 
purchase, sale, trading, and ownership of digital tokens may change over time, and as result may have a direct impact on the 
Company’s assets and operating cashflows. 

 
Irrevocability of transactions 

 
Digital asset transactions are irrevocable and stolen or incorrectly transferred cryptocurrencies may be irretrievable. Once a 
transaction has been verified and recorded in a block that is added to the blockchain, an incorrect transfer or theft generally will 
not be reversible, and the Company may not be capable of seeking compensation. 

 
Market risk 

 
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices will affect the Company's earnings or the value of its financial instruments. 
Market risk is comprised of commodity price risk and interest rate risk. 

 
Credit risk 

 
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation or commitment that it has 
entered into, causing the other party to incur a financial loss. The Company's cash and cash equivalents, digital currencies, due 
from related parties and proceeds of coin sale are exposed to credit risk. 

 
Interest rate risk 

 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
market interest rates. 

 
Foreign currency risk 

 
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair values of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because they are 
denominated in currencies that differ from the respective functional currency. 

 
Liquidity risk 

 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they come due. 

 
Digital asset risk 

 
Digital assets are measured at fair value less cost to sell. Digital currency or digital asset prices are affected by various forces 
including global supply and demand, interest rates, exchanges rates, inflation or deflation and the political and economic 
conditions. Further, cryptocurrencies have no underlying backing or contracts to enforce recovery of invested amounts. 

 
The Company may not be able to liquidate its inventory of cryptocurrencies at its desired price if necessary. Prices of 
cryptocurrencies are volatile and market movements are difficult to predict. Supply and demand for such currencies change 
rapidly and are affected by a variety of factors, including regulation and general economic trends. 
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Digital assets have a limited history; their fair values have historically been volatile and the value of cryptocurrencies held by the 
Company could decline rapidly. A decline in the market prices of digital assets could negatively impact the Company's future 
operations. Historical performance of digital assets is not indicative of their future performance. 

 
Many digital asset networks are online end-user-to-end-user networks that host a public transaction ledger (blockchain) and the 
source code that comprises the basis for the cryptographic and algorithmic protocols governing such networks. 

 
In many digital asset transactions, the recipient or the buyer must provide its public key, which serves as an address for a digital 
wallet, to the seller. In the data packets distributed from digital asset software programs to confirm transaction activity, each 
party to the transaction user must sign transactions with a data code derived from entering the private key into a hashing 
algorithm, which signature serves as validation that the transaction has been authorized by the owner of the respective digital 
asset. This process is vulnerable to hacking and malware and could lead to theft of the Company's digital wallets and the loss 
of the Company's digital assets. 

 
Digital assets are loosely regulated and there is no central marketplace for exchange. Supply is determined by a computer code, 
not a central bank. Additionally, exchanges may suffer from operational issues, such as delayed execution, that could have an 
adverse effect on the Company. 

 
The crypto asset exchanges on which the Company uses are relatively new and, in many cases, largely unregulated, and 
therefore may be more exposed to fraud and failure than regulated exchanges for other assets. 

 
Any financial, security, or operational difficulties experienced by such exchanges may result in an inability of the Company to 
recover money or digital assets being held on the exchange. Further, the Company may be unable to recover digital assets 
awaiting transmission into or out of the Company, all of which could adversely affect an investment of the Company. 

 
SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

 
The Crypto-currencies have been volatile for some time and this volatility has continued subsequent to year-end. The 
Company’s Digital Asset portfolio value as at the date of these financial statements has dropped by 78% ($2,034,646) 
since March 31, 2022. 
 
On July 31, 2022, the Company granted 1,810,667 stock options and 905,334 restricted share units to consultants, 
officers and directors of the Company, the stock options have an exercise price of $0.125 and an expiry date of July 
31, 2026. 
 
On July 31, 2022, the Company cancelled 620,867 stock options and 310,434 restricted share units previously issued. 



 

 

CERTIFICATE OF THE COMPANY 

Dated: August 8, 2022 

This Prospectus constitutes full, true and plain disclosure of all material facts relating to the securities previously 
issued by the issuer as required by the securities legislation of British Columbia and Ontario. 

 

“Erich Perroulaz”    
Erich Perroulaz 
Chief Executive Officer  
 

 
 
“Meetul Patel”      
Meetul Patel 
Chief Financial Officer 

 

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

 

“Raymond O’Neill”    
Raymond O’Neill 
Director 

“Anthony Zelen”    
Anthony Zelen 
Director 

 
 
 



 

 

 

CERTIFICATE OF THE PROMOTER 

Dated: August 8, 2022 

This Prospectus constitutes full, true and plain disclosure of all material facts relating to the securities previously 
issued by the issuer as required by the securities legislation of British Columbia and Ontario. 

 
 

“Erich Perroulaz”    
Erich Perroulaz 
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SCHEDULE B 

Exchange Listing Statement Disclosure – Additional Information 

14. Capitalization 

14.1 Issued Capital 

 

Number of 
Securities 
(non-diluted) 

Number of 
Securities 
(fully-diluted) 

% of Issued 
(non-
diluted) 

% of Issued  
(fully diluted) 

Public Float     

Total outstanding (A)  85,817,000 94,398,700 100% 100% 

Held by Related Persons or 
employees of the Issuer or Related 
Person of the Issuer, or by persons or 
companies who beneficially own or 
control, directly or indirectly, more 
than a 5% voting position in the 
Issuer (or who would beneficially 
own or control, directly or indirectly, 
more than a 5% voting position in the 
Issuer upon exercise or conversion of 
other securities held) (B) 

46,002,000 49,657,000 53.60% 52.60% 

Total Public Float (A-B) 39,815,000 44,741,700 46.40% 47.40% 

Freely-Tradeable Float     

Number of outstanding securities 
subject to resale restrictions, 
including restrictions imposed by 
pooling or other arrangements or in a 
shareholder agreement and securities 
held by control block holders (C) 

40,380,000 40,380,000 47.05% 42.78% 

Total Tradeable Float (A-C) 45,437,000 54,018,700 52.95% 57.22% 
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Public Securityholders (Registered)  
 
For the purposes of this report, "public securityholders" are persons other than persons enumerated in 
section (B) of the previous chart. List registered holders only. 

Class of Security 
    

Size of Holding   Number of holders  Total number of securities 

1 – 99 securities  0   0 

100 – 499 securities  0   0 

500 – 999 securities  0   0 

1,000 – 1,999 securities  67   67,000 

2,000 – 2,999 securities  50   100,000 

3,000 – 3,999 securities  13   39,000 

4,000 – 4,999 securities  7   28,000 

5,000 or more securities  
 

 68 
 

39,581,000 

Total   205   39,815,000 
 
Public Securityholders (Beneficial) 
 
Include (i) beneficial holders holding securities in their own name as registered shareholders; and (ii) 
beneficial holders holding securities through an intermediary where the Issuer has been given written 
confirmation of shareholdings. For the purposes of this section, it is sufficient if the intermediary provides 
a breakdown by number of beneficial holders for each line item below; names and holdings of specific 
beneficial holders do not have to be disclosed. If an intermediary or intermediaries will not provide details 
of beneficial holders, give the aggregate position of all such intermediaries in the last line. 

 
Class of Security     

 
Size of Holding   Number of holders  Total number of securities 

1 – 99 securities  0   0 

100 – 499 securities  0   0 

500 – 999 securities  0   0 

1,000 – 1,999 securities  67   67,000 

2,000 – 2,999 securities  50   100,000 
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Size of Holding   Number of holders  Total number of securities 

3,000 – 3,999 securities  13   39,000 

4,000 – 4,999 securities  7   28,000 

5,000 or more securities  68   39,581,000 

Unable to confirm  0   0 

Total  205   39,815,000 

Non-Public Securityholders (Registered) 
 
For the purposes of this report, "non-public securityholders" are persons enumerated in section (B) of the 
issued capital chart.  

Class of Security 
 

    

Size of Holding   Number of holders  Total number of securities 

1 – 99 securities  0   0 

100 – 499 securities  0   0 

500 – 999 securities  0   0 

1,000 – 1,999 securities  0   0 

2,000 – 2,999 securities  0   0 

3,000 – 3,999 securities  0   0 

4,000 – 4,999 securities  0   0 

5,000 or more securities  7   46,002,000 

Total   7   46,002,000 
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14.2 Provide the following details for any securities convertible or exchangeable into any class of 

listed securities 
 

Description of Security (include conversion /  
exercise terms, including conversion / exercise 
price) 

Number of convertible 
/ exchangeable 
securities outstanding 

Number of listed 
securities issuable 
upon conversion / 
exercise 

Stock options Exercisable at $0.125 on July 31, 
2026. 

5,721,133 5,721,133 

Restricted Share Units to be vested two years 
from the date of listing 

2,860,567 2,860,567 

Total 8,581,700 8,581,700 

14.3 Provide details of any listed securities reserved for issuance that are not included in section 14.2. 
 

The Issuer has no other listed securities reserved for issuance that are not included in section 
14.2. 
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CERTIFICATE OF THE ISSUER 

Pursuant to a resolution duly passed by its Board of Directors, Spirit Blockchain Capital Inc., hereby applies 
for the listing of the above mentioned securities on the Exchange.  The foregoing contains full, true and 
plain disclosure of all material information relating to Spirit Blockchain Capital Inc.  It contains no untrue 
statement of a material fact and does not omit to state a material fact that is required to be stated or that is 
necessary to prevent a statement that is made from being false or misleading in light of the circumstances 
in which it was made. 

Dated at Vancouver, BC this 9th day of September, 2022. 

 

“Erich Perroulaz”  “Meetul Patel” 
Erich Perroulaz 
Chief Executive Officer  

Meetul Patel 
Chief Financial Officer 

   

“Raymond O’Neill”  “Anthony Zelen” 
Raymond O’Neill 
Director  

Anthony Zelen 
Director 

 
 

 

“Erich Perroulaz”   
Erich Perroulaz 
Promoter  

 

 
 




